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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or CoMMONS,
Tugspay, April 22, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to consider and examine the Indian Act (Chapter 98, RS.C., 1927),
and all such other matters as have been referred to the said Committee, met
this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present :

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Johnston, Paterson and Taylor—3.

The House of Commons: The Honourable Mr. Stirling and Messrs. Brown,
Blackmore, Bryce, Case, Castleden, Charlton, Farquhar, Gariépy, Harkness,
MacLean, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman), Raymond (Wright), Reid—14.

. In attendance: (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. R. A. Hoey,
Dlrector; B. F. Neary, M.B.E,, Superintendent, Welfare and Training; H. M.
Jones, Supervisor, Family Allowances; C. A. F. Clark, Educational Surveys

fiicer; D. J. Allan and M. MecCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts Division; Major

- M. MacKay, Commissioner, British Columbia; G. H. Gooderham, Inspector
for Alberta; (From Mines and Resources): Mr. W. J. Ford Pratt; also Rev.
Father X. Lauzon, A.M.M., Eastview, Ont., and J. W. McKinnon.

(From Indian Association of Alberta): John Laurie, Calgary, Secretary-
Treasurer; Mr. Ed. Hunter, Stony, Morley; Chief Joe Bull Shield, Blood,
Cardston; Mr. James Gladstone, Blood, Cardston; Chief Frank Cardinal, Cree,
Sucker Lake Reserve, Drift Pile Agency; Mr. Mark Steinhauer, Cree, Saddle

ake; also, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Joint Committee
and Liaison Officer.

Chief John Callihoo, President, Indian Association was recalled and
questioned.

Mr. Laurie answered questions put to him by Mr. Lickers.

Chief Teddy Yellowfly, representing the unaffiliated Indians of Alberta, was
recalled and questioned.

Mr. G. H. Gooderham, Inspector of Indian Agencies for Alberta was
questioned. :

Mr. D. J. Allan, Chief Clerk, Reserve and Trusts Division made a state-
ment, as did Mr. M. McCrimmon of the same Division.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock p.m., to meet again at 4 o’clock this

657
87478—1
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AFTERNOON SESSION

The Committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.
Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).

Present:
The Senate: The Honourable Senators Macdonald (Cardigan) and Taylor
—2.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Brown, Bryce, Case, Castleden, Charlton,
Farquhar, Harkness, Reid—S8.

In attendance: as at the morning session, also Mr. T. R. L. Maclnnes,
Secretary, Indian Affairs Branch.

Mr. Bryce, by leave, called the attention of the Committee to errors in
printing at page 511, No. 11, Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence.

Questioning was resumed of Chiefs Yellowfly and Robert Crow Eagle.

Mr. G. H. Gooderham, Inspector of Indian Agencies, made a statement,
and was questioned.

Attending representatives of the Indian Association of Alberta were
questioned.

Mr. R. A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs Branch, made a statement.

Chief John Callihoo was recalled, made a statement and answered questions.

Mr. Laurie was recalled and questioned.

Chief Crow Eagle issued an invitation to the Committee to visit Alberta
to “investigate more thoroughly the matters dealt with in the brief presented
yesterday”’.

Mr. Laurie, on behalf of the Indian Assoeiation of Alberta thanked the

Committee for the “very, very fine” reception accorded his delegation and their
advisers,

’

Mr. Brown, Joint Chairman, thanked the members of the delegation for

the very comprehenswe brief which had been presented to the Committee and
for the co-operation “given the Committee in our deliberations”.

The Committee adjourned at 6.15 p.m., to meet again on Thursday next,
April 24, at 11 o’clock a.m

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Commzttee




MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
House or ComMoNns, April 22, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act, met this day at 11.00 a.m.
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P,, (Joint Chairman) presided.

The Cuamman: Shall we come to order, gentlemen.

Yesterday, we heard witnesses from Alberta, representative of the Indian
population of Alberta; Mr. John Callihoo, Chief Crow Eagle and Chief Teddy
Yellowfly. As you know they are supported in the presentation of their briefs
by representatives from the various parts of Alberta representing all the Indians
in Alberta, and these others are now present. We are now at the stage where
individual members of the committee may submit such questions as they care to
not only to the ones who presented briefs but to others in the delegation. As is
our practice we will permit questions by members of the committee going around
the table clockwise; and may I again request the members of the committee in
order to expedite the work of the committee to confine their remarks to intex-
rogating the witnesses rather than making statements, because time is rather
short. It would be appreciated by all members of the committee if you would
merely ask the witnesses the questions you have in the shortest possible form.
Now, that is all I have to say at the moment. We will submit questions starting
with Mr. Blackmore. Have you any questions, Mr. Blackmore?

Mr. Brackmore: I had rather you gave my turn to the next man and let me
come in at the end.

Mr. HARNESS: Are we going to ask questions of anybody now, Mr. Chair-
man; is that the idea? Or are we to confine ourselves to Mr. Callihoo, and after
that to Mr. Crow Eagle, and then to Mr. Yellowfly?

The CuarMAN: That will be within the pleasure of the committee. Would
you like to have one after another come before you, or have them in a group?

Mr. Rem: I think one at a time.

Mr. Hareness: I think that would be advisable and then we would not be

going all over the map.
The CuarMAN: Is that agreeable to the committee?
Carried.

_ Then, Mr. Callihoo, I would ask you to come forward. Mr. Laurie, you
might come forward too.

John Callihoo, President, Indian Association of Alberta, Michel
Reserve, Villeneuve, Alberta, recalled:

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. I have really two questions I would like to ask Mr. Callihoo. The first
one is this, that in giving his evidence yesterday he said that disposal of trust
funds must not be made without consent of the band. Now, have there been
any cases to your knowledge of trust funds having been disposed of without
the consent of the band?—A. I do not know as I can find an answer here.
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Q. My understanding is that trust funds cannot be disposed of unless the |
band agrees to it. I wondered if you knew of any cases where the reverse had
taken place?—A. Well, I suppose it is taking place in some of the other reserves.

The CratrMAN: Will yvou answer that, Mr. Laurie. You don’t mind if Mr.
Laurie answers that, do you, Mr. Harkness?

Mr. HarkxEess: No, no.

Mr. Lavrie: To the first part of the question; none, at the moment. It is
provided in the Act that such may be done. It is the desire of the association
to have that clause altered. '

Mr. HargNEss: It has not been done so far, but you want to be sure that it
is not, done in the future?

Mr. Lavrie: That is right.
Mr. HarkNEss: Then my second question is this,—

The Cramrman: Will you permit Mr. Lickers to make a statement, Mr.
Harkness?

Mr. Lickers: Under the provisions of the Indian Act it can be done only for
the benefit of the Indians. ]

Mr. Lavrie: That is right.

_ MaoLickers: Where the department thinks it is advisable to spend it for
e benefit of the Indians.

e

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. You said you were opposed to any form of enfranchisement, either
voluntary or involuntary. Now, in connection with that, do you mean that you
are opposed to an Indian who wishes to leave the reserve becoming enfranchised
being allowed to do so; or, what exactly do you mean by that statement?—
A. What we mean by that is, supposing on one reserve some Indians want to be
enfranchised and others on the same reserve did not want to be enfranchised. We
take a vote on that and suppose the majority are for enfranchisement we would
be taking away rights from those people who did not want enfranchisement.

Q. In other words, what you are opposed to is the whole band being enfran- |
chised by a majority vote?—A. Yes, we are opposed to that.

Mr. Hargness: That is the point I wanted to get at.

The CaarrMAN: But you are not opposed to individuals being enfranchised?

Mr. HargnEess: You are not opposed to the individual Indian being
enfranchised?

The Wrirness: No, not the individual. If the individual Indian wants to |
be enfranchised that is up to him. }4

g

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. There is just one other thing in your brief in the summary at page 67; I
notice the pages are not numbered but it is the page immediately following
number 66 so I assume it would be number 67; you say, “2(f) subject to the
approval of the band such persons as are described in (e) above, should remain in
full band membership as long as the percentage of Indian blood is 124 per
cent or more.” I take it from that that you think an Indian should continue
to be an Indian s6 long as he has 124 per cent of Indian blood in his veins; is
that it?—A. Yes, that is the way we look at it. I may say the reason we look
at it that way is this: supposing, you take—there are some reserves where the
boys marry white girls outside, and where the girls are marrying boys outside;
and if our boys keep on marrying the white girls outside for a sufficient number
of generations we would have white men in the reserves, wouldn't we?
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Q. Yes. A. And if the girls kept marrying men outside and came back and
married half-breeds, Indians that didn’t belong to the reserve, very shortly the
Indians would be outsiders and the white men would be “Indians”; wouldn’t it
come to.that?

Q. Yes. I think that is a very important point, it actually comes down to
re-writing the definition of what “Indian” should be in the Indian Act.—A. Yes.

Q. And that is what I wanted to get definitely on the record, your association

would define “Indian” as one who has 124 per cent Indian blood in his veins?—A. '

Yes.
The Cramrman: How would you define that 124 per cent?

Mr. Case: By keeping a record of the type of crosses, the number of
marriages there had been outside of the Indian reservation.

By Mr. Harkness:

- Q. Then, further to that, would you be in favour of having removed from
under the Indian Act, or from Indian status; persons of less than 121 per cent
even though they had been brought up on the reserve and so forth?—A. Yes.
They would be truly Indians all right even though they became full-blooded
white people; but what about the ones who kept on marrying outside and finally
became almost full-blooded Indians? :

Q. Yes. Well, my question is, you would be in favour of individuals being
expelled from treaty rights, those persons who had less than 124 per cent of
Indian blood?—A. If they want to, yes.

Mr. Harkngess: I think that is all I have.

The Cuamrman: Mr. Reid.

By. Mr. Reid:
Q. I want to ask you a follow-up question, if there are any Indians on the
reserve who have or are reckoned to have only 124 per cent or less at the present
time?—A. No, not yet; not on our reserve up in the north.

(Discussion as to procedure continued off the record.)

The CrArMAN: Gentlemen, if you will refer to the memorandum on “Indian
status and eligibility for band membership”, at page 4, it might be helpful. This
gives a definition of an Indian. Then, gentlemen, is it your pleasure ’ghat_ we
adopt the suggestion of having each subject dealt with completely while it is
before the committee; shall we have each subject dealt with fully at one time?

Mr. Rem: How are you going to know what each specific subject is before
the committee? For instance, I may want to ask some questions after questions
have been asked by all the other members. :

Mr. Case: I think, Mr. Chairman, the suggestion is a goo_d one that we
exhaust one subject while it is before the committee, and that in doing so we
employ your suggestion of proceeding clockwise around the table.

The CuaRMAN: Is that agreeable?

Agreed.

Mr. Rem: While we are still on the subject then, I do not know whether the
witness can elaborate any further or not; but my reason for asking it is—if an
Indian marries a white woman, or I suppose you could have it both ways, say an
Indian woman marries a white man—why differentiate here? You take a white
man who marries an Indian and we are told that she is nothing else but white?
Would you agree to that? It is a most important ques«t‘lon.

The CrARMAN: Would you answer that, Mr. Laurie? S

Mr. Lavrie: In the summary following our submission, it will be page 67—
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The CuamrMAN: It is an unnumbered page, but it would have been page 67
had the page numbers been continued in sequence.

Mr. Lavrie: If you will refer to 2(c), we have been talking about 2(f).
The CramMan: Does that answer your question, Mr. Reid?

Mr. Rem: No. My question is rather involved. You see that takes the case
where the husband died and the woman wanted to return to the reserve.
Mr. Lauvrie: That is 2(c), sir.

2(c). Subject to the approval of the band concerned, all minor
children of an Indian woman who marries outside her reserve, loses her
first husband and returns to her first reserve and remarries a treaty
Indian should be received into band with all treaty privileges. Children
of widows deseribed herein or full orphans should be given treaty rights.

An Indian woman in the province of Alberta who marries outside of her
band and is widowed, or orphaned, deserted, has no where to go whatever.
She is not a white woman; at least she is not accepted on a par with other white
women in so-called eivilization. When can she go to? The natural place for
her to go is to return to her reserve with her children, where people speak her
language and where she has relatives and friends. Being, if I may say so, a
legal white woman by virtue of her marriage, she is therefore a trespasser on the
reserve; her children have no-rights as Indians; they cannot attend the Indian
school and white schools are often much too far away or too crowded in our
province for these children to have any school. They are not entitled to any
medical attention except by charity of the officials concerned. Suppose then
this woman with her orphaned children marries a treaty Indian as a second
marriage; as we understand it she then again becomes an Indian in the full
meaning of the Act. But her first family, her family by her first husband, are
not Indians they are trespassers on the reserve. They cannot go to the Indian
school. Suppose they remain on the reserve until they become of age. They
are in no way fitted to go out and make their livelihood among white people.

Mr. Rem: May I ask this question: What is the Indian viewpoint with
regard to these marriages? For instance, an Indian marries a white woman,
and quite often the reverse occurs; in our province we say that when a man
marries an Indian woman the children from that marriage are white and we
recognize them as such all down the line. On the other hand, if an Indian
marries a white woman we say the children are Indian. Now, what I would
like to do would be to get your viewpoint as an Indian, to get the Indian view-
point on these two types of marriage, because there seems to be some conflict
there, you see. From what you have said there seems to be a direct conflict of
opinion. You would appear to consider children from both sides of a marriage
as being Indians. It was with a view to getting your opinion on the matter that
I asked this question.

Mr. Lauvrie: Sir, as far as the Indian Association of Alberta is concerned
there is no question about accepting children as Indians. When treaty Indians
marry outside the reserve, they continue to be and are regarded as Indians. The
point which we wished to cover was the case of the orphans. We are willing,
the association is willing, that the Indian woman who marries outside—

Hon. Mr. Joa~xston: Marries a white man?

Mr. Lavrie: Yes a white man, and the marriage is successful, the parents
remain alive and are able to bring up their children as members of their father’s
race. The Indians of Alberta are quite willing that these people should remain
white people, that they should remain members of the father’s race. Does that
answer your question?

Mr. Rem: The 124 per cent that has been mentioned, can you state a case
~ where they have brought it down to 12} per cent?

o
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Mr. Lauvrie: I am not sure I know of a case at the moment sir, but the
assimilation is becoming more prevalent throughout the country.

Mr. Rem: This may be a matter the committee may desire to know. The
percentage as mentioned, how do you arrive at that, is it in the third genera-
tion that you arrive at the 124 per cent, that is if they marry out all the time.

Mr. Laurie: That is right, let me give you an instance, a treaty Indian
marries outside, a white woman,

Mr. Rem: That is fifty-fifty.

Mr. Lavrie: Yes. Their son, who by virtue of the Indian Act is a treaty
Indian, does the same thing and the grandson does the same thing. That
reduces it to one great-grand parent who was a full treaty Indian in one sense.
Those people, if they so wish are to be allowed to remain Indians.

Mr. Case: But after the third generation you do not want them to remain

Indians.
? The Wirness: We do not consider them as Indians after the third genera-
- tion. !
Mr. Case: May I ask this question, do you find any tendency of Indians
to live with white people, and vice versa, without marrying, for fear of losing
their Indian rights?

Mr. Lauvrie: Would you repeat the question?

Mr. Case: It was brought to my attention in one of the reserves in Ontario
that they do live together as man and wife, having children without marrying
for fear of losing their Indian rights and to protect the offspring. Do you find
any evidence of that in Alberta?

_ Mr. Lickers: How do you mean, a man or a woman, there is quite a
distinetion?

Mr. Case: Both ways, either way.

Mr. Lavrie: I believe there have been cases, yes, of such things.

Mr. Case: I made quite a note of that in my brief because of the fact
they said they were living in sin for fear of losing their Indian rights.

Mr. Lavrie: That is right.

The CuarMaN: Are there any other questions as to the point under dis-
cussion regarding the 124 per cent of Indian blood—going around the table?

Hon. Mr. StiruiNG: Did we understand from the witness Indians of whom
he speaks would receive into the band children of such a marriage as has been
spoken of?

Mr. Lavrie: Section C, as defined in 2¢ on band membership, yes, if the
band is willing to do so, that this provides those children with the rights.

Hon. Mr. Stiruixe: Even though they are white children by law.

Mr. Lickers: Now in that connection would you not agree to a redefining of
this 124 per cent? I am thinking of a case where an Indian marries a white
woman, they have a daughter, half white, according to the percentage of blood,
and then that daughter marries a white man and has offspring, would not that
cut out those children on your 124 per cent basis?

Mr. HargnEss: The children would be 25 per cent.

Mr. Laurie: Mr. Lickers, you have complicated the case.

Mr. Lickers: Yes, but would you go on the basis, regardless of the blood
count or percentage, that once a person is on the list or is a member of the band
that you then assume for the purpose of working this out, that they are 100 per
cent Indian blood. & ;

The CuarrmaN: Would you care to answer that, Mr. Laurie?
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Mr. Lavrie: I am trying to analyze the question.
Mr. Casg: Could it not be solved by dealing with it on a generation basis?

Mr. Lickers: Yes, dealing with the matter on a generation basis rather
than on a percentage of blood.

The CramrMmAan: Would you like to give that some further consideration, Mr. .
Laurie?

Mr. Laurie: Yes.

Mr. Case: Suppose you said any person of the fourth generation should
not be an Indian within the meaning of the Indian Act.

Mr. Lavrie: The fourth generation.
Mr. Cask: Because the fourth generation gives you less than 124 per cent.

Mr. Lavrie: You have it again, because the Act reads as between male and
female.

- Mr. CaARLTON: Supposing the third child marries back to a full-blooded
Indian then what happens?

Mr. Casg: They are beginning to correct the bloodstream.

Mr. Lickers: Your whole submission there in connection with band member-
ship is merely an idea or at least some provision under which Indians, or persons
of Indian blood, may become members of the band.

The CuamrMman: Would you repeat that?

Mr. Lickers: Your whole submission, as far as band membership is con-
cerned, is only trying to evolve some method by which persons of Indian blood
may become members of a particular band.

Mr. Lavrie: You mean sir, that at the present moment they are not.

Mr. Lickers: Yes, and there is no provision in the Indian Act for them to
become members.

Mr. Lavrig: If the case falls in section 2¢, yes.

Mr. Lickers: So it is a question of evolving some method by which persons
of Indian blood may become members of an Indian band.

Mr. Lavrie: Your question is too general. If you will notice under 2 (%), we
are endeavouring to provide against an influx of people into the treaty, who are
not at the present moment, and have not been regarded as treaty Indians.

Mr. Lickers: Would you limit that to persons whose ancestors were at some
time members of a particular band.

Mr. Lavrie: Not unless they come under 2¢ or 2b.

Mr. Lickers: Yes, provided they fulfil their qualifications, some ancestors
of theirs must have belonged in a particular band before they could come into the
band.

Mr. Lavrie: Not quite right, Mr. Lickers.
Mr. Lickers: Would you limit it to that.

Mr. Lavrie: Supposing there are two or three generations, out of a band,
those people should not come back.

Mr. CuaruroN: Just one more question regarding treaty Indians, what
percentage of the Indians in Alberta are not treaty Indians?

Mr. Lavrie: They are all treaty Indians otherwise they are white men.

Mr. CuaruroN : As I understand it there are some Indians in Canada who are
not treaty Indians.

Mr. Hory: Not in Alberta.

Mr. Cuaruron: Well, the witness has just said unless a man is a treaty
Indian he is a white man.
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Mr. Hory: In Alberta, yes.

Mr. Cuarvron: Is that true across Canada?

Mr. Hoey: No, that is quite involved; in the east certain territories have not
got treaties, but in Alberta they are either treaty Indians or white citizens. We
have a small group at Rocky Mountain House, Mr. Laurie may know of them,
they have refused to come into treaty. We have done everything humanly
possible, I think I am safe in making that statement, to persuade them to come
in. They have not come in at this stage, but they are a very exceptional group,
and my assertion that all Indians in Alberta are treaty Indians would have to
be modified to that extent.

Mr. CuARLTON: Yes, Mr. Chairman, well under 2 (g), “all expelled persons
in Hobbema and Drift Pile agencies should be restored to treaty rights imme-
diately”’,—now what does that mean? :

Mr. Horv: Well, if you want to go into that I think you would have to
have Mr. McCrimmon, an official of the department, to explain that because
I would not attempt it. It is a very involved question. As a result of investiga-
tions we decided they were not Indians within the provisions of the Act.

Mr. Case: Of course, they have had reason to put it in their brief and
your desire is to have them reinstated immediately according to 2 (g).

Mr. HarkNEss: Mr. Chairman this brings up the matter of the Macdonald
report which deals with the very matter and I have not had time to study this
report. I have looked it over just very roughly and I would ask the witness
one question in connection with it, I do not know whether he has read it or
seen it—have you people seen’this Macdonald report?

Mr. Lavrie: It was not handed to us yesterday.

Mr. Harkness: Well I cannot ask you to answer on it.

Mr. FarQuuARr: I would like to ask a question under 2¢, according to_the
treaty rights referred to here or the treaty privilege to be subject to the approval
of the band, what do they give for their reason for that? Supposing that the
band would not give their approval, would they be denied those treaty rights?

Mr. Lavrie: Yes, because it becomes then a matter of sharing in the band
assets and we believe the band should have the right to define who should share
in its assets or not. :

~ Mr. FarquuARr: Do you think that would be fair to an Indian coming back
into the band, where through some personal feeling in the band they would not
allow him treaty privileges.

Mr. Lavrie: T believe among the Indian people that would not arise, they

are very charitably minded. X ‘
The CrARMAN: Now could we go along with the next question of Mr. Reid?

Hon. Mr. Jouxsrox: The point raised by Mr. Farquhar, would that not
lead to confusion, if it is left to the discretion of the band. Omne _band' might say,
“All right we will admit these people”, and a reserve a few miles away might
take a different view. And in the last line of section 2—with all treaty prlvﬂeges
—“the children of widows described herein or orphans ShOl‘ﬂd b’? given full
treaty right”. I at least think the world “should’” should be “sxha.ll or you are
going to have trouble. At

Mr. Rem: I think the matter is very serious because I can visualize some
Indian being voted upon and not being permitted to enter the band, then whose
responsibility is it? Is the government going to say, “Well the band expelled
you and we cannot recognize you as an Indian if the enfranchisement is not
accepted.” I think the matter is extremely important.

The CuamrMaN: That would be a matter which v_vould«"be considered under
the Act. What we are trying to get at now is the viewpoint of the witnesses.
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Mr. FarquuARr: I just wanted their explanation.

Mr. Lickers: If you take into consideration the question of the disenfran-
chised Indian who has become enfranchised, and has taken out his band funds
and then say in ten or fifteen years after that by having a change of heart he
wanted to be taken back in by repaying his money.

Mr. Lauvrie: Yes, the question came up in one instance that I have
knowledge of and he is still outside.

Mr. Lickers: What is your association’s attitude with regard to letting him
come back?

Mr. Lavrie: We have not discussed that point in the association since we
know of only one instance.

The CuARMAN: Mr. Reid, do you care to proceed with your question?

Mr. Rem: Yes, on page 202, I am rather interested in the statement that
has to do with this point. It reads that “We could not understand that some
might be expelled from the band by anybody else than by the Indian authorities
of the band”. I take it that is the very question you have been dealing with a
moment ago and I was going to ask, and I am not asking that for any other
purpose but this point of education, I would like to ask Chief Teddy Yellowfly
who said that in Alberta—

The CaarMAN: Could we not have him up here.

Mr. Rem: I thought you would have all the witnesses here together.

The CraRMAN: I am trying to devise some scheme whereby you can ask
them questions at any time. But are there any questions you would like to ask
this witness, Mr. Reid?

Mr. Rem: He did not make the statement but perhaps he may be able
to answer, it was something new, I never had heard it before, at least I had
heard of it but it did not come into our deliberations and that was, when he was
speaking about schools, the religious schools and religious structures he made
the statement the Indians were not considered because they had a religion of
their own.

Mr. Casg: I think Teddy Yellowfly said that.

Mr. Rem: Perhaps we could have that statement from him.

The CrarMaN: I think this enfranchisement question, on page 2 of the
summary, it says “Voluntary enfranchisement should not be fostered or encour-
aged by the department”. And then it says “Involuntary enfranchisement must
be abolished forever”. Do you mean by that an individual who wishes to become
enfranchised should not be allowed to do so?

Mr. Lavrie: No sir, that pressure should not be brought upon any individual
to become enfranchised simply because he may happen to have other reasons.

The CuatrmMan: Would you not think it wise to remove that line?
Mr. Lavrie: No, sir. :
The CuAtRMAN: What reasomn is there for having it in there?

Mr. Lavrie: “Involuntary enfranchisement.”

The CuatRMaN: Oh, I see.

Mr. Cuarutox: Then in part 5, section 5, on page 2 “Our treaty Indians
do not want to vote or to have the vote forced upon them. It is regarded as a
trap to lead treaty Indians astray”, and I wondered if you would explain that.

Mr. Lavrie: There has been an agitation, Mr. Chairman, through the press
and other organizations, who have spoken to the press, or I believe made
suggestions to this committee, that the Indians should be given the vote. As
far as the members of the Indian Association of Alberta are concerned this
sums up their statement.
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Mr. CuarutoN: Would that be against the person who wanted to vote and
be given the privilege?

Mr. Lavre: He would then become enfranchised.

Mr. CuarLToN: Automatically? Whether he was a returned man or not?

Mr. Lavrie: No, a returned man comes under a special regulation. We are
content to leave the returned men as they stand at the present, sir.

Mr. Lickers: In other words, you do not differentiate between the right to
vote and enfranchisement?

Mr. Lavrie: Our people do not..

Mr. Lickers: But if it was properly explained to them do you not think they
would differentiate between the two?

Mr. Lavrie: I doubt it, sir.

Mr. Case: I am not too clear about this. It says here: “It is regarded as
a trap to lead the treaty Indians astray.”

Mr. Lavrie: The members of the association felt that if the right to vote
were given them that it would not be long until reserves were gone and so on,
and our people in Alberta are not going to be ready for that for many years

“to come, if ever.

Mr. CasTiepEN: What is the cause of that belief? What do you think makes
the Indian feel that if he is given the franchise his treaty rights will be taken
from him?

Mr. Lavrie: May I ask if Mr. Castleden is asking my personal opinion or
the opinion of the association?

Mr. CastuepEN: You are the secretary of the association; I would like
‘your personal opinion.

Mr. Lavrie: My personal opinion. Might I give that off the record?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

—(Statement made by Mr. Laurie off the record.)

Hon. Mr. Stiruing: Have you had instances of returned men going back to
the reserve and then desiring enfranchisement?

The Wirness: We have one who has been admitted, a halfbreed who has
been admitted. He went overseas and now since he went overseas he wants to
withdraw from treaty, and this man is asking too much to withdraw from treaty
and we do not feel like allowing him what he asks for. We feel he asks too
much as a half-breed. Then there is another one who has asked to withdraw
from treaty, but he was better than a treaty Indian and he is a returned man.
We have not decided yet just what we could do about that, but I think he has
full right to enfranchise when he wants to enfranchise according to our statement
in our brief. It depends how much he wants of the band property.

The CramMan: Shall we call the next witness—Chief Yellowfly?

Hon. Mr. Stiruine: I do not quite follow the method we have adopted. We
appear to have taken up certain subjects—

The CuARMAN: If there is any other question you would like to ask the
witness, go ahead.

Hon. Mr. StiruinG: There is a question T would like to ask, but I am not
too sure that it was this witness who referred to the matter or someone else. :

The CuamrMaN: If we were to get all the witnesses up at the table it might
be better.

Mr. Case: Chief Callihoo is representing the association, and I move that
we have Chief Teddy Yellowfly along with this witness.
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Mr. Rem: May I ask Mr. Laurie one question? He stated in answer to Mr.
Castleden’s question that he could not visualize the time when the Indians would
be ready for enfranchisement; he said perhaps never. My question to him is
this: I am not sure whether he knows about the Indian tribe of the Metlakatlas
—perhaps he does: Now, in'your view, are the Indians of Alberta so far behind
them?

Mr. Lavrie: Yes.

Mr. Rem: You think the same thing could not be done for the Indian in
Alberta that has been accomplished on the west coast of British Columbia and
Alaska?

Mr. Lavrie: May I ask the gentleman a question, sir?

The CrAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. Lavrie: Are you referring, sir, to that section of the tribe which, I
believe, are now settled in the United States territory?

~ Mr. Rem: And to the Canadian tribe on this side near Prince Rupert—

Mr. Laurie: I have never seen the Canadian tribe on this side.

Mr. REm: —who, as a body, asked for enfranchisement for many long years
and have been refused as a group—I was astounded at your statement that you
cannot visualize—

Mr. Lavrie: Not under present conditions.

Mr. Rem: You did not say that; you said you could not visualize. I thought
it was a terrible statement that in the life of mankind you could never see any
change in the Indian who would always have to be on the reserve and would have
to be looked after. That, I think, is a serious statement. I think it is a reflec-
tion. I can see Indians like the Metlakatla band and other bands—

Mr. Casg: Are you going to criticize his answers?

Mr. Rem: No, I ask a question in the light of what he said, a very proper
question. My question—and I repeat it—is this: Are the Indians in Alberta
down the social scale or mental scale or any other scale lower than the Indians
in any other place that have reached the heights?

The CuArrMAN: I think Mr. Laurie probably has answered as far as he can
for his association.

Mr. Brackmore: May I suggest as one coming from Alberta that a good
deal of the background of Mr. Laurie’s answer would derive from the economic
conditions which might obtain within the Dominion of Canada within the coming
few years. If unemployment develops as it has been doing during the last half
century it may be necessary for most of us to become Indians to protect ourselves.

Mr. CastuepEN: May I ask this question? Do you think the Indian asso-
ciation would object very strenuously to being taken on as probationary citizens
. somewhat similar to what happened in the United States if they were guaranteed
- full rights as under the treaty?

Mr. Lavrie: That I could not answer; we would have to take that back to
the organization.

The CuarMAN: Now, gentlemen, if it is your pleasure we will call upon
Chief Teddy Yellowfly.

Chief Teddy Yellowfly, recalled:

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. You made a statement yesterday in regard to the price of beef which is
sold to the Indian department and then used on behalf of the Indians for rations.
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Is there any other place where that occurs outside of your own reserve—the
Blackfoot reserve?—A. That I am not prepared to answer because I do not
know; but this I do know of.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. In that beef price who gets the hide and the offal?—A. The band, I
would say, gets the hide. It is not paid for. It is as I mentioned—it is on a
dressed meat basis.

Q. You said that you got 13 cents?—A. That is, I would say, for the carcass.

Q. Was that on the hoof that you got the 13 cents?—A. Just meat, the
finished product.

Q. And the head and the other things?—A. They are not paid for.

The CuarrMAN: Who gets them? Where do they go?

Mr. Bryce: Where does that go? That is valuable.

Mr. HargNEss: In order to clear up the whole point there, I wonder if we
could ask Mr. Gooderham, the inspector for Alberta, what he can tell us with
regard to the important matter introduced in Mr. Bryce’s question.

. _Mr. Gooperuam: The Blackfoot band are different from any other band
In Canada as far as I am aware. They are self-supporting in that they use
their band funds. Chief Yellowfly and the other councillors sit in the council
meeting and they have before them the revenue that they are going to expend
during the year, every day’s revenue, the different services that are supplied
to that band. Among them is the rationing agreement that those Indians made
with the Crown when they surrendered land so that they would get a pound
of beef and a pound of flour and what not every day as long as the river ran
and the sun shone. Every council of the reserve, every member of the band
while this council was sitting there had to decide how to distribute this revenue.
It comes up at a time like this when the price of beef and other supplies for
rationing are very high. It was to be decided what they could pay themselves,
the individual owner, for the beef which they in turn eat, and still look after
the other services. In almost every instance the animal that that individual
owns has at one time or another come into his possession through the assistance
of the government. In some instances the Indian has some animals that he
has bought from his own personal funds that he has created from his work.
They get down to the point of what they are going to pay. Everybody agrees
that 13 cents a pound for the past fiscal year was a good price and still get the
meat to eat. They agree on that so they will have money to go on to other
services. That was the situation as it then existed, and the meat is purchased
In the carcass at the ration house. The Indians participate in everything.
They participate in that hide at the time of the slaughtering. The slaughtering
18 done by the Indians. The workers and the helpers get the offal in many
cases for their labour. The hide is set aside and sold on their behalf and goes
Into their operation expense account and so forth and so on. But as Mr.
ellowfly was trying to explain, there are discrepancies occasionally which
arise where a man will have to sell with the majority at a little less price than
he individually would like to do. That is, apparently, an internal matter which
We arc correcting at the present moment. I do not know whether I have made .
myself clear.
Mr. Hargness: That only applies to the one reserve?

Mr. GooperuAM: As far as I know it applies to this reserve only. There
Wwas a time many years gone by when we did not market cattle in western
Canada off the reserves. That was in the lifetime of a number of us who have
been there. The cattle were purchased for the use of the Indian and at that
time there was an arbitrary price set to the Indian for his beef. Sometimes
1t was in excess of the market price, likely; and at other times it was slightly
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lower. During the two war years prices were enhanced tremendously and in
the interim the open market became the regular thing. The Blood Indians,
for example, sold $100,000 worth of beef cattle last fall and in the open market
they got as high as $12.95 a hundred on the hoof, which I think was the top
price given for that quantity of steer. —nearly 400. And that process has been
working throughout, giving the Indian every opportunity to get the highest
possible price for his finished produet. That has been in progress now for
twenty years.

Mr. Farquuar: Those lower prices only refer to what has been consumed?

Mr. GooperHAM: Consumed. Today there is no movement on foot to try |
to compel them to do so. The best market is the market they sell in. In fact,
in many instances the department go out and buy the cheaper lines of beef to
feed the people and leave the individual Indian to sell his cattle on the higher
market.

Mr. Rem: May I ask if that pound of beef is for every man, woman and
child on the reserve? :

Mr. GoopeEruAM: Yes, sir, that was their agreement. They pay for it
themselves, mind you. :

The CuARMAN: That is the ration; not exceeding a pound per person. Do
many of them consume up to the total of their quota?

Mr. GooberaaM: Up to the present time and during the war the Blackfeet
Indians, as Chief Yellowfly knows, reduced their ration to five pounds weekly.
They are getting five pounds per week instead of seven. And that includes
all the members of the family who are not attending a residential school.

Mr. Rem: How many Indians would participate in the $100,000 which was
obtained last year by the sale of cattle?

Mr. GooperHAM: That is in the Blood reserve. I imagine there would be
about 100 odd, maybe 140 owners in that shipment. The Blood representatives
can tell you better than I can. Mr. Gladstone, how many different brands
were in that shipment last year—about 150 brands?

Mr. Grapstone: I think it would be less than that, a little over 100.

Mr. GooperEAM: We would say that a hundred different people will partici-
pate, some to a greater and some to a lesser extent. I know one man had
$13,000. Was that net?

Mr. GrapstoNe: About $5,000? .

Mr. GooperaAM: It ran from $13,000- down to, possibly, about $100 to the
person who had only one animal. So it would be a nice thing. That would
represent a hundred Indians and would be a nice thing for that 100 Indians.

The Wirness: I am not referring to that. I said here, in order to encourage
enterprise and self-reliance. Now, in a position such as the one to which you
have referred it is admitted that it is of benefit to the tribe. But this is purely
a business affair in this sense, in that the Indian is supposed to be a philanthro-
pist, and being a philanthropist he is supposed to contribute to the welfare of
the tribe, as you might say. The important point was this, if we are to encourage
free enterprise then we must consider everything on a purely business basis, not
-from a philanthropic point of view. That was the point I raised. That is the
point I am now trying to put over.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. There is one point I would like to get clear, while there are two or three
animals killed each week they do not always come from the same person?—
A. They do not. :

Q. Then everybody takes that loss?—A. Everybody takes that, all the
cattle owners but not all the Indians.
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Mr. Bryce: But all the wheat growers take that loss when they sell their
wheat for the benefit of the whole of Canada.

Mr. Rem: I thought the Indian had no say in what was paid for the
animals, that they were taken from the herd, and were paid for and the Indians
got the meat.

Mr. Brycr: They take a loss on price as compared to the outside price.

Mr. Rem: There cannot be such a great loss when they are getting the
meat themselves and are getting paid for their own work.

The CrAmRMAN: Now, Mr. Harkness, have you any further questions?

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Yes, I have a question which is something along the same subject Mr.
Reid brought up a few minutes ago in regard to Chief Yellowfly’s statement
that a certain number of Indians still hold to their native religion, and I would
like to ask him what proportion of the Indians so far as he is acquainted with
them still hold to their native religion and possibly only profess Christian
religion for the purpose of getting their children into the schools, or something
along that line. Would you care to make a statement on that?—A. In reply
to that I would prefer to confine myself to the brief. ‘I would say that a large
number of them, and here I confine myself to the statement in the brief, but I
do believe that a large number of them sincerely believe in their own religion.
That is manifested in the fact that we have laymen Indians very high up in
church circles; well, they will turn right around and join their own societies,
the highest societies we have in Indian religion.- And I might mention that the
ideologies followed by some of our societies are exactly the same as are involved
In Christianity.

The CuarrmaN: If I might refer members of the committee to page 9 of the
Minutes and Proceedings of last year, 1946, you will see that in Alberta there
are 72 persons who according to the census follow their own native religion.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. What would be your comment on that?—A. I would say that is rather

formal, because in order to get my children to school I would have to profess
some type of Christian religion. Our belief is that it is based really on how many
you baptize. I have known of ministers and priests waiting at the hospital to
grab the Indian babies, each denomination grabbing an Indian. I would say
that was the result of proselytizing. ;
Q. Well, the reason I asked this is because I think it brings up a rather
Important point which has come to my attention, and one which I thought I
should bring to the attention of the committee. As far as I remember it,
according to the way in which the Indian Act reads education is provided by
the churches and therefore the Indian is really deprived of a free choice of his
religion and in order to get his child educated has to pick one of the religions
which operate a school on the reserves—A. Might I correct that, sir? They
pick up a veneer.

The CuAlIRMAN: A veneer of religion. Would you care to say anything
further on that?

By Mr. Harkness:

I might say, Mr. Chairman, that T had a private conversation with Chief
Yellowfly yesterday following our meeting and he went into this at some
length, and that is one of the considerations which he brought forward at that
time, and that was one of the points brought up at that time. He could probably
put it in much better form, but I thought it was something which I should bring
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up at this time and that is why I have asked these questions.—A. I would say |

this, that the object here-is to educate the Indians. Well, probably religion
might be considered a part of that education, but it should not be the governing
factor. Well, it is probably an essential part of the education of the Indian,
and it really boils down tb this, that you have to find out whether you are
going to be a Protestant or Roman Catholic in order to be educated. In fact,
that is what the Indian Act says, that is the way we understand the Indian
Act; before you could even think of getting your children educated, you first
have to decide whether you are going to be Protestant or Roman Catholic;
so it almost seems that education was a minor consideration.

Q. Have you any knowledge of what has been done in the United States
with the Indians there?—A. In the United States they have some residential
schools where proselytizing is very great; then you also have schools, state
schools I think they are called, where the Indian is admitted purely for educa-
tional purposes and religion has nothing to do with it.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Those are what they call “state” schools?—A. They are state schools.

Q. And they are not denominational?>—A. When 1 go down there say
to the Blackfoot reserve down in Montana, that is the way they carried on.
That is where I got this suggestion, where the schools are operated by, I think
it is the federal rather than the state government. It is a federal proposition
and they do not operate church schools. If they were to operate that type
of school over here it probably would be better.

By Mr. Case:

Q. I take it you would personally prefer a public school system?—A. I
personally would prefer both, depending on conditions on the reserve.

Q. Then you say here something about residential schools, and church
schools, and you believe that there also should be some freedom of choice and
that there should be a public school system?—A. Well, there should be freedom
of choice in a country which preaches freedom of choice.

Q. Then you think it would be better to provide such schools?—A. Yes,
that is on the reserves where it would be feasible and advisable to operate such
a school.

Q. There is one thing you said yesterday; you said you were using a
borrowed language. I take it from that, recognizing that there are 149,000,000
people speaking English on this continent, you are not advocating that it would
be advisable to teach children except for instructional purposes in their native
tongue, Cree or whatever it might be?—A. When I made that remark I only did
so for purely personal reasons, because I felt I might not be able to express
myself adequately; and when I said that, I was speaking not as a matter of
opinion but rather as a matter of fact.

Q- You believe that the best education is in the English tongue?—A. In the
English tongue; I would say, yes; yes, I do, sir. The Indian language ceased
to expand and grow a matter of seventy years ago. For example, here we
have the atomic bomb. The Indian is not going to be bothered trying to create
a term. He says, “atomic bomb.” There is no use bothering trying to create
a name because everything seems to be involved in the English term and it is
easy to say “atomic bomb”. Where you try to create a term in the Indian
language, I might create a term and another man might create a term and
the result would be that in effect we would have no precise term for it.

Q. May I ask you where you were educated?—A. I prefer not to answer
that question, if you don’t mind. My presence here is on behalf of those whom
I represent, and it would be a violation of a tribal custom if I were to take time
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“out to deal with a purely personal matter. When I went back they would say
to me, we sent you down there to talk about us, but you took up our time
talking about yourself.

Q. What about enfranchisement? You didn’t mention that in your brief?—
A. T didn’t mention it because these other people were dealing with it in the
general brief. On that point I would say that the first consideration is the wish
of the individual. That, first, is the main consideration, the one right which
should be left to the individual. And may I add that this is not a one-way
question because it involves not only the Indian going out, but of necessity
also involves the Indian coming back in. I would say that membership, that is
primarily the issue, should be left to the individual. Then, of course, in the case
of pressure we must draw the line as to whom the tribe shall accept; because
as I read some of the minutes there are members of this committee who would
like to become members of the Blackfoot band. We should draw the line as to
whom we could admit.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Do you feel that the treaties have been honoured as they have been
administered under the Indian Act?—A. I would have to answer that both
yes and no. I would say that they had been honoured if the making of an
attempt to do a certain thing can be called honouring a treaty. It is a difficult
- Question to answer.

Q. What is your opinion about the matter?—A. My own opinion is that
they have not been carried out. For instance, we believe that the treaty stipulates
that the government must educate the Indians. Now, the government tell us
they have given us Indian schools and then they say, yes, we have honoured
the treaty; but it still remains the fact that the purpose is not being served.

Q. Is there any respect in which you feel the treaties have not been carried
out?—A. There are many. I do not think I should do more at the moment than
call your attention to the matter of education to which I have referred. Well,
there have been attempts to carry out the treaty, but they were rather feeble,
they did not attain their purpose.

By the Chairman:

. Q. You say, Chief, that they provide the schools?—A. They provide the
schools.

Q. And the children go?—A. The little children go, yes.

-Q. But they do not learn?—A. They do not learn, that is the point; that

~ is why I had to say yes and no. The mere fact that they have put up a school

may be construed as having honoured the treaty, but the purposes are not
served, the children are mot being educated.

Q. Have you ever heard the old proverb, you can drive a horse to water
but you can’t make him drink?—A. That, of course, is a consideration; but in
this case you drive the horse to water which isn’t there.

The Caamrman: That depends on what you mean by water.

By Mr. Charlton:

. Q. Chief Yellowfly, conditions are not as satisfactory as they might be;
18 that the reason the water isn’t there?—A. I would say in this case, to use
an Indian phrase, if you had a teacher who had only one arm he would still be
able to do a job. They have teachers there. They have schools, but the only
kind of teachers they have are those who are doing missionary work, and that
18 probably because they are not paid, it is probably because of the wages
they get.
87478—23
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By Mr. Castleden:

Q. What are the feelings of the Indians as to injustices; suppose an Indian
on a reserve feels that he has not received fair treatment, is there any authority
to which he can refer at the present time by way of appcal?—A None, at the
present time. He has to carry the trouble back to the source which ereated
the trouble. The only recourse open to him for obtaining redress is the very
source which caused his trouble. There is no other source available to him at the
present time that I know of, no higher authority to whom they can take their
grievances.

Q. Is it your opinion that the Indian race should be awmﬂated over a |

period of years?—A. My opinion is that it is inevitable, in order to exist you
will have to assimilate the ways of the white man; and then, as far as the
manner of accomplishing that is concerned, you have to accept what you might
call the structure of the body politic.

Mr. Brackmore: May I suggest, Mr. Castleden, that Chief Yellowfly
did not get the meaning of assimilate? Did he understand that it meant
intermarriage?

Mr. CastuepeN: What I had in mind is something similar to the situation
of the Maori in New Zealand who are self-respecting and self-supporting; the
same should be worked out for the Indians in Canada, that they should become
citizens of Canada; more or less along the line of what has been done in New
Zealand.

The Wrrness: In reply to that I would say this, that there would be a
difference there because the Maoris were never put in reserves, the white man
came in there and just lived among them. Here on this continent there was an
agreement, with the Indians that they would live on reserves and those reserves
were set apart for them; and since the reserves are operated as individual
units they had to devise methods under which they could operate.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. One of the witnesses before this committee suggested a plan of assimila-
tion, and he said that the reserves were one of the things that prevented progress
toward proper assimilation.—A. To a certain extent, yes.

Q. Then I take it that it is your opinion that the reserves are a deterrent
to the assimilation of the Indian race? Do you not think that assimilation is
ultimately desirable?—A. Well, I believe the object is that, yes.

By Mr. Case:

Q. Getting back to this question of treaties, there have been some com-
pensating features; for instance, you receive family allowances?—A. Yes, we
receive them.

Q. Do you not think that is a good thing?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you not find that it helps the school attendance?—A. I would not
think it helped school attendance, but it is appreciated.

"~ Q. And that, of course, has nothing directly to do with your treaties at all.
I am merely trying to point out that there are some compensations which you
receive which are not covered by treaty, one respect or two in which treaties

have been honoured in théir breach?—A. Yes, that-is so; that is possibly one’

particular thing which could be considered as being not related directly to a
treaty.

Q. What is your opinion with respect to old age pensions for Indians?—A.
The Indians feel that they are essentially an integrated part of Canada so that
they should be included in all plans that involve benefits to the individual.

4
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By the Chairman:

Q. What about the payment of taxes?—A. They consider themselves as a
unit, a unit set aside by treaties, and from that angle they are alone. I believe
that they object to paying taxes because they believe that certain parts of the
treaty give them immunity from taxation; and they are like all people, if you
can get away without paying taxes you won’t pay.

Q. Do you have any form of taxation on your reserve for the upkeep of
roads or anything of that character?—A. We do not.

Q. Does that come from band funds?—A. That comes from band funds.

By Hon. Mr. Stirling :

Q. What steps does the witness think would improve self-government and
restore confidence on the part of the Indians; would you like to see a wider
opportunity for self-government?—A. Well, the immediate result of such
improvement would be that it would accelerate everything.

Q. I wonder if the witness would mind elaborating on that a little?—A. I

~would say this—

Q. I mean, in order to tell us what you have in mind.—A. As I mentioned
here, if you had a program and you wanted to put that program into effect this
spring and you had to go through this established procedure I would say that
1t would be probably next December before we could get approval.

Q. Would you carry it to the extent of granting to the bands powers of
taxation?—A. Well, that, I would say, would be very much up to the others to
give an opinion because I believe the matter of paying taxes has nothing to do
with improvement.

Q. I do not mean the dominion or provincial taxes, I mean taxes for the
purposes of the bands?—A. Well, as far as that goes I do not know of any taxes
that we pay, they use them for tribal benefits.

The CuaRMAN: What Mr. Stirling is saying about that is, do you think the
band would be willing to impose taxes upon themselves for the purposes of their
own benefits, that is bridges, roads, municipal buildings and so on?

The Wirness: I believe they would but I do not believe that “tax” is the

word, they prefer to use the word “contribute”.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. You have large trust funds?—A. Yes.

Q. You use the money from that trust fund that is paid every year into
Your band?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you any power of administration over those funds?—A. No, we
have not, we can suggest but we have no actual authority.

Q. What are those funds used for in your band, could you enumerate?—A.
I would say two or three million dollars is a lot of money when you mention
two or three million dollars, but it is the benefit that you get out of that money,
that is the thing that should be taken into consideration. Because if you have
ten million dollars and you cannot use it you may as well not have the ten

- million. The point is this, we derive, I would say,—the benefit we get out of

that is really the interest we get from that band fund.
. Q. That is the interest is what you receive, and how it is expended?—A. It
18 very hard to say because that interest, together with other sources of income—

would say amounts to approximately in round figures $150,000 and right off
I would say the direct benefits involve about two thirds of that and the other
third I would say is for administrative purposes.

Q. They deduet portions of what you receive through interest on trust

funds for administrative purposes?—A. For administrative purposes and for
carrying out tribal programs, paying salaries, hospital staff and so on.

S e
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The CramrMaN: You maintain your own hospital?

The Wirxess: We maintain our own hospital?

Mr. CastrepeN: And you pay your own officials?

The Wirness: We pay all our own officials, with the exception of the
Indian agent and one clerk or interpreter.

Mr. FarquaAar: Is any of that money spent for charitable purposes, the °
sick and the aged and so on?
¢ The Wirness: Yes, some of that money is spent for tribal programs,
improvement, programs.
Mr. Casg: That is really a system of taxation.
The Wirness: Yes, but it is really a contribution. The reason I try to
distinguish that is because it does not involve the individual.
Mr. Case: Well, of course, the individual would have received it otherwise.
kT he Wirness: Yes, but in plain words he did not have to dig into his own
pocket.

Mr. Farquaar: I would like to ask this question, I would like to ask do |

you believe, at the present time, that the old people are receiving the equivalent
of the old age pension, it has been stated they are, what would you say?

The Wrirness: Well, I would say that it all depends on just what would
be called adequate. I would say at the present time, all things being taken
into consideration, they are, but not from the right source. The Indian is
really providing those benefits himself. It is up to the Indian himself, whether
he believes if it is a federal responsibility it should be a federal responsibility,
or in this case it is the tribe itself. y

Mr. FarquHAR: You mean at the present time they do provide it thems-
selves?

The CrAmrMAN: Do these old people receive this pound of meat and pound ‘

of flour and the other things?
The Wirness: They receive it on a weekly basis.

The CrarMaN: They do get this pound of meat and pound of flour and
everything else?

The WrrnEss: Yes.
Mr. HargNEss: Mr. Farquhar, the question does not apply. On Chief

Yellowfly’s reserve, it is the one reserve in Canada where it does not apply,

they have all this food and S0 on.
The CaArMAN: What do you do with the old people in your reserve?

The Wirness: On ours? On our reserve they get the same ration as the

rest, and then clothing is issued and special rations are issued.
The CHAIRMAN: By the—
The Wrirness: Band.
The CrAlRMAN: The band looks after that too?
The Wirxess: Yes, the band looks after that.

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Chief, you have told us about keeping a hospital, do you supply any

money for the upkeep of schools in your reserve?—A. We do contribute.
Q. On a per capita basis?—A. No, no, just a grant.
Q. A Grant?—A. A grant.

Q. How much do you give?—A. For example we contribute $1,000 for ‘-

each school for what we call a preventorium.
Q. How many schools are there on your reserve?—A. Two.
Q. That is like $2,000?7—A. I believe that is the amount.
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By Mr. Red:

Q. My question has to do with the question asked by Mr. Case, where he
asked if the dependants’ allowance had an effect on the school children’s
attendance. I think you said, chief, you did not think it had, although you
were glad to receive it. My quo~t10n is this, is there any dlsposmon on. the
part of the fathers and mothers to have the chlldren educated, and if so, why
- the lack of attendance?—A. There is no lack of attendance as I know it.

Q. Well, the first question is, is there any disposition on the part of the
parents, a fechntr that the children should receive all the education possible?—
A. There is a feellng that they should receive all the education possible, if that
is the question.

The CHAlRMAN: Any further questions?
Mr. Lickers: Yes, I have some questions.

By Mr. Lickers:

Q. Now, I think this is a reserve where we can get the Indian’s viewpoint

When the qu&tlon of finance does not come into the plctme at all. Has there
een any improvement in the housing situation on your reserve in the last five
or ten years?—A. Yes, there has.

Q. What about sanitation?—A. Yes, we try to look after that.

Q. And has the standard of living risen appreciably in the last five or ten
years?—A. I would say yes.

Q. What program has the council itself taken to give the Indians leadership
in say housing, sanitation, and agriculture?—A. Well at the present time
I would say they have no program.

Q. The Indians have no program?—A. No program.

Q. And if they were given greater rights in the administration of their own
affairs and a greater right in the interest of spending funds, that is trust funds,
would they take leadership of their own affairs?—A. I believe they would.

Q. How many members of the council have you there?—A. Fifteen, sixteen.

Q. Sixteen, and what is your population?—A. 1,050 I would say.

Q. 1,060,—have you got enough farm equipment for your whole reserve?—
A. No, T do not think so.

: Q You do not think so, and yet there is sufficient money here for the
- purchase of farm equipment?—A. Yes, there is.

Q. I understand your interest and trust fund is accumulating all the time,
getting larger.—A. Yes.

Q. And do you not think gsome of that money then should be used for the
purchase of machinery—A. Definitely.

Q. Are any of the young chaps from your reserve being given instruction in
agriculture or going to agricultural college or anything?—A. Not at the present
moment.

Q. Why is that?—A. That, I believe, depends largely on the individual

ecause, since we have the money, if any Indian lad wishes to attend we will
make provision for that child to attend.

Q. Are there any Indians now who are getting in a position to attend high
school?—A. There are boys attending high school now.
~ Q. Do any of them have any intention of going on to higher learning, going
into professional life, or attending agriculfural college?—A. That I do not know,
because I have not asked and it involves me very personally, because my son is
going to high school but I have not asked him, T prefer to wait until he finishes.

i N}Ifr Harkness: I might say that Chief Yellowfly went to agricultural college
Imse
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By Mr. Lickers:

Q. Whereabouts do the children go to high school from the reserve?—A.
Usually we have been sending them over to the white school.

Q. To the white school, whereabouts is that?—A. In Gleichen.

Q. How far away is that from your reserve?—A. Well, it is right in
Gleichen, and Gleichen is on the border, just on the reserve, and headquarters of
the reserve.

Q. Do you know how many Indians would be attendmg high school now ?—
A. There are only two at the present moment.

Q. Are they all boys?—A. No,—there are four now, two girls and two boys.

Mr. Castrepen: Who pays for that?

The Wirness: We pay, band funds.

Mr. CastreEpEN: Band funds.

Mr. Bryce: Do you have any difficulty getting them into that school?

The Wirxess: Well there was, but I would not say—I might add that I
thmk racial prejudice has nothing to do with it, it is the congested condition at
the schools. These white schools are quite prepared to accept Indian children.

Mr. Case: They get along well with the other children?

The Wirness: In my case, my son is blending in well with the others, the
mere fact that he is an Indian has worn out. .

Mr. CastLepEN: Do you have to get permission from the agent before you
are permitted to send them to high school?

The Wirness: He has to approve it.
Mr. CastLeEpEN: But the band funds are paying?
The Wirness: Yes.
. Mr. CastrepEN: Is that money coming from Ottawa to you?
The Wirxess: It comes from Ottawa to the Indian office.

By Mr. Lickers:

Q. Would you say the standard of living on the reserve is about on the same
level as that of the farmers surrounding the reserve?—A. As a whole I would say
yes.

Q. Have you electricity there and other modern conveniences?—A. Not in
that line, no.

Q. What about wells?—A. Yes, they have wells, yes.

Q. Are there any suggestions you could make which would be of help to
this committee which could be done on your reserve say to better conditions if
they could be bettered?—A. Well at the present moment if 1 had any suggestions
for this committee—I would not have any suggestions because I believe our
reserve should not be taken as a standard case. If I had any suggestions I would
not, come all the way to Ottawa to make them, I would make them down there
and 1f the council approved we would be able to carry them out. As far as
programs are concerned I would make suggestions down there, but what I do
believe is this, we should be given authority to carry out those suggestions,
but at the prcsent time we merely make them as suggestions.

Q. That is where the frustration lies. In so far as that reserve is concerned,
you are not given the authority to carry out your own programs?—A. Yes,
and therefore we do not apply for those things, knowing we cannot carry them out.

Q. And if you had the authority you, or the council, would be in a position
then to evolve plans whereby they could help themselves?—A. Yes.

Q. And I presume that would be at their own expense?—A. At their own
expense at the present time, yes.




INDIAN ACT 679

The CramrmAN: In your brief, Chief, you said at page 205, “in connection
with tribal business, here again, Indian service officials are not always entirely
free from outside interference when business transactions in tribal affairs are in
progress”. What do you mean by that?

The Wirness: I mean just this. For example here on our reserve there
seems to be some outside influence that makes suggestions as to what move the
offcials should take, and while they are merely suggestions it is one of those
things that, in effect, really means “this suggestion—or else”!

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. What do you mean by that, could you be more explicit?—A. Well I mean
this, they have the local political party, they have their own political system,
and if the local political party finds they can get something out of that program
they try to steer things their way.

Q. Do you still have to get permission for the sale of your produce?
—A. Yes, we still do.

The CHAIRMAN: Permission for what?

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Permission from the agent before you can sell any produce from the
farm, that is true?—A. True.

Q. Is that pretty general across Alberta, Mr. Laurie?

Mzr. Lavrie: Oh, yes.

Mr. CastrepeN: Generally, all Indians on the agency have to have written
permission before they are allowed to sell any produce.

The Wrrness: As far as I know, Mr. Castleden.

Mr. Lickers: That is true of all the western provineces.

Mr. BrackMore: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask Chief Yellowfly one
or two questions to clarify one or two things in my own mind. I would like to
return to the question of the beef again, I do not know that I have got the
exact picture. Who pays for the beef for the Indians? Now the government
agreed under the treaty that the Crown would provide every Indian with a pound
of beef and a pound of flour every day so long as the river ran. Who pays for
the beef which is provided to the Indians on the Blackfoot reserve?

The Wirness: Well I would say, practically speaking, the Indians them-
selves through their band funds.

Mr. Brackmore: I gathered that from the evidence that went forward.
In other words it would appear that the Crown, in the case of the Blackfoot
Indians, has contrived to put the Indians in a position where they do the things
which the Crown itself had agreed to do.

Mr. Lickers: That is incorrect.

__ Mr. AuLax: Tt is not in the treaties, that this pound of beef, etc is contained,
1t is in the surrender of the lands, when the land was sold. It is in the surrender
documents.

Mr. Harkness: The reserve was once about twice the size it is now.

Mr. Rem: I am not interrupting, but I had the impression when I asked an
Indian agent, and I would like to know here, that the pound of beef was supplied
by the Indian but the government paid.

Mr. GooberuAM: By a surrender agreement. The Blackfeet once had a
large tract of land, 150,000 acres, and they were asked whether they would
sell it, and they said yes, on the following conditions, one of which was in the
surrendering of this land for sale by the Crown for their benefit. You see, in
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1911, the agreement was, one—that they would get this ration, and two—that
they would supply their own people with homes.

Mr. Rem: Right there, the government was to supply them with this ration
you mean.

Mr. GooperHAM: Out of their money, out of the return from the sale of their
land, the money that was created through the sale of the lands has been used not
only to create a band or tribal fund to operate on and to do all the things the
Indians have asked, including right from the first the ration as it was mentioned
today; and to the supplying of homes and supplying of staff; to assist in the
farming and ranching and various other lines of endeavour and to look after the
old and sick out of their own funds. As Chief Yellowfly will tell you I was Indian
agent on that reserve, and my father was the Indian agent on that reserve prior
to my beginning in 1907 and so you see we are very familiar with the changing
of the mode of life of this particular band,—the taking of a thousand people
in this country and guaranteeing to them food, clothing, and shelter, and an
independent life and the opportunity to improve themselves. That has
developed through these years until today you have a self-contained organization
or society. They have got, possibly, too much money now, and there is a
digression, the man is improving fast. Mr. Yellowfly, in his brief yesterday
touched on that, I think, when he said the time has come when you have to
allow us more chance for independent endeavour to develop ourselves individually
so we will, as an individual entity, more readily assimilate with our other peoples.

The Blackfoot band today is possibly, as a whole, better off than his white
neighbour. May I digress a moment? You have been talking about band funds
and the powers of the Indians themselves. Throughout the province of Alberta
nearly every band has a fund. It has been our endeavour within the last year,
or two to have every council sit at a table and have each councillor know his
capital and his revenue, and as he knows his revenue for the year he has been
asked to sit down in company with his agent and work out ways and means to
spend that money to the best advantage of his people. The delegates here are
well aware of that. If they wanted to help their aged in some way by a sep-
arate ration or if they wanted to improve their roads or help their young people
to become established they have certain funds for certain purposes. Part of the
whole problem has been as much as possible to pass on to them in order that
they will take the respsonbility which we for generations took away from them.
They are not going to start in one day or one year or one generation to be able
to recover that responsibility which we took away, but we are starting. I must
say this on behalf of our branch at Ottawa that invariably the estimated
expenditures which the various band councils have submitted for disposal for
the coming fiscal year have been approved if the money was available. As the
money is approved, the money will come back to a single point—you must have
a guiding point, a central office with any organization or any company; even in
the case of a bank: therefore, it comes back to the agency office where it is
administered on behalf and with the cooperation of the Indians, and these
Indians all know it. We are on the right move, we think, which will develop
the Indian into a responsible being. As I said, in nearly every instance the
department at Ottawa is approving of these statistics coming to the Indian bands.
I think that clears up a lot. There is this large fund. The others have not got
a big fund, but they are all starting with even a small revenue to distribute it
as best they think; and on the advice of the white man the Indian is taking that
responsibility. Maybe that advice in some cases is of some value. We hope it
is, anyway. . .

By Mr. Blackmore:
Q. I wonder if Chief Yellowfly would care to comment on that statement?
—A. I would say that is largely true, but the fact still remains that everything
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depends on the charity, you might say, of those in authority. That is as far as
authority is concerned. That is the policy of the present personnel. It depends
on the personnel of the department. As Mr. Gooderham said, if the personnel
favours the nature of the policies they are carrying out now, all well and good,
but as soon as there is a change in the personnel, the new personnel have the
absolute authority of changing everything that the former personnel started.
That is the point I wish to raise. Now, we have Mr. Gooderham who was our
agent for' twenty-five years. Let us say that he started a plan—and he started
many plans twenty or twenty-five years ago—but supposing he started a plan—
and some of those plans were started in those days—well, let us assume that five
or ten years after they were started and a new agent came along and he had
opposite views, he had the authority to change the whole thing. That is the
point I wish to raise, that it depends on the attitude of the personnel, of the

. administration, because the law still says he is the dictator. Much depends on

the individual official.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. May I ask this question? Do you find that the bands in Alberta are
given statements of the band funds and that they sit around the council table
and administer the funds of the band?

_ Mr. Lavrie: I would prefer if some of the others spoke on that—Mr. Cal-
lihoo, for instance.

Mr. CastiEpEN: Mr. Callihoo, are you given a.statement of the band funds
every year, and are the bands of the Indian reserves in Alberta asked to sit
around the council table and administer those funds?

Mr. Cariazoo: We have been asking for that for twenty years right up to
date and we have not got it. The Indian agent often tells us it is none of our
business. That is absolutely true.

Mr. CasTuEDpEN: That is a point to be settled.

Mr. GoopErEAM: I think Mr. Callihoo will remember—I am fairly new af
this job of inspector in the province of Alberta, but I can go from one end of
that row to the other—there is the representative of the Peigans—

Mr. Carrimoo: He asked me about my reserve.

Mr. GooperuAM: Did we not discuss that last fall? You have not had
your statement yet?

Mr. Carrizoo: No, nothing at all.

Mr. GooperuAM: I regret that; but your council supplied some estimates.
You remember those resolutions to spend money. I do not think Mr. Callihoo
has this matter clearly in his head.

Mzr. Carrraoo: I do not think we got them.

Mr. GooperHAM: You have, Mr. Crow Eagle?

Mzr. Crow Eacre: No, I do not think so.

Mr. GooperuAM: I produced them for you last year.

Mzr. Crow Eacue: I have not seen them.

Mr. GooperHAM: I say, gentlemen, that we have not had it in the past.

The Wirness: I would say on the Blackfeet reserves we do not get the
statement; it is merely made known that there is available an amount of money,
but as far as the actual detailed amount is concerned, we do not get that. We
are given the information that we have $150,000, you may say, to work on this
year, and that is all the information we get. We do not get a complete state-
ment on our tribal fund here at Ottawa.
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Mr. GooperHAM: On a number of reserves I have had the statement brought
up by the agent. You know, the Bloods; were you not present? How about the
Bloods? Didn’t I present that statement?

Mr. CastrepEN: Have ypu in the Blood reserve ever received the statement?
Mr. BuLn SHIELD: It has’not been brought to our attention yet.

Mr. CasTreEDpEN: Has it ever been done before?

Mr. BuLt Szerp: No.

Mr. GooperaAM: I think one thing should be explained, and that is that the
statement comes at the end of the fiscal year, March 31. The treasury branch
have to make up the statement at that time, and those statements will be going
out. I do not think a number of them have their statements yet, but they all
know that this thing is amalgamated, and it is the desire that they all know their
business. I regret that some did not get them. I know they have been sending
in resolutions based on what they anticipate, and they are being acted on by our
authorities.

Mr. CastLepEN: I am glad to hear that.

Mr. GooperaaM: We want to do that. There is no desire to withhold.

*Mr. CastiEpEN: I do not think there is the desire, but I think that was a
matter of policy in the past; it has been the policy in the past.

Mr. Auran: There is a misapprehension here that may be detrimental to the
purpose you hope to attain. For many years the printed statement of band funds
was issued. About ten years ago on a wave of economy the printing of that
statement was discontinued, and at the date of its discontinuance the treasury
office of the Indian Affairs branch made up mimeographed statements of the band
funds across Canada, and my services—sent out, the treasury office statements of
those band funds for every band in Canada every year to the agent of the agency
with instructions that those statements of band funds be placed before every
council. Now, it may be that every Indian of the band does not get the state-
ment, but the statement is placed on the table for the band eouncil, and if the
Indians want information to-day the Indian agent has the information and it
is available at all times. You have seen it before this committee—the actual
statement of their revenue and expenditure, showing their balance carried for-
ward from the year before, and the inerement of the expenditures during the
year. That is in the hands of the Indian agent every year immediately after
the term of the fiscal year or as soon after as the treasury officers ean get that
statement out. Those statements are available. The band councils get them.

Mr. CastiepEN: I would like to question that statement, because I have
complaints from dozens of Indians in the organizations in my province—as
well as the statements from the bands here—that they have asked the agents
for this information and it has been denied them. I think the intention is good.
I think the operation of the office is good. Maybe the statement does go out.
But my information from our Indians and the Indians right here is to the
effect that they are not given these statements, and when there is a request
they are refused the statement. I will ask a number of those Indians standing
by to say whether I am right or not.

Chief YerrowrLy: There are statements issued, but in nearly all cases
they are in reality summaries and they do not go into the details. That is the
objection we do have. We do receive a sort of statement but it is rather general
and there is no breakdown in the statement. For example, they will merely
say that there is so much money used for a certain purpose and so much for
another purpose, and sometimes the details are not there which will explain
as to how the moneys were expended, or the like.
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Mr. Bryce: As regards this statement that you send out, do you send a
statement out for every reserve or is this just a general statement for the
Dominion of Canada?

Mr. McCrivmmon: We send to each of the inspectors and to each agency
the statement of the band funds of the different bands in that agency, provided
they have funds. Over and above that we send a copy to the inspector’s office
of all the statements of the band funds over which he is the inspector.

Mr. Bryce: There is no detailed statement for each band?

Mr. McCrimmon: No, sir, there is not. That would be a big job.

The CraamrMmaN: The statement for some bands is given in appendix “O”, for
such places as Norway House, St. Peter’s. That is a sample.

—The committee adjourned to meet again this afternoon at 4 o’clock.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The committee resumed at 4 o’clock p.m.

_ The Cuamman: If you will come to order, gentlemen, we will proceed
with the examination of the witnesses.

~ Mr. Bryce: Mr. Chairman, I want to rise to a point of privilege. The
Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence which has come to hand today has a
mistake which I would like to correct before it goes any further.

Mr. Rem: What date is that?

- Mr. Bryce: It is at page 511, at the 18th line. I am quoted as having
said:

The next photograph shows you the No. 1 Homemakers Club. Now,
the women of this club raised the money to build these houses without
any governmental assistance whatever. This illustrates what they can
do when they receive proper encouragement.

What I did say was:

No. 1 Homemakers’ Club House at Cross Lake and some of the
members. The women of this club raised the money and built this house
without any assistance from the government. This, however, shows
what they can do when they receive proper encouragement.

I would like to have that correction made.

~The Cmamrman: I think that is well noted, Mr. Bryce. That was the
Impression I got from it anyway, that there was just that one house. I
appreciate very much having it brought to the attention of the committee and
we will have the records changed. By the way, you are going to file those
Dletures with the committee?

Mr. Bryce: Yes.

The CramrMAN: Because I think they are very valuable for the purposes
of the committee. :

Shall we proceed with our examination of witnesses? We have Mr. Crow
Bagle, and we also have Chief Teddy Yellowfly. If you would like to proceed,

r. Blackmore, you are the first on the list.

Mr. Brackmore: I would like to go a little further into the use of band
funds, Mr. Chairman. I was arrested by the remarks of Chief Yellowfly to
the effect that although the Indians were given to understand that there was a
considerable amount of interest accruing on their large band funds yet the
Indians themselves through their council or through any individual effort they
could make had no way of getting any kind of effective control over the use
of that money.
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Chief Teddy Yellowfly, recalled:

The Wirness: That is right.

Mr. Brackmore: That seems to be a matter which I thought was rather
extraordinary and pretty difficult to defend. Then the question arose whether
the council generally was able to learn what the band fund was.

The CaarMAN: Mr- Blackmore, you have made a statement.

Mr. Buackmore: I want to ask a question based on that statement.

The Caamrman: Oh, I see. You will also permit the departmental officers
to reply?

Mr. Brackmore: Oh yes. I want to get the facts concerning the matter,
and I just want to give a summary which you would have had to give in order
to get continuity if I had not given it. Now, Chief Yellowfly has said that
in his experience that is correct; the chief and the council of the band are not
able to get any kind of control over the money which was supposed to be
theirs. Now, the next question that arose was whether they have been able
to learn about the band funds; how big they were; how much the interest paid
on it was; what use was made of the band fund profit. I would like to probe
into that just a little. ‘With your permission I would like to ask any of the
Indians here who have had experience on band councils either as chiefs or as
members of council; I would like to find out what their experience has been
;’)Veli say the last twenty years in respect to getting details concerning band
unds.

The Cmamrman: Would you like to answer that, Chief Yellowfly or
Chief Crow Eagle?

Mr. Brackmore: I would like to ask each chief that question.

The CramrmAaN: All right, we will start here then.

Mr. Brackmore: That is all right.

The Cramrman: Would you like to answer that.

The Wirness: I will answer that in this manner, that the councils suggest
these programs. They must have the approval of the department at Ottawa
before the money can be used for that program.

Mr. Brackmore: Then, the next question is, suppose—

The CaAlRMAN: Now; let me get this. I thought you wanted to ask each
one of these chiefs the same question.

Mr. BuackMmore: I would like to ask him one or two more. We want to
know the key facts and the department wants to know the facts, and the
Indians want to know them. And, in all this, I am not casting any reflection
or implying any reflection on the department.

The CuAIRMAN: My purpose is to try to get through this by six o’clock.

Mr. Buackmogre: I understand that. This is a very vital matter and I wanted

'to get it. Then, when the band council comes back together say after a year they

want to find out how the money has been spent; whether it has been spent as it
is suggested it should have been; or the details of where the money went; and
what success have they had in obtaining these details from the agent?

The WirNess: It depends on the nature of the program. If it is a local
thing we generally receive details when they become available. If the matter is
one involving the offices here in Ottawa, sometimes we do not get to know what
is involved, sometimes we are never able to get the details.

Mr. Brackmore: Now, if the same question will be answered by each of
the other chiefs it will be valuable, I believe.

The CraARMAN: Do you want to answer that, Mr. Crow Eagle?
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Mr. Crow Eacre: T would like to deal with the questions in a simple way.

Mr. Brackmore: I will ask the question simply.

The CaAmrmaN: All right.

Mr. Buackmore: Were you a chief; how long were you a chief on your
reserve?

Mr, Crow EacrLe: I am not a chief, sir,

Mr. Buackmore: Have you ever been a chief?

Mzr. Crow EacLr: No, sir.

Mr. Brackmore: Were you on the council of your band?

Mr. Crow Eacre: No, sir.

Mr. Brackmore: Well, then, we want someone who has had that experience.

The CuamrMan: Do you want to ask all these others here, and let Mr.
Laurie answer for the general fact? It is going to take a long time otherwise.

Mr. Lavrie: I do not think I would be qualified. Possibly you might ask
Chief Bull Shield. '

Mr. Buackmorg: Chief Bull Shield, I want to find out what your band fund
was; what money you had coming in the way of interest on the band fund;
what it earned; and what way you found out about it?

¢ The Cuamrman: Just a little louder, please. The reporter cannot hear
when you turn your back. Mr. Gooderham has made it clear that they are going
to get it from now on at the end of th}e fiseal year.

Mr. Castrepex: Yes, from now on.
The CuamrmaAN: Mr. Gooderham, have they ever received that in the past?

Mr. GooperuAM: Sir, the session T had with their council was not so very
long ago, within the last fiscal year. I had the acting agent produce a statement
for the previous fiscal year and I explained it to them as best I could, as to
the capital amounts on the statement, as to the summary of revenue, and as
to the amounts that have been charged against the fund during that previous
fiscal year; and I told them that there would be statements similar to that at
the end of this fiscal year showing what the capital would be, showing also the
Tevenue and the expenditures in the last year.

The CrarMAN: Then the answer is, yes?

Mr. GooperuAM: Yes.

Mr. Brackmore: How long have you been on the band council?
-Chief BurLL SuieLp: Not very long.

Mr. Buackmore: How long, two years or so?

Chief Burn SmieLp: Two years.

Mr. Brackmore: Do you know what other chiefs have found in times past,
have they told you that they knew about the band fund?

Chief Bury SmmmLp: No, sir.

Mr. Brackmore: Do you know what the interest was on it?
Chief Burr SumLp: No, sir.

Mr. Brackmore: You never could get that?

Chief Buryn Smmrp: No.

Mr. Brackmore: I think that is sufficient on that. Now, Mr. Callihoo, I want
130. ask you the same question as the others; first, were you either the chief of a
tribe or whether you are on a band council.

The CuarMAN: Wasn’t that answered this morning?
Mr. Brackmore: I do not think it was answered this morning?
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The CaamrMAN: It was, wasn’t it, Mr. Laurie?

Mr. Laurie: I think so, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Carrizoo: I was never a chief or a councillor until I was appointed to
the council of the Indian Association of Alberta.

The CrAmRMAN: That is separate and apart from an Indian band council, is
it not?

Mr. Carrizoo: It is separate from the local band council.

Mr. Case: How many present are chiefs?

The Cuamrman: Will those of you who are chiefs please raise your hand.

Four.

Mr. Brackmore: One more question, Mr. Callihoo, before you sit down;
you have talked with chiefs, Mr. Callihoo, who were on councils; have you
learned from them whether they could get deta11~ of their band funds or whether
they could not?

- Mr. Caruraoo: Yes, I have spoken with quite a few of them and they always
said that they could not.
; I}P/Ir. Brackmore: What happened when they asked questions trying to get
acts?

The CrHalrRMAN: Just a minute, Mr. Blackmore. I do not think it is a
matter of legal procedure that you should try to get indirectly what cannot be
obtained by way of direct evidence; in other words, whatever Mr. Callihoo would
be able to tell you would be purelv hearsay.

Mr. Caruimoo: As I told you this morning, while I have been there we have
never received statements of this kind. I wrote to some of the officers at Ottawa
and told them that we were having difficulty in getting these statements.

Mr. Brackmore: May we turn to another chief.

Chief CrowcHILD: I have been a chief for two months.

Mr. Brackmore: Were you on the council before you were a chief?

Chief CrowcHILD: 1 was.

Mr. Brackmore: Were you ever able to get the facts about your band
funds?

Chief CrowcHiLD: No, we were not.

Mr. Brackmore: Not until this year?

Chief CrowcniLp: No, I have just been chief two months and we just began
to know this spring. We have not in past years.

Mr. Brackmore: How long were you on the council before you were a
chief?

Chief CrowcHiLD: About five or six years. We had one head chief on our
reserve. He has no council.

Mr. Brackmore: What is your reserve?

Chief CrowcuiLp: The Sarcee.

The CuairmaN: You say that you have never received a statement, you
have never known how the moneys of the band were expended? Have you ever
made any attempt, Chief, to find out directly; and if 80, what demand did you
make?

Chief CrowcHip: I do not think we tried to find out. The council did.

The CuarMAN: What is that? ~

Chief CrowcHILD: I do not think he did try to find out.

The Cumamrman: I am talking about you, I don’t care what anybody else
did; did you ever try it?
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Chief CrowcnILD: No.

Mr. Brackmore: Are there any other chiefs?

Chief CarpinaL: Yes, I am a chief.

The Caamman: What is your name?

Chief CarpinaL: Frank Cardinal, of the Cree Reserve, Sucker Creek.

Mr. Brackmore: I want to ask you first how long you have been a chief,
and how long you have been on the band council; and then I want to ask if
You have tried to get facts concerning the band funds and details of expenditures.

The Cramman: Chief Cardinal does not speak English so we will have to
ask this gentleman here, Mr. Frank Steinhauer, to interpret for Chief Cardinal.

Chief CamrpinaL (through interpreter): Last summer Mr. Gooderham was
up there and he told them that from now on they would get their financial
statements at the end of each fiscal year. When he first became chief two
Years ago he went up and saw the Indian agent and asked him for a financial
statement for his band funds and all that.

Mr. Brackmore: What was the result of that request?

Chief Carpinan: He promised to give him that statement but he never did.

Mr. Buackmore: I think that is all that I have.

The Crmarrman: Tell me this, have you ever seen a financial statement of
any kind before? ;

Chief Carpixan: No, never.

The Cuamman: Would you know the effect of a financial statement if you
were to see one?

Chief CarpinaL: Well, as far as the effect of it is concerned, if we do not
recelve any it will be of no use to us.

Mr. Rem: If he came before the band and told them. Never mind whether
there is any statement or not; did any agent or anyone from the department ever
come before your band and tell them what amount of money there was there?

Chief Carpinan: The only time that we got any notification of the money
was last summer through the agent and we were told that we had $5,342. That
1s all we got. We never got anything else.

The CuammAN: What reserve is this, Chief?

Chief Carpinarn: The Cree Reserve at Sucker Creek.

The Cramrman: Is that all, Mr. Blackmore?

Thank you very much, Chief.

Mr. Brackmore: Now I wanted to probe just a little way into the extent
to which the band funds of the Blackfoot Indians is being used for discharging
government responsibilities to the band. Now, the: government may not have
any responsibility to the band.

The Cuaamman: May I suggest this, Mr. Blackmore, you see all these
accounts have to be audited by the Auditor General’s office, is it, Mr. Hoey?

Mr. Hogy: It would be unfortunate if the impression got abroad that the
Indian agent is a law unto himself, because such is not the case. The treasury
branch of the Department of Finance audit regularly, once a year, twice a
Year, and in addition the Auditor General can institute an audit at any agency
at any time. I am reading auditor’s reports day after day, and the last matter
that was brought to my attention was a diserepancy of seven dollars. I mean, I
have never seen business audits, but I feel that audits of businesses could not be
more thorough or more searching. The Indian agent is compelled to spend
money in conformity with government policy on the one hand, and in conformity
With band wishes on the other. It just cannot happen.
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Now, while I am on my feet, about the distribution of information, is thig®
committee prepared to recommend that every Indian in Canada get a financial®
statement? If I were to take that up with Treasury tomorrow I know exactly S
what their answer would be. We are paying 5 per cent on all Indian trust S
funds. At prevailing interest rates, it makes a difference in the case of the S
Blackfeet, between $90,000 and $150,000, a year. Now, I think Treasury would
take the stand that there is a limit beyond which the taxpayers can go in paying
interest and providing information and service costs. If the Indians approached
the Department of Finance and said each individual must have a statement of
his financial standing each year, and we will provide 4 per cent, or 4% per cent, {
or 3 per cent or 2% per cent, to enable the government to open a printing office’ f
that would be a different proposition for any governmental office, I care not
whether it is the present government or any government that may succeed it. I -
can go to the dominion government today and secure 5 per cent on my money,
and I think it is the duty and responsibility of the government to maintain |
equity in these things. Now, I think inspector Gooderham should explain the |
audit and there is another important matter that came up today and it would }
be unfortunate if we did not have an expression of opinion from him on it because
it has come up, and that is the permit system. The fact that an Indian has to |
gfzt a permit before he may dispose of his livestock, potatoes, grain, or anything §
else. E

Mr. Rem: Could I ask you a question right there? Does that regulation §
apply in all provinees? I understood that in the province of British Columbia an
Indian could sell anything, he is a free individual. :

Mr. Hoey: No, that is just the prairie provinces.
The Cuaamman: Let us get into that with Mr. Gooderham.

Mr. Hoey: That is the legislation, and when you come to the Act you want
all the information you ean get, and that is why I think you should embrace this
opportunity when an experienced official from the field is here. That is very
important and I would like to hear him discuss it for my own information.

The Cramrumax: The first question you are propounding is a question on the ;4
financial statement. ;

Mr. Hoey: Audits.
The CaHARMAN: Can you answer Mr. Gooderham?

Mr. BLackmorg: I can save Mr. Gooderham some trouble if I point out that = §
no one has suggested that every Indian should get a financial statement, what o}
is really being implied by the question is surely the council should have access |
to such a statement. 4

The CuamrMan: Would you like to comment on that, Mr. Laurie?

Mr. Lavrie: Mr. Qhairman, it seems to me the difficulty has arisen, as .|
Mr. Allan explained this morning, that sometime a wave of economy hit the |
Indian department severely and they had to curtail a lot of the expenditures. 'y
That is one reason why many of the reports which went out during those years
were very meagre in the sense that they were sum totals. I should like to add "
to that the extraordinary difficulty which many of our older chiefs have in under- . }
standing English in the first place, let alone the intricate details of a financial | §
statement. It is my impression thaf, many of those things were just explained to
them without any real understanding on the part of the Indian. I do think, =
particularly, since Mr. Hoey has become the director and since Mr. Gooderham
has become inspector in Alberta that these matters are receiving a great deal |
more attention than they have ever received before to my knowledge, I will §
“qualify that by adding “to my knowledge.”

The CramrMax: Mr. Gooderham would you like to say something about it? ..
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Mr. GooperHAM: There is so little I can say. In the first place all expen-
ditures of moneys are submitted with complete statements each month through
to Ottawa and are undoubtedly first audited by the department and then by
the treasury and then they go to the Auditor General and they are all checked
and everything else. On top of that, there are special auditors detailed from
the treasury branch. At the present time there is an auditor on the Blackfoot
reserve who is following up the last audit and he checks for every detail that
is shown as an expenditure through the books of the agency. He also checks the
vouchers to see that they are in order. In fact it is a complete audit as in any
other kind of concern, and he makes his report to his own treasury branch, and I
believe in turn, a copy of that goes to our directorate. It is a very thorough
account of everything. That is done through the treasury branch. I do not know
that there is anything more I can say.

Mr. Brackmore: Mr. Chairman, there is just one thing I would like to
say, in all the questions I asked there was no implication that there was any
dishonesty on the part of any agent. Mr. Hoey put it well when he said there is
an audit in accordance with the government policy. Mr. Chairman the question
this committee must deal with is the government policy. It is a question of
whether or not it is sound.

Mr. GoobErEAM: From the standpoint of the audit I would say very sound.

The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment, all right Mr. Castleden.

Mzr. CastiepeEn: I do not think there is any suggestion from any band
or from any Indian that each Indian should be given a statement. I think this
1s the difficulty, we had a statement from the officials that a financial statement is
placed before the band council each year. The complaint that we have from the
Indians is that they do not receive that statement.

The CuamrMmAN: Gentlemen, I think you have brought it out in full, and Mr.

Laurie has made his statement, could we not leave it at that?

Mr. CastLEDEN : Chief Yellowfly said about thirty per cent of the band funds
were spent in administration, I would like to have a statement from the officials
as to how that is done. ]

The Cmarrman: I do not think we can do that until Mr. Blackmore is
finished.

Mpr. Brackmore: That is my very next question.

The Cuamrman: Will you accept that as your own question?

Mr. Brackmore: Yes, if we have reached the point.

Mr. GooberHAM: I may be able to help you there. In the surrender
agreement, that the Blackfoot Indians made they said this. We will increase
our staff on this reserve with the funds created out of the sale of this land. They,
in the surrender, very definitely said that “we will pay for the hospitalization,
we will pay for the farming instructors, and the stock, and such other men as are
Specialists in the way of our development”. As a result they are expending, as
Chief Yellowfly has said, and I would say very close to 30 per cent of their funds.

Mr. Castrepen: Of the $150,000? \

- Mr. GoobErHAM: Yes, you cannot run a hospital for nothing, and they have
to have farming instructors, and they have to pay the salaries which they have
done until today. <

Mr. Case: What about burial funds?

Mr. GooperHAM : Yes, their burials, They make the burial of people a very
substantial and reasonable thing, supplying them with coffins and so on.

Mr. CastLEDEN: Are burial charges charged against the band funds in their
reserve, could I get that?
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Mr. GoopErHAM : No, the cost of burial is part of band charges.

Mr. Hoey: Yes, where an Indian is an indigent and the band has no band
funds, it is a charge to welfare.

The Cuammman: If you will look at page 507 of the proceedings you will see
the report to the Blackfoot ageney in Alberta, showing the receipts, I presume it
is the receipts and disbursement and I will just put it as such.

Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, are we to follow Mr. Gooderham’s suggestion and
have the Indians’ comment on the permit situation?

Mr. Brackmore: I would like to ask just one more question from Mr.
Yellowfly, that is, do the Blackfoot Indians now feel satisfied about spending 30
per cent of their income on staff?

Chief YerLowrLy: They feel that since health is a government responsi-
bility, they feel that through the treaties the government promised to look after
the Indian’s health, they feel the government should pay for those things, the

amount of the salaries to the doctors and nurses, since it all relates to that
question.

Mr. Harkness: Mr. Chairman on a point of procedure, I think we should
finish up with the delegation itself, and their evidence at this session because they
are leaving afterwards and I think we might be able to question Mr. Gooderham
at our next meeting. I understand he is going to be here for the rest of the week.

The CualrMAN: Whatever the committee says.

Mr. CastLeEDEN: I do think the delegation that is here is very much interested
in this permit problem, but I think a couple of minutes might be very well
spent.

Mr. Rem: I wonder if I could ask just one question before he goes?

The Cuamrman: He is not going.

Mr. Rem: It has to do with band funds.
band funds had $2,000,000 to your eredit?

Mr. CastLEpEN: More than that, $2,800,000.

Mr. Rem: I am leading up to the question I have in mind by asking that
first. My question is this, how much each year does the band keep back for
improvements, do you keep back $100,000?

- Chief YevrowrLy: I will put it this way, we are working on the assumption
that our income from all sources, band funds and other sources would be
$150,000 and then we budget on that basis. In this budget we provide for all
those programs such as hospitalization and so on. .

Mr. Rem: Would there be any buildings constructed out of those funds
each year?

Chief YeLLowFLy: Yes, there could be.

Mr. Brackmore: How many more of these gentlemen are there to be
heard from, Mr. Chairman?

The CuArRMAN: Beg pardon?

Mr. Brackmore: How many more of these gentlemen are there to be
heard from, in trying to decide whether we should hear Mr. Gooderham before
we hear from them?

The CramrMaN: These are the only two, the others are supporting them,
1 think it-would be well to hear from Mr. Gooderham if you do not mind.

Mr. GooperuaMm: Mr. Chairman, gentlemen, it is a difficult thing to answer
this sort of a problem, and you have put me rather on a spot. Now, in southern

Did you give evidence that the

‘Alberta we operate a great many reserve herds of cattle on a community basis.

They are one unit. I think it would be rather dangerous and I think it is a feeling
of many of the Indians that the permit system should not be done away with, not
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only from a statistical point but in order to get the best value. The Indians are
taken into our confidence. We are all working together pretty well. The
Indiang on the Blood, the Blackfoot, the Peigan, and the other reserves raise
cattle, tenders are asked for their cattle and the best tender is accepted. Pos-
sibly if individuals were buying or selling without this permit system, while a
number of them had not had a very great deal of business experience, it would
be found they might be selling at a loss. Now we appreciate we want to develop
them as Indians, to become more responsible, but we say we want you to come
in and talk things over and we will automatically give you a permit as you will
probably make a good business deal. But for the man who is ignorant of buying
~and selling practice and is influenced by the desire of the moment, he is very
likely to sell and regret it afterwards. I think Major McKay of British Columbia
can tell us that sort of thing happened in the years gone by in British Columbia
where many of their herds and other things were dissipated. The Indians them-
selves here, especially in the south, want that protection, and I think they are
prepared to rely on the integrity, fairness and co-operation of their agent to
work this problem out until the time comes when it iy safe to leave it to them
~ entirely. That applies to the Indians’ cattle and grain and other things. When
you get into the north there is fur and the fur-regulations of the province and
there is control through the provincial and dominion governments. There could
bg:, very likely, a breach of trust by allowing an uninitiated man to go peddle
his furs. Then there is the matter of timber. In the timber, which comes under
the permit system, the timber is part of the land itself, communally owned.
Well, if you removed the permit system, one very crafty individual might sell
out his band and therefore, the permit system should be continued. T think,
and I think it is agreed by the majority of the more advanced Indians, the
permit system should remain as a protection for the time being. A trial was
made in a small way on the Blood reserve at the request of the Alberta associa-
tion last year. There are members of the association here now who know the
results. Last year we were lax in putting up the hay and as a result the hay
became good and scarce on the reserve. There was not enough saved, and some
members of the association found it very difficult to get hay themselves. I think
that they would prefer that in future the tightening up of these things should be
discussed in their regular council meetings where certain rules and regulations
can be made on the general principle, that of on the whole keeping their affairs
safeguarded. I do not know that there is anything more that I can say.

The CuAmrMAN: Thank you very much.

Mr. Rem: I would like to ask a question. From your experience in the
past are you still of the opinion that this form of assistance should be continued?
I am thinking particularly perhaps of the Indians of British Columbia. The
Indians do much of their own marketing because we feel that the only way by
which they can learn the lessoms of life is by acting for themselves. True, the
Indian may make an error now and again, he may get gypped; but that is
just part of learning the lessons of life. We all have to learn that way. I am
asking this question. We think that makes them self-reliant, to look after
their cows, their hay, their eggs and such things; they are getting experience.

o you think it is now time to change that permit system in the province of
Alberta?

Mr. GoopeErEAM: The Indians of Alberta we feel are not fully qualified to
deal with finance. First I think they should go on longer, not so long, before
they turn over from the present system. I would not like to say at the moment
that they should be removed immediately. I thoroughly agree with you on the
matter of self-reliance; and we thoroughly agree with you that that is one of
the principal reasons that we should turn it over to them as quickly as possible;
why we should turn over to them the responsibility for everything. They are
éven now giving out suggestions as to how this should be done.
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Mr. Rem: In assimilation there is too much paternalism. They are being
treated as children all the time. No one can develop when he is treated in that
way and you will never develop Indians into normal ecitizens through that
method.

Mr. Castuepen: Has there been any expression of opinion from the Indian
Association of Alberta in regard to the matter of permits?

The CramrmAN: You will find reference to that on page 54 of the summary
of the brief.

Mr. CastLeEpEN: I avonder if any of these representatives would like to say
something on that.

Chief Grapstoxe: In our association not so long ago a motion was moved
by our then chief which I seconded—

Mr. CastueEpEN: A motion to do with what?

Chief Grapstone: It was about permits, about the relaxation of hay per-
mits. And the reason for that was to encourage the Indians to stay up there
at the hay camps. I think the Indians and more or less the other members of
our tribe kind of blamed the stockmen for their permits being held up. They
wgnted hay, they thought they would be able to provide. The chief reason for
this motion was in order to keep the hay camp going; that if the Indian got a
permit for himself for two weeks that would enable him to buy food and he
could still cut his hay in between times, and he could probably take home and
store something up for himself as well. The way it had been before the Indian
would go out to supply the stockmen and then stay as long as he could instead
of providing for himself for the winter. They would stay out as long as they
had enough money with which to buy food; and then, when they could do that, .
that would cause them to break camp and go out where they could earn. Our
object with this resolution was to try to keep them at their hay camp as long
as we could. As long as they had a permit to cut hay they would probably
stay at the camp; at least, they would stay at the camp that much longer. TLast
year, of course, the elements were very much against us and they did not. They
did go out more frequently. Like, if I asked for a permit today I could get one;
and, if they had been allowed a permit for a term of two weeks I think there
wou]d have been a great deal more of hay stacked on their own places.

Mr. CastrEpEN: Thank you very much.

_ The CHammax; I would again refer members of the committee to the
brief put in by the association. The question here is if they favour the permit
system. May I review a part of what is found in the brief at page 54:

By encouraging the band council itself to impose regulations upon
the disposition of such produce, it appears that the object of the enact-
ment would more readily be achieved, and in addition, that the benefits

accruing to such bands in their practice of self-discipline and self-
regulation would be considerable.

Mr. CASTLEDEN: I think that is a very important point, Mr. Chairman.
The thing is that at the present time the permit is being obtained from the
Indian agent and they are recommending that they be issued by the band
council itself, that the band itself should have some say about the imposing of

these regulations with regard to whether or not the Indian should be granted a
permit.

S Mx:. Case: T think that is the point at issue and T think Mr. Castleden is
quite right. They are not asking for the doing away of the permit system but
rather a greater say in its application.
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Mr. CastLEpEN: They don’t measure up. The regulations were put in
there to protect the Indian against exploitation by unscrupulous buyers, and to
that extent it is good. Today there is very little exploitation of that type.
Take grain, they take that to the elevator where it is graded and a price is set
on it. I wonder what any of the other Indians have to say about it. Chief
Lightning, what is your opinion of the permit system? Do you think it stands
to get the Indian to be a better producer, or does it operate as a detriment to

. the Indian as it functions at the present time?

Chief LicaTNING: We discussed that for some time last winter. There are
some of our people who are in favour of giving a special permit,

. Mr. Castuepen: That is, the main difficulty with the granting of permits
18 that it should be left to the band rather than where it is now, with the agent?

Chief LigarNing: We ‘would like to have our band council arranged so
that the Indian could get authority to look after his own business.

Mr. CastuepEN: You want to grant him relief from the permit system.

Mr. Remp: In other words you would like in certain cases for the Indian to
do his own business; if he has a cow to sell, if he has grain to sell, or if he has
hay to sell?

Chief LicarNinG: Yes.

Mr. Rrm: You think the Indian should be allowed to sell what he saw fit
Without having to go to the agent or even to the band for permission?

Chief LicarNning: Yes. The Indian should be left alone to handle his own
affairs without having to go to the agent or the band council to get a permit.

The Cmamrman: Well, then, in view of that, that you would release some

- of the Indians from these restrictions, how are you going to determine who
should be released and who should be restricted? What is going to be your

guiding rule?
Chief LicarNiNG: In every band they have some one to two hundred acres

- of land in crop and they have a large amount of stock and the people look

after it. You might have as your next-door neighbour a man who cannot
Supervise matters for himself with good results, he might not even be able to make
& living without supervision. That is the sort of man who requires some
Drotection.

The CuarMaAN: And you think the band would be best able to set these
rules and regulations and say who should be restricted and who should not?

b Chief LicaTniNGg: I want this permit system to be left entirely with the
band.

The CuamrmaN: That is what I mean.

Mr. Remp: In other words the band accepts the responsibility of saying who
shall be responsible for the disposal of his own crop, and who shall not?

. Mr. Castuepen: Experience would be the criterion by which they would
Judge, I take it. If a man had shown himself incapable of carrying on his own
affairs, then they could say who should get a permit.

Mr. Case: Might I ask this question. Suppose your plan is put into effect
and the band deal with permits and they relieve certain individuals from the
permit, restrictions; that is what you want?

Chief LicaTNING: Yes.

“Mr. Case: Now then, those who are not released from the permit restrictions,
Wwho will administer their affairs; the band, or the agent?"
Chief LigarNinG: He would still be under the agent.

Mr. Case: Until they have reached a certain stage?



‘,u

694 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

Chief LicaTNING: Yes.

Mr. Case: What is the procedure now; does he go direct to the agent for
his permit? ‘

Chief LicaTNING: For a special permit at any time he goes to the Indian
agent. We have different procedures in different bands. For instance, if I am =
an instructor in a certain band, I will be asked for a report. ¥

Mr. Case: Do I understand you that at the present time the band has =
nothing to say about it? X

Chief Licarning: No.

Mr. Case: By that I mean, of course, the band council?
Chief LicaTNiNGg: No.

Mr. Case: You have nothing to say about that?

Chief LicaTNinGg: No.

- Mr. Cuaruron: If one Indian in the band wants to deal with another

Indian in the band does he need to have this permit? He has to have a permit, b
is that not so?

The Cuarmax: Is that a fact, Chief?

Chief LicarNiNG: If I would want to deal with another Indian who belongs 3

with our band, that is all right as long as we report it to the farm instructor so = §
that we have it on record.

Mr. Cuaruron: That is what I mean, you have to report it. I was just
getting down to the point, wondering if the permit was done away with in some
cases. The ones who sell have to get a permit to sell, and the -agent would
give them a permit so they could get their produce out.

The CralRMAN: Shall we proceed, gentlemen? Are there any other questions
you would like to ask this witness? Mr. Crow Eagle is here. If you have no °
further questions I would like to call him. i

Mr. Bryce: I would like to find out; I do not know how many bands are
represented here to-day, but I would like to know whether the Indian agent lives
on the reserve or does he live a hundred miles or so away. Could you tell us that? -

The Caamrman: What is that again?

Mr. Bryce: I want to know with respect to these bands which are repre-
sented here to-day from Alberta if there is an Indian agent living on the reserve;

is he a full-time man or a half-time man; or does he live a hundred miles away
say in Calgary or Edmonton.

The Caamrman: Could Mr. Gooderham answer that? Do you think you
could answer that question, Mr. Gooderham? ; '

Mr. GooperuHAM: I think T could sir. You see, an agency may comprise a
number of reserves, but invariably the agent is on one or other of the reserva- -
tions.  On the big reserves like the Blackfoot, the Peigan, the Blood, the
Sarcee—who are represented here; on them the agency is right in the midst of
the Indians. There are reserves at the Edmonton agency. Mr. Callihoo’s
reserve is some miles away from the agency, but the agency is on the Stony-
Peigan reserve. They do not have a farming instructor. They have to look after
themselves. But on nearly all of the other reserves there is a representative
of the agent who is now called the farming instructor and who lives there, and
as we develop we hope there will be more of them living on the various reserves
and in close touch with the Indians.
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There is another thing I personally want to see and that is the man living
among his people—as much as possible living among the people he is directing,
except where it is not possible to have them in ecities. I would like them on the
reserves.

Mr. Bryce: Could the witness make plainer how far these reserves are
apart? We have an agent here who lives on the reserve; and another one is in
charge.

Mr. GooperEAM: It might be as much as a hundred miles.

Mzr. Bryce: How do you expect these men to contact that agent? It ends
up in this, that the man you appoint as agricultural instructor on the reserve
becomes the Indian agent and does the work for the Indian agent, and there is
lack of supervision.

Mzr. GoopErHAM: Not necessarily lack of supervision.

Mr. Bryce: He is a hundred miles away and he cannot keep track of the
man he should be instructing. The young Indian is doing the work.

Mr. GoopErHAM: Noj; the distance may vary up to one hundred miles from
the agent to the farm instructor—the reserve which is under his jurisdietion.

Mr. Hoey: It is only fair to the committee to say that that whole admin-
istrative set-up has been under review by Mr. Allan and Mr. Gooderham and
myself for three months, and when I say under review I mean under thorough
review; and within our proposed administrative set-up we are making provision
for superintendents in the south, and under this man there will be assistant
agents, so by the appointment of superintendents and assistant agents and farm-
ing instructors the whole administrative set-up is in the process of reorganiza-
tion, and we think that in the prairie provinces, after a great many months of
work—we may be flattering ourselves—we think we have a very worthwhile
and what is likely to prove to be a very efficient administrative set-up. I do not
want the committee to spend time trying to go through an open door. I think
it is only fair that they should know that. Those are the facts.

The CuamrmAaN: We are here to hear the Indians. There are two state-
ments we want to get before the end of this hearing. With your permission,
gentlemen, I am going to ask Mr. Callihoo to make his statement with regard
to permits. Mr. Callihoo, will you bring your chair up here toward the front
and sit right down among us and make yourself at home.

John Callihoo, recalled.

The WritnEss: Now, Mr. Chairman, what I think about this permit system
is that it does not appear to be a very good policy to me and our reserve, the
Callihoo reserve. The premit system has been going on since every treaty was
signed—that is about seventy-five years ago. As long as this permit system
lasts the Indian agent is going to be allowed to give the permit to the Indian and
18 going to deal for the Indian and the Indian will never know the valuation of
their work. The Indian will never like this permit. They have never liked this
permit system. I am not talking about these Blackfeet and these other people;

am talking about ourselves. I notice when they talk about the north they
switch to the south. If they talk about the north let them talk about the north
and if they talk about the south let them talk about the south. That is what we
want to see going on. Because the permit system discourages the Indian in our
north country. If the Indian goes to the agent in the fall of the year especially
and he says to the agent that he is going to run short of feed or is not going to
be able to winter his stock, he will go to the agent for a permit and that is the
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time the agent will refuse. I am telling you the truth. He might go there five or
six times and be refused every time. Now, when the Indian sees his stock dying
during the winter and spring of the year he says, “To heck with it, I am not going
to raise animal stock.” That is the way it happens. I will tell you our case in
Callihoo reserve. This was between 1898 and 1900—I do not remember exactly.
My dad put up hay and he put away about 300 tons of hay for his stock and
there came a very bad storm in the fall of the year and there was snow and sleet
and rain, and the little Sturgeon river was flowing over and all the sloughs were
full of water, and all our hay was under water and every bit of it was spoiled.
Well, when the old man didn’t know what to do I drove four or five trips with
him to the agency. That was about 21 or 25 miles. In those days there were no
bridges over the creeks and we got stuck pretty nearly every time we crossed one
of those little creeks. And every time my dad asked the Indian agent—Mr.

Gibbons was the agent at the time—the answer was, “No, you are not going to
get a permit.”

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Do you mean a permit to sell live stock?>—A. To sell some live stock.
The old man said that there were some four year old steers and some dry COWS,
and he told him exactly the situation of how his hay was spoiled and under
water but that did not make any difference. The answer was, “No, you are
not going to get any permit.” So, finally the old man comes up—we had four-
teen acres of oats that was to be threshed, and the old man did not thresh
that oats but kept it out for feed, and when that was done we went into the
bush and chopped some young birch, but that did not keep the cattle alive.
It kept them alive for a certain amount of time, but they could not winter on
that. In the spring there were very few head left; we had nothing but a big
bone-yard in the yard. Now, the old man got sore about that. He did not
like it. In the following year the inspector comes along and the agent and the
interpreter and they were going to brand the calves. They made a fire and
had their iron there, and the old man asked them what they were going to do
and they said they were going to brand the calves, and the old man says,
“Don’t brand them now.” And when they went down the yard the inspector
asked the old man, “Where is all your stock, you had a big bunch of stock last
year, where are they?” And the old man told them the situation and the
nspector and the Indian agent had a little talk between themselves and the
agent said, “I got your orders and I followed your orders.” The inspector said,
“No, that is not my orders.” And the agent said, “That is the best I could do.”
So they did not brand the calves anyhow. My dad told the inspector and the
agent to take the stock out of that reserve, if it was their stock to take them out,
that they did not want any more permits. He said, “You see what you have
done. We are not going to raise stock just to make bone-yards.” That was
the very year that we were left to do our own affairs without permits, and

ever since Callihoo reserve has done better than any other reserve in the north
country.

The CHAIRMAN: You do not have permits up there?
The Wirness: No.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. You find production is better on your reserve than where the permits
are?—A. You can see it in the blue book at the time of Gibbons. He put it in
the blue book that the Indians of Callihoo reserve were the. poorest among
the poor. He was right. The other reserves were far ahead, but today we are
far better off. We never get permits.




——

INDIAN ACT 697

Q. Do you not have examples where buyers come in and buy cattle too
cheap?—A. The sooner the Indian is allowed to do his own affairs the sooner
he will learn. He might be beat for five or six years but after that he is going -
to improve.

Mr. Case: He pays for his experience, but he will be much sharper.

The Wirness: Sure.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Would you advocate that with regard to timber permits?—A. I can
go this far, according to our own reserve—I do not know about other reserves—
1t appears to me that the Department of Mines and Resources or the Indian
department whatever it is, is holding back timber in the Indian reserves for
the purposes of white men, for the benefit of the white man. We are not
allowed to saw, we have never been allowed to saw and sell timber. We have
been allowed to saw for our own use. But there was a lot of standing com-
mercial timber in our own reserve and we were never allowed to sell any at
all, never allowed to cut timber. All at once there came a big outfit right
In the reserve and cut our timber off. That showed that the department is
holding our timber for outsiders. :

The CuamrrmMAN: When was that?

The Wirness: 1926.

Mr. Case: Your band would receive revenue from the sale of the timber,
would it not?

The Wirness: I asked Mr. Allan one time in Calgary to give me a
statement on that, I did get it. We got, I think, $335 or something for stumpage,
and I saw the man that got the timber out and I asked him how much he made
and he said $20,000. :

By Mr. Reid.:

Q. What do you think of being encouraged to have a little sawmill to cut
timber of your own to build houses?—A. If we had a sawmill of our own at
the time we would never be allowed to saw it for sale; it would only be for our
own use. There was a lot of timber, and today there is not a stick standing
In that reserve. That is where we stand. ‘

Mr. CastuepEN: There is no lumber left there at all?

The Wirness: No.

Mr. Castuepex: There has been no conservation of timber?

The Wirness: There could not have been because of the value of the tim-
ber that was there in 1926, 1927 and 1928, it is all gone.

By Mr. Case:

Q. Has the second growth come on?—A. No, fire has destroyed it.

Q. Have you any wood on the reserve?—A. Yes, we have wood.

Q. Suitable for fire, or fuel?—A. Just for firewood.

Mr. Bracemorr: Mr. Chairman, did Mr. Callihoo say only about $325 was
all the Indians got?

The Wirness: That is what we got right here in Ottawa, I think that is
what it came to, about $325, I guess Mr. Allan would have that.

Mr. Brackmore: That went into your band funds?

The Wrrness: Yes, but Charlie Lederal made $20,000.

The CrAmMAN: Chief Teddy Yellowfly would like to comment on that.
Mr. Cuaruron: That name is not right, T am afraid.
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The Wirxess: Lederoux.
The CaAlIRMAN: L-E-D-E-R-0-U-X.
The Wirness: Yes, something like that.

Chief YeLLowrLy: Now, gentlemen, you will recall in my brief where I =
said tribal property must be distinguished and differentiated from individual =
persons property. Now, and furthermore, I said it is desirable to encourage the =
self-reliance of the Indian and the individual authority. I make reference to S8
that in this regard, that the permit system as it is has its virtues and it also has
its disadvantages. For example where it would be advisable to retain the permit ¢
system as regarding tribal programs that are operated under a community basis.
I think I said those Indians who are making a livelihood—in plain words they “f
should not be required to sell through the permit system. Now, I will go back
to the statement I made to encourage free enterprise.

Mr. Case: May I interrupt for a moment, you say now going back to the =
permit system, you suggest that apply through the band. .

Chief YeLLowrLy: I suggest that apply through the band because the local
body would decide, where they know each other. Where it probably would do ==
harm is in a tribal program that is operated under a communal effort, for =
example, if they were threshing and they were operating under a communal
basis then one Indian may sell all his wheat and then at the same time not know-
ing what the cost of the operation was, and though not intentionally, might
undersell to the point where he would not be able to contribute to the effort.

Mr. Caaruron: Not be able to pay his threshing bill?

Chief YeLLowrLy: So I would say those Indians who are not able to look
after their own should be placed in a separate category from the tribal program.

The Cramrman: Gentlemen, with your permission, Mr. Laurie is here and
he would like to make a statement about adult education among adult Indians
in Alberta, Mr. Laurie?

Mr. Lavrie: Mr. Brown, gentlemen of the committee and officials of the
department. As evidence that the Indian Association of Alberta is not entirely
concerned with sharp-shooting at various things I should like with your permis-
sion to tell you of a project which was undertaken by the Indian association
members this winter. The members of our association wished for an experiment
in adult education. The association agreed. In the city of Edmonton we were
able to make arrangements for a room in which to hold classes and we were
able to obtain instructors from the university staff, from the St. John’s Ambu-
lance Association, and other sources. The proposition was that the Locals of
the association would finance anyone there through the Local who would be
chosen to go and anyone who wished to go over and above that chosen repre-
sentation would pay his own expenses for the period of the week.

Mr. Case: Men and women?

Mr. Lavrie: Men and women, or men or women. The school in Edmonton
was attended by varying members, some of them came for only one or two
classes in which they were interested but a number attended throughout the
entire course. Lectures and demonstrations were given in first aid, elementary
first aid; in how to conduct a meeting and record the proceedings of that meeting
in a proper fashion. Lectures were given through the courtesy of the game
branch of the provincial government on the game laws existing in the province
and many Indians found them very instructive. There were also classes in
letter-writing, simple English and one thing and another of that kind. The
students were very enthusiastic and expressed every regret that it lasted for a
period of one week only. We undertook to organize a similar one in Calgary,
where we met with the same success. A lecture room was provided by one of
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the churches. We were able to obtain instructors from the city public health
department, from a doctor in the city, the assistant city solicitor, and others
who volunteered their services. We had a little better attendance here, I think
no ladies attended, one lady I may say attended the classes in Edmonton. Then
we had evening classes also, because we wanted to fill out the time, the boys
wanted to fill out the time as much as possible. T can assure you, by the letters
that we have received, that the instruction was very much appreciated and
again they were very regretful that we were going to limit it to one week and
we have been constantly urged that this should take longer. One boy came to
us afterwards and said “all right I will be ready to come back as soon as my

. Seeding is done”.

Mr. Case: What would be your total enrolment?
~ Mr. Lavrie: It was very small, T think we had seven in Calgary and six
in Edmonton. :

Mr. Case: What would be their average age?

Mr. Lavrie: In Edmonton perhaps the average age would be forty. In
Calgary it would be slightly less because three of them were young men and
the older members would be from forty to fifty years of age, and the young chaps
between twenty and thirty.

The CralrRMAN: I do not quite understand, what were they taught there?

Mr. Laurie: Lectures were given in elementary first aid through the St.
John’s Ambulance Association. Lessons in English as to how to write a letter.

The CrarMAN: Have you some pictures there?

. Mr. Laurie: These are pictures of the two classes. They were given instruc-
tlon in hygiene and sanitation. They were given instruction in the procedure of
meetings and the recording of minutes. How to form resolutions, how to frame
them, present them, and in one case it became almost a mock parliament. Does
that answer your question?

The CuammAN: Yes, thank you very much. We see in the pictures the
faces of many of those who are here today.

Mr. Case: I certainly think it was a very commendable project and should
be encouraged.

Mr. Lickers: Could not that be worked in best by the use of residential
schools for those meetings? :

‘Mr. Lauvrie: That I do not know, Mr. Lickers, we have had just this one
Session and I cannot say how far it could be developed.

Mr. Case: About how far would your pupils have to come to attend?

Mr. Lavris: At the Edmonton school T should say the average distance

- Would be forty miles. In the Calgary school the most distant student was Mr.

row Fagle here, he came about one hundred and fifty miles. The closest was
r. Crowchild and another chief from Sarcee, who came twelve miles. The others
Were from various distances and they stayed in town a week.

The Cuamrman: Now, Mr. Laurie, while you are on the subject of adult
education, many of the members of this committee were on a committee last
fall which went to the maritime provinces and there they saw what had been
don_e in adult education in many of the reserves. We have not had the oppor-
Unity of visiting western Canada so that we do not know what you have there,
ut have you such a thing as a homemaker’s club of adult women.

Mr. Lavrie: I think there is one at the Hobbema reserve, is that correct?

Mr. GooberHAM: Yes.

The Cuamrman: Have you personally had an opportunity of observing
what they have done?

Mr. Laurie: No, sir.
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Mr. GoopErHaM: I was at a homemakers’ club meeting last Thursday, held

in the basement of the existing agency office, at which there was a district |

representative, a woman district representative of the province of Alberta in :
attendance with slides. She had been giving a prior meeting, a cooperative thing

between the province and our department. We also had there a professor from =
the province of Alberta, who gave slides and talks on gardening. There was in

attendance, the space is limited, a number of women and a few men. They also
attended—these representatives went down to a very wonderful seed-cleaning
plant the Indians had just erected. I might say the same thing has been started =
in the Lesser Slave lake district. Chief Frank Cardinal’s wife and others last i
year had a similar type of thing organized through the reserve. They have all
these functions indefinitely, as such things do not always function definitely,

but we hope to have them continue. We support it and get very wonderful

support from the province of Alberta.

Mr. CastepEN: I am just looking through this report and the appendices
of the association. In their questionnaire they refer to housing. I notice that

they report some 170 families on the various reserves are without housing. =}

Apparently you have a housing situation there.
Mr. GooperaAM: Where?
Mr. CastrepEN: In Alberta.

Mr. Gooberuam: It is from very good to very bad. On the Blackfoot reserve
they have buildings, good buildings, and others valued at half a million. They had
one hundred and seventy sets of very fine buildings originally of a frame type,

they may not be as warm as some of the latter. They are contract houses, four- I

room, five-room, and two-room houses, of which a number were very fine homes.
As you go to the other reserves you will find very good houses which have
been constructed by the Indians. Then you get down to the reserves where they

are just log huts. In the deep north there are both log and lumber huts, houses; B

but up there I feel that the Indian could get a great deal better home because

he is living right in the midst of good timber. T always feel, gentlemen, that the

home, the house situation can be just more or less what we want or what
our desire or demand is. On the Blackfoot reserve they have had these big homes
for as many as thirty years, and a great many of them are vacant. The Indians
have been living not only in the wintertime but in the summertime in smaller
‘houses. The houses were made beyond their ability to appreciate. That is the

matter of progress and knowledge and appreciation. And I think that is one

angle that you must take into consideration in considering the housing situation.
You may have 150 people wanting houses and not have any very great demand
for them.

Mr, CastuEDEN: These are families?

Mr. GrapstoNE: Oh, family houses, yes.
Mr. Rem: May I ask you this question?
Mr. GoopeErHAM: Yes, sir.

Mr. Rem: Do you find among the Indians in Alberta something similar to
what I have found in my investigations of the last year or so in regard to homes?
I came on a settlement where there were small log homes and the younger genera-
tion of Indians told me that it was almost impossible in some instances to get
their parents to live in the homes because they believed that the spirits of the -
departed were in there.

Mr. GooperuaaM: I do not know about that.

Mr. Rem: The father and the grandfather have been born there. They 4
made that statement to me. i
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Mr. GooperuaM: It was the other way in many places, where they think the
spirit leaves the home. Today I do not think that is so prevalent, but there are
a number of poor homes.

Mr. CastLEpEN: I was thinking, as a result of your statement, there are areas
where there are large stands of timber and it would be possible to establish
permanent, housing?

Mzr. GooperuAM: That was brought up here once to-day. In the Sucker
Creek area we have—and I had it brought up last year—a saw-mill on the job
right now, one of their own. It is rather hoped, and the intention is, there are
men capable of operating this mill, and then it may be taken elsewhere. I do
not know what they are doing with it. I have not had a talk with Chief Cardinal.
Have you started operations there yet, Chief?

Chief CarpiNaL: They have it there and I think they are going to start
cutting this spring.

Mr. CastLEpEN: We cannot help solve the health problem of the Indians
until the housing situation is taken care of.

Mr. GooperaAM: It is on the program.

The CramrMAN: Could we as much as possible confine our questions to this
Witness because they are here now. Are there any other questions?

Mr. Hargness: I have a question I would like to bring up. It has not been
dealt with in the brief or by anybody else here, but from conversation with many
of the Indians I know it is a matter which is in their minds to a considerable
extent and I would like to have an expressign of opinion from the witnesses here
on the matter; that is, what they think the situation should be as far as the liquor
laws are concerned; particularly as to what they think should be put in in our
re-writing of the Act—as it is hoped this committee is going to do—what could
be done so far as the present regulations, that Indians are not permitted to buy
liquor, or use it, and so forth.

The Cramrman: Would you care to comment on that, Chief Yellowfly?

Chief YeLLowrry: I have not given that subject much thought, but I am
of opinion that there are laws already in existence in each of the provinces which
pretty well take care of the situation as it is. For example, they have a law
which interdiets a person, an Indian, and denies him the use of it. I think the
Indians should be treated all alike, and if you prohibit all of them how are they
going to learn.

The CuamrMAN: Crow Eagle, would you like to comment on that?

Mr. Crow EacrLE: No, sir.

The Cramrman: Is there anyone else who would care to comment on it?

Mr. CastLeEpEN: I was wondering if they would agree with this, that very
often as a result of the fact that they are not allowed to purchase liquor the
Indian is often the vietim of illegal sales, What about that?

Chief YeLrowrLy: That is true.

Mr. CastuepEN: That caused a great deal of trouble and gives a bad repu-
tation to many Indians because this type of traffic is allowed.

Mr. Hargnpsss: This is a question with which we will have to deal;
that is, as to whether we are going to continue this prohibition of liquor as
far as the Indian is concerned, or place them under provincial laws; and it is
a subject on which we should get an expression of opinion from the Indians
themselves.

Mr. Case: I might ask Mr. Laurie if his association has ever dealt with
this problem?

Mr. Lavrie: No, sir; it has not dealt with the problem.
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Mr. Case: It has not been brought up at all?
Mr. Lavrie: No.

Mr. Case: It has not come before you?

Mr. Laurie: No.

The CHAIRMAN'Z Now, we are near the end of our session. You here
are going home tonight. Is there any question you would like to ask, or that

you would like to bring up before this committee? We want you to feel b

free to ask anything. Now that you are here we want a frank expression of
opinion. We want you to go away feeling that you have had every opportunity
of bringing up any subject which you want to bring up before this committee.

Mr. HarkNess: I want to say, Mr. Chairman, that I would like to have
a frank expression of opinion on this matter which I have brought up. We
have not had any opinion expressed so far except that voiced by Chief Yellowfly.

Mr. SteiNHAUER: This question concerns other matters as well. It con-
cerns particularly the returned servicemen, the Indian veteran living on the
reserve. With the law the way it stands today we are not allowed to go into
a beer parlour or to buy any liquor, when I was in uniform I could go into
the canteen or any beer parlour and buy liquor. Once.I took off my uniform I
was an Indian again. Is there anything being done to relieve that situation?

Mr. HarxNEss: What is your opinion on this matter, that is what I want.
Do you want a prohibition on liquor to Indians? Do you think it should
be continued or stopped?

Mr. SteinHAUER: Well, I think it should be one of our privileges,
particularly in the case of a man who has shown that he can control his liquor.
Take my own case, I can take a glass of beer, or two glasses of beer, and it
never affected me; whiskey, I can’t take that at all, or wine; that is a different
thing with me. It is just like this; you have a horse and you put him in the
barn and you don’t give him anything to drink and at the end of seven
days you take him out to a trough and he will drink and drink until he
has enough. I think if you give an Indian the same chance he will drink like
a horse. That is the way I feel.

The CuamrMaN: Would anybody else care to comment on that?

Mr. LiearNing: No, it is not exactly that I want this. I am not
insisting on it, but I want to bring to your attention certain facts. The
Indians are under certain restrictions with regard to liquor. I want to leave it
to you to judge of the situation for yourselves. In many places as I have
travelled in different portions of our province an Indian like myself is not
allowed liquor but at the same time he can get it any time he wants to. Then,

there is another point, you take all these people you hear about in the news-. g |

papers being poisoned by drinking shoe polish, rubbing alecohol and different
things of that kind. We feel that we should be in a position to get good liquor,
to get the proper stuff, not poison. Supposing an Indian wants a drink. We

“ have a lot of good friends among the white people and we have respect for .' i

those friends. If I want a drink I will get it, whether I am allowed it or not.
My point is this, that as long as this continues as it is now many more Indians
will go to the graveyard with that kind of poisoning. Then, another thing,
many of them have, as you know, a special recipe for the stuff. ]

Mr. Hargxess: And your general idea then is that this prohibition should
be removed? :

Mr. LicarNiNg: Well, T am just giving you these illustrations. I want
the committee here to judge that for themselves. Why keep the Indians under
the same restrictions until more of them get poisoned and others unfit to
work any more when they do get it.
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Mr. Brackmore: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Lightning’s opinion, I take it, is
that they should be permitted to buy?

Mr. LicaTNING: Yes.

Mr. Case: The same as the white men.

Mr. LicaTNING: My own personal opinion would be, as I said a minute ago,
when an Indian wants a drink he will take a drink anywhere he can get the
stuff, and if he can’t get anything else he will get this poison, that is all it is.

Mr. Case: The Indians of my riding tell me that the- fact that they
cannot have permits emphasizes their feeling of. inferiority, that they are
looked down upon as being somewhat different. Do you think that intensifies
any feeling of inferiority amongst your people, not being able to buy liquor
and not having a permit?

Mr. LicarNing: To a certain extent, of course. I looked at the Indian Aect.
You are given to understand, of course, that the Indian Act protects the Indian
everywhere he turns. While that continues, and as long as we are talked about
as wards of the government, we shall never be able to run our own business
anyway.

The CaamrMan: You realize this, you have read the minutes of proceedings
of this committee, but what we have been trying to do ever since we started has
been to devise some scheme whereby we may have the Indians help themselves.

Mz, LicaTNING: Yes.

The Cmamman: We are rhost anxious to see that all Indians, that the
entire Indian population of Canada is assimilated. ¥You see, what we are trying
to do is to revise the Indian Act so that it may lead to that end.

Mr. LicHTNING: Yes.

The Caamman: That is why we want your comments.

Mr. Hargnguss: I wonder if Mr. Callihoo has any comment to make on the
point?

Mr. Caruizoo: In the first place, I feel as though I-was a criminal even
before T was born, not being allowed to use liquor the way anybody else does.
_But I can tell you this, that I can get all T want when T do want a drink. There
18 nothing in the world that is going to stop me when I feel like going out and
having a good time. The only unfortunate thing about it is that T have to pay
three or four times more for my whiskey than you people do.

Mr. CastuepEn: That in itself is an injustice.

Mr. Caruraoo: Yes. I repeat what Mr. Lightning has said; I have seen lots
of Indians who have poisoned themselves to death for wait of a drink. They
cannot buy the good stuff, probably they haven’t enough money, and they are

forced to go to the bootlegger for this rotgut. And they are going to drink,

whether they do pay ten times the price for this poisonous stuff. If the Indian
cannot get anything else he is forced to take this rotgut, and all this other poor
stuff. And when he does that he no longer has a good brain, he is not going to
be able to build up his brain, he is not going to be able to develop his muscles
or his strength or his budget. I think if an Indian was allowed to use good
liquor, he would use good liquor and he would use it to a certain extent. If
suddenly, eight or ten of us would kill ourselves it would be a good lesson. There
will always have to be a start somewhere. If the Indians are forbidden to make
a fire to warm themselves, they are going to suffer. If they are forbidden to do
one thing and they see other people using that to the best advantage they want
totld"o the same, and as long as they are forbidden they are never going to learn
a thing, ;

Mr. Case: Would it be safe to say if he could use good liquor he would
use good judgment? :
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Mr. Cavrigoo: Oh, I would say it would be safer for them to use good
liquor than the rotten stuff they are using these days.

The CuairmaN: Chief Crow Eagle would like to make a comment now.

Chief Crow Eacre: Mr., Clrairman, and other members of the committee.
I would like to say a few odd lines in expressing thanks to the members on behalf
of the Indian Association of Alberta. We indeed have appreciation for being
invited to come to Ottawa by your committee, but the time is so short that we
cannot express ourselves to the extent we should express ourselves. Just one
thing I would like to ask the friends of the joint committee to prove our sum-
mary in our brief. I would like to ask you to come to the province of Alberta
and to prove our brief,—see for yourselves the conditions in the various reserves.
We cannot very well express ourselves in this short time. We just have a
limited time. If I am permitted to express a feeling of the Indian Association
of Alberta on the various subjects that have been brought up I would be glad to
do so. On this oecasion we have come down here as representatives to bring
back home good news for our people, but one thing I would like to bring back
home is if I could learn the joint committee is coming to investigate more
thoroughly. Supposing this is a house. A high official comes. Those are all
Indians. And yet the official comes in. . There is some Indian agent here, all
right. 1 want to find out what is going on, all right. The floor is clean, that
18 all right. The Indian agent takes him around the floor and he goes and tells
him, “I am going to take you out into the Indian reservation”. And he goes out
in the reserve and examines it. There is the herd; there is the farm; and the
official says “That is fine,” and he goes back to Ottawa and makes a report.
We want an investigation into that corner, into that corner, and back into that
corner, and this corner, where the officials never see, and that is why I ask you,
gentlemen of the joint committee to come if possible and make an investigation
thoroughly. And if T am permitted to continue for more illustrations, I have
illustrations on the timber limit situation and what ‘we call a vote by the
majority on the bands.

The Cmamman: Well, now, Chief, we appreciate your invitation very
much and I feel sure that the members of this eommittee are grateful to you
for the invitation and we would be grateful for the opportunity to visit the
reserves in Alberta. We, however, are faced with the completion of this investiga-
tion leading to the revision of the Act this year, and during the sessions of the
House it would be impossible to make any trip of such magnitude. I do not
know as I can make any further comment on that at the present time, exeept
that we appreciate the invitation very much and I know those of us who
investigated down in the maritimes, just a small part of the committee, we found
it most valuable. Further than that at the present moment I cannot make any
statement. . ‘ :

Mr. Brackmore: Mr. Chairman, T think the chief might tell us.about the
timber limit if you would give him a little more time, he evidently is ready to
speak about timber limits.

The Cuamrman: Would you like to give us something on timber limits?

Chief Crow Eacre: Yes, thank you Mr. Chairman. We have a situation
on the Peigan reserve where there is a large stand of timber, which is estimated:

“at some 10 to 20,000,000 feet of timber. We have been fighting for this band

of Indians to get a sawmill of their own which they have the money in Ottawa
for, it is around about $80,000, but we could not get this money. In the first
place the proposition was said that we were to have our own sawmill and some-
thing went wrong between the proposition and the Indians. ‘We were told to
surrender our timber limits.

Mr. CastLEpEN: Who told you that, who advised you that, may T ask?
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Chief Crow Eacre: I think it is from Ottawa.

The CaatrMaN: Who told you it was from Ottawa?

Chief Crow EacrLe: Mr. Gooderham, the inspector of Indians, The idea is
this, that we are to surrender and have tenders with others for the timber limits.
The highest bidder gets it and the stumpage goes direct to the band, that is to
this band. And we did not like the idea because if we could get $40,000 out of

' the stumpage fee we are not getting anything out of it because it goes direct to

the band fund office. And when we go around and ask for some of this band
fund we cannot get it. There might be the odd time we might be able to get a
few dollars out of it for distribution, but that is not the idea we are driving at.

“The idea is the Indians are to teach themselves to operate their own projects,

80 as to learn what should be learned in the world. If the Indians are expected
to learn civilization I believe it is civilization when the Indians can learn how
to manage their own projects. The idea is this. They were to own their own
project, the sawmill. We can cut the timber ourselves by the Indian boys.and
the Indian boys would earn their wages and provide their families instead of
going to the Indian department and asking for assistance, relief, because it is a
very big nuisance to the Indian department when we go to them to ask for
assistance, relief. So therefore, we want to be in a position where we do not
have to go to the Indian Branch of department of mines and resources for such
relief as when we have sawed our timber into lumber and have our own lumber-
yvard and then have the chances of selling our own lumber, we would not need to
do that. In the meantime, there is the stumpage fee. We could also pay the
stumpage fee from our own project. The stumpage fee goes to our band funds
but the sale of the lumber, some of it has to go back to Ottawa in order to fill
up the amount we have taken out for getting this project. And moreover we
would be able to furnish proper homes on this reservation. And we, our people,
we have to have a vote from this. T wrote our Honourable Mr. Glen, and in my
letter T stated that the feeling of this band did not wish to vote. Just for this
reason. Some years ago, I think it was in 1910, we were told to surrender, just
like what our friend Mr. Gooderham has mentioned, for better results, so we
could improve our reserve. At that time when we were told to surrender, the
biggest majority of the Peigan Indians did not agree with this proposition and
so the vote started. When the decision came out the biggest majority was
against; however, the minority won the case so we had to surrender.

After that there was a man by the name of A. J. MacLean again asked for
a lease on the reserve for his stock. There again we were told to vote and the
biggest majority came out on top again; and it happened to be that I was one
who was in the number who voted for it and I believe we were just fourteen of
us voted for it: - We won. But I was lucky at that time that I won.

So, just for these two reasons, we agreed to go through another vote. We
just had a vote a little while ago. We had a chief there—the indians didn’t
agree with him either because some way or another—I didn’t want to bring this
up but just to outline it—some way or another the band didn’t agree with the
chief so they said, all right, let us ask for his disposal. So we voted. The
majority went against him by that vote and then we were told to vote again.
The majority went against him again. But he is on there yet. So, I do not
know; I cannot understand why it is that we are supposed to vote by a majority
and on these three occasions a minority got away with it.

The CmamrMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. Eagle. Mryr. Laurie, for the
benefit of the committee, you are secretary of this delegation; I have been
wondering if you can tell us whether there is any way in which we could in future
be of assistance to any delegation coming specially before this committee?
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Mr. Lavrie: Well, Mr. Chairman, with your permission I would like to say =
something on the matter of accommodation. I think some steps should be taken =
to arrange proper accommodation for delegates coming in here.

The CaamrMAN: Do you mean by that hotel reservations, I take it?

Mr. Lavrie: Yes, some arrangement should be made for hotel accommo-
dation, for any kind of accommodation is very hard to get in Ottawa.

The CrARMAN: Yes, you have had some difficulty, I presume.

Mr. Lavrie: Yes, and that would apply to all delegations coming here.

The CuARMAN: You see, we as a government committee cannot very well
do that, Mr. Laurie. We appreciate your position all right, but I do not very well

see_how members of this committee could recommend that accommodation be
provided—
Mr. CastLepEN: He is talking about hotel accommodation. We should be

able to take steps to make reservations, to see that there are reservations made

for those people who are attending this committee as delegates, that they should
be able to get rooms.

The CualRMAN: That is a difficulty. Is there anything else? Do you feel
you have had an adequate hearing in this matter?

A Mr. Lavrie: Mr. Chairman, we should have liked more time, much more
time. You will appreciate our difficulty. We feel that the committee under the

circumstances has done the very best it could do, and we are very, very grateful ]

for your permission to remain with you in addition to the official delegates. It is
something which has cheered the people of Alberta very much, the fact that
they are being allowed to remain here for this hearing. Thank you all very much.
To the committee I should like to say that our reception has been very, very fine,
and on behalf of this delegation and all who support it we want to thank you.

The Cuarman: We appreciate your coming here before us, and on behalf
of the committee I want to extend to you that appreciation. We appreciate
the cooperation you have given us in helping us in our deliberations in revising the
Indian Act. ' ; ;

~ Mr. CastLepEN: Just as we close Mr. Crow Eagle was reporting to us some

circumstances on his reserve. I am not sure whether I got him right or not. Do
I understand it to be your point that on three different occasions; that once
you voted against a timber lease; that once you voted against the leasing of land
to one Mr. MacLean; and that once you voted against a chief who was rejected;
then on each of these occasions the majority vote was disregarded? Is that the
way you put it?

Mr. Crow EAGLE: Yes.

Mr. Castuepen: Then your band vote means practically nothing to you?

Mr. Crow Eacre: That is right. ;

Mr. CastLeEpEN: And your band then did not have the decision in these
matters. That is what I wanted to clear about.

) The CaamrmaAN: That is a matter T think we should ask Mr. Gooderham
_about.

Mr. CastreEpEN: But I wanted to be sure that is actually what had occurred.

The Crarrman: We will have an opportunity of going into that on another
~occasion.

Mr. Castiepen: These gentlemen from the department will be here when
we go into that?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.
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Mr. Casg: I think, Mr. Chairman, that we might quite properly comment on
the very 1'cm‘ul\able brief that the delegation have brought with them before this
committee. I do not think they have overlooked very much in their brief even

* though they have lacked something in time in which to present lt I think that

fact should be commented upon.
Mr. Casrrepen: Could you give us any indication of the actual years in

- Which those votes took place? Were they in 1889 or 1902? When were those

Votes taken—the one about lumbering, and the chief, the leasing of the land?

5 Mr. Crow Eacre: I do not know exactly, but I believe the first oné was in
10.

Mr. Castuepen: That is with regard to lumbering?

Mr. Crow Eacre: The surrender of the land; I think it would be somewhere
n the ’20's; and this last one would be last year.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you very much for the briefs and the evidence you
have given us.

Mr. Castrepen: Was that the surrender of the land or the timber rights?

Mr. Crow Eacre: The land.

Mr. CastrepEN: ‘Was that the actual surrendering of the land or just the
surrendering of the timber rights; which was it?

Mr. Crow Eacre: Surrender of the land in the first one.
Mr. CastLeEpEN: And the second one?
Mr. Crow Eacrr: The lease.

The committee adjourned to meet again on Thursday, April 24, at 11 o’clock
a.m,
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or CoMMONSs,
Thursday, 24th April, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee appointed to continue and complete the exam-
ination and consideration of the Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all
such other matters as have been referred to the said Commltteo met thls day
at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., Joint Chairman.

Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Blais, Macdonald (Cardigan) and
Taylor—3.

The House of Commons: The Honourable Mr. Stirling and Messrs. Brown,
Blackmore, Brunelle, Bryce, Case, Castleden, Charlton, Farquhar, Garlepy
Gibson (Comox Alberm) Harkness MacLean, MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon)
(Vice Chairman), Raymond (W'might) Stanﬁeld—17

In attendance: (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Dir-
ector; T. R. L. MaclInnes, Secretary: M. McCrimmon, Reserves and Trusts;
B. F. Neary, M.B.E., Supermtendent Welfare and Tramlng P. N. L. Phelan,
Training; H. M. Joncs Supervisor; Family Allowances; Major D. M. MacKay,
Commissioner for Indian Affairs, B.C.; G. H. Gooderham, Inspector, Indian
Agencies, Alberta; D. H. Russell; G. Armstrong, K. L. Balderston; (Miss) K.

- Moodie; also John Callihoo, Pres1dent Indian Association of Alberta, also Mr.

Norman E. Lickers, Barrlster Counsel for the Committee and Liaison Officer.
The Chairman asked that the subcommittees organize forthwith in order to
assist in expediting the work of the Joint Committee. Mr. Gariepy announced
ghat the subcommittee of which he was subchairman would meet this day at
30 p.m.
. Mr. T. R. L. MacInnes, Secretary, Indian Affairs Branch was recalled, made
a statement and was questioned thereon.
- - Mr. G. H. Gooderham, Inspector of Indian Agencies, Alberta, was recalled,
and questioned.
Mr. John Callihoo, President, Indian A%mlatlon of Alberta was questioned.
It was agreed that further questioning of these officials would be resumed
at the next meeting, :
The Committee adjourned at 12.35 p.m., to meet again on Friday next, 25th
April, at 11 o’clock a.m.

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Commattee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House or CoMMONS,
April 24, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act, met this day at 11.00 a.m.
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.

The ‘CuArMAN: Gentlemen, will you come to order please? Recently,
there have been three additional subcommittees set up. One is considering
treaty rights and obligations under the sub-chairmanship of Mr. Gariepy;
another subcommittee is concerned with the revision of the Indian Act under
the sub-chairmanship of Senator McKeen; and the third subcommittee is con-
cerned with education under the sub-chairmanship of Mr. Matthews. I wonder
if the sub-chairmen of those committees would convene those committees today
or tomorrow in order that they may commence work. The members of the
Senate have now returned.

Mr. Gartepy: Subcommittee No. 1 will meet at five o’clock this afternoon.
Arrangements have been made and the secretary will send out the notices at
noon,

The CmamrmAN: That is your organizational meeting; what room?

Mr. Gariepy: No. 268.

- Mr. MacNrcon: If it is only an organizational meeting I would suggest you
Cf’illl i‘i{ at 530 as there is another very important meeting commencing at four
o’clock.

Mr. MarraeEws: Could we have a list, Mr. Chairman, of the members of
each subcommittee? :

The CaammMAN: Yes, that will be found in the minutes of proceedings.
Probably, I could read the list for you. On treaty rights and obligations, the
Hon. Senators Taylor and Paterson and Messrs. Brown, Blackmore, Castleden,
Gariepy and MacNicol; on the revision of the Indian Act, the Hon. Senators
Taylor and McKeen and Messrs. Brown, Arsenault, Charlton, Farquhar and
Richard. ;

- Mr. CuaruToN: There was a change, Mr. Chairman, I am on the education
subcommittee. .

The Cuamman: I am sorry, you were replaced by Mr. Church and then
Mr. Church was replaced by our good friend the Hon. Mr. Stirling, so that
list will now read, Brown, Arsenault, Stirling, Farquhar and Richard.

The education subcommittee will consist of the Hon. Senators Fallis and
Taylor and Messrs. Brown, Brunelle, Case, Charlton, Matthews and Reid.

Those who are on the education subcommittee, in other words, Messrs. Case,
Brunelle, Charlton and Reid will confer with Mr. Matthews. I am sure he
will convene a meeting in very short order. Those on the subcommittee on
treaty rights and obligations, Messrs. Blackmore, Castleden, MaeNicol will
meet with Mr. Gariepy. Those who are on the subcommittee on revision of
thg Act, Stirling, Farquhar and Richard will confer with Senator McKeen.

Mr. Garmepy: My committee will meet at 5.30 this afternoon in room 268.

Mr. Craruron: Does that refer to all subcommittees
713
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The Caamman: No, only to the subcommittee on treaty rights and obliga-

\ tions. Mr. Matthews will have to obtain some departmental material before &
: his committee can be convened. Senator McKeen is not in the city at the &
moment—I am sorry, I am informed he is here now. Senator Taylor will see =
him about convening a meeting of that subcommittee.
Is there anything further in that connection? =5
Gentlemen, Tuesday afternoon there was some discussion about elections =%

{ in the Peigan reserve in Alberta and with respect to timber leases. I wonder\., ‘
3 if we could call the Alberta inspector of Indian ageneies, Mr. Gooderham, who =
5 is here. We also have Mr. MacInnes here and Mr. McCrimmon. They-are all =
~ here in connection with these matters and probably they could give us some
explanation on behalf of the department in regard to the evidence which was =
submitted. If it is your pleasure we will eall Mr. MacInnes.

T. R. L. Maclnnes, secretary of the Indian Affairs Branch, called:

The Wirness: Mr. Chairman and honourable members of the committee, -
as I recall the question which was raised by Mr. Crow Eagle at your last. =&
session it concerned statements made that the Indians had vbted to have =
removed or deposed, as we say under the Indian Aect, their head.chief whose o
names is Yellowhorn. oy

Now, I might explain, that the Indians of the Peigan band, like all the
Indians in Alberta, are not under what are known as the election of chiefs pro- =
visions of the Indian Act. They are under what is known as the indefinite or
life system. At the time the treaties were made in 1877 each band was recog-
nized as being entitled to a chief and so many head men or councillors, They
had certain rights under the treaty, extra annuity payments and so on for those
head men and councillors. The tenure of office for these men was during good
behaviour. They could be removed only by order in council for specified causes.
Those causes included incompetency, intemperance, immorality, dishonesty. b

When the Indians made their complaints against this Chief Yellowhorn,
who had that status of what is known as a life chief, we investigated quite fully

i through the inspector of Indian agents, Mr. Gooderham, who is here, and the
B Indian agent Mr. MacMillan. We could not find that any ground existed
which would warrant drastic action against him. On the contrary, the reports =
on the whole are to the effect he is a pretty good chief. Therefore, the depart-
ment did not feel it would be warranted in recommending to the Governor in
Couneil that this chief should be deposed from office.

I might mention in connection with this question that we have the election
provisions of the Indian Act under which, instead of holding office for life, the
chiefs and councillors are elected for two months in one case and three years in
the other, and, in a more advanced method, every year. Both these election
systems have to be applied by special order in council when the bands are con-
sidered sufficiently advanced to take on that new form of government which
corresponds, roughly, to municipal government, in a rural municipality. Now,
it has not been deemed advisable, so far, to apply that to the province of &
Alberta although consideration is being given to doing so. One thing which
creates the need for going slowly on it, in the minds of departmental officials, is
the desire to see just what sort of new election provisions will be put into the new
Act and how those provisions would fit into the needs of the western Indians.
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By Mr. Case:

Q. Did the department ask the Indians to hold the elections on the Peigan
reserve?—A. No.
Q. They did that on their own?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. What year was that?>—A. Tt was a year ago when the Indians got
together and held a meeting at which meeting they resolved that Chief Yellow-
horn should be deposed—removed from office. It was about March of 1946.

By Mr. Case:
Q. You do not know how representative a meeting that was?—A. The meet-

- ing was representative and there was a majority vote of the male voting mem-

bers. However, the band did not have the power to remove the chief; that

could be done only by the Governor in Council and for specified causes.

By Mr. Castleden: :

Q. How is it decided which of these bands have a right to elect a chief and
Which have not?—A. By order in council of 1889 which applied election provisions
to all the bands in eastern Canada, that is Ontario inclusive and east. It was
also applied on special representations to a few bands in the west, but only one
In Saskatchewan, the Cowessess band, two bands in Alberta and a number in
British Columbia, about ecight in British Columbia, I think. The rest of the
bands in the west remained under what is known as the tribal system.

By Hon. Mr. Stirling:

Q. Was that resolution carried by a sweeping margin or only a narrow
one?—A, Perhaps the inspector, Mr. Gooderham, will recall that better than

I do, but I believe it was by a substantial majority. My recollection is there

Were some 51 votes against the chief and that the number in his favour was
only about one-third of that. Nevertheless, there were no charges substantiated
against him.

By Mr. Case:

Q. Are the provisions written in the treaty concerning the election privileges

- or the appointing of a chief for life; is that part of the treaty?—A. No, it is not

part of the treaty that the chief be appointed for life. The treaty specifies that
each band—this is treaty No. 7 of which I am speaking, of the Blackfeet treaty—
Mr. FarquuAr: Is it the plan that we ask questions as we go along?
The CuamrmaN: I was just about to lower my gavel for order. I have been
rather lenient. However, I should like to leave that to the committee. Is it

your pleasure now that we hear Mr. Maclnnes or that we question Mr.
aclnnes? ;

= ~Mr. CASE: I think we should question him as we go along. He is not present-
Ing a brief.

The CuaRMAN: Have you anything else you desire to present before we
start asking questions?

The Wirness: T have nothing to present other than what I have said. I

- will answer any questions you have to ask.

The CuarMAN: Have you presented all you care to present in answering
what has gone before?

The Wirness: Yes.
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The CuaRMAN: 1f you dre asking questions, I would ask you to be as brief, -
as possible because we have Mr. Gooderham and the other officials here. Have &
you any other questions, Mr. Case? :

Mr. Case: I have my questions answered, but I think he was just about to
answer how this matter was fixed. v

The WrrNess: Provision for the election system is contained in the Indian =
Act and the Act also recognizes the status of these life chiefs who are not 88
elected. The Act provides, in the election sections, that life chiefs and councillors —#i
—and this particular case comes in that category——may continue to hold rank &8
until death or resignation or until their removal by the Governor in Council for S
dishonesty, intemperance, immorality or incompetence.

Mr. Bryce: Well, this is something unusual. Have you had many cases —Sf
like this? £ g N

The Wirness: Quite a number; because groups of Indians for one reason =
or another become dissatisfied with their chief and councillors and present a
petition against them, and they are dealt with, each case on the merits. In =
some -cases action is recommended to the Governor in Council for disposal if it =
is found they come within the scope of the Act. 6

Mr. Case: What happens to the chief then?

The Wirness: In a case where the election system has not been applying, g
we follow the band custom. We have a meeting of the Indians—not a formal
election but a meeting—where the majority opinion can be ascertained and =
unless there can be some serious objection to that it is recognized by the
department and the person or group is dealt with. !

Mr. Case: Is that by order in council?

The Wirness: No, that does not require an order in council.

Mr. Bryce: The department retains the right to say who will be chief?

The Wirness: No, no, we do not do that. The opinion we have from our
legal officers is that in cases of bands not under the election system we have =
nothing to do with selecting the personnel, the chief. Once he is recognized then
he acquires status under the Act and can be removed only by the Governor in
Council. There is a little awkwardness, or inconsistency there. He comes in'
through the band and goes out only by order of the Governor in Council. That
is a point that might be changed in the Act.

Mr. Bryce: But you do not always take the recommendation of the band?

_The Wrrness: That is as to who will be chief? We do now, yes. There was
a time when we rejected the band’s decision but we were told that under the
Act we did not have the right.

Mr. Case: If the father is appointed for life, have the heirs any claim?

The Wirness: No, it is not hereditary. In some bands the practice is, while
they remain under band custom, to make it hereditary and let the son of the
previous chief succeed. If that is the band’s custom we do not interfere what-
soever, until such times as we might apply the election provisions of the Act
and then the people concerned go in for a three year term. s

Mr. Castiepen: Why do you differentiate and allow the Indians in the
eastern part of Canada, from Ontario east, to elect a chief and yet you do not
allow that privilege to the western bands. ,

The Wirness: Well, to the best of my knowledge the reason is this: Until
recent years there has been very little demand from the western Indians to
come under the election system and furthermore there was considerable reluc-
tance on their part to give up their tribal organization in favour of the rural
municipal set-up. Now most of the officers in the field, who were best able to
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Judge what the requirements of the Indians were, thought that in the west it
would have a very disturbing effect if these old life chiefs—you must remember
some of them have been in office for forty years or more—were put out and
elections started.

Now, I may say that during the last three or four years the department
has given detailed consideration, to applying the election system to satisfy the
b%nd\s, but in view of the fact that the Indian Aect is to be revised by this com-
mittee, and the whole problem of election and the electing sections is to be
reviewed, it was thought that before making any general move to introduce

e election system to the western bands we would wait for the revision of the
Act and see what the election provisions would be. Undoubtedly—these election
Provisions of the Act, which are very old—they have been there for some
seventy odd years, nearly—require overhauling and reviewing to make them
80 they would be suitable to the Indians not only in the east but in the west
and all over the country.

Mr. CastreEpEN: It would be helpful to this committee to know, if we are
to change the Act, whether or not it would be advisable to have the election
System changed.

The brief of the Alberta Indian Association is very emphatic in the statement
on pages 36, 37 and 38 that they desire that the right to elect their chief be
granted to them, that the band should be given the power. They say “we

- ¢annot, develop ourselves if we are not given some exercise of our powers”, and

t'h-ey state very emphatically the Indians should be allowed to elect their council
and manage their affairs.

The CraRMAN: Gentlemen, do you think we could leave the discussion of
the revision of the Act until we have the Act before us for revision. Sections
96 to 99A are the election provisions of the Indian Act—that is, for the election
of chief. Now, when we come to revising the Act, let us discuss all this at
that, time. ;

Mr. CastrEpEN: We want the opinion of the officials.

The Crarman: We will have the officials here at that time.

Mr. MacNicon: Why did the matter start at all; we have been talking on it

» for half an hour?

The Cuamman: It is like the porcupine quill; it takes but a very small
beginning but later it is a little difficult to get out. The matter came up at our
last session. .

Mr. MacNicon: Did the witness not bring it up this morning?

.~ The CuamrMAN: Perhaps the witness did, but T am now asking you to leave -
1t until such time as we have a discussion on the revision of the Act. If you want
to discuss it further with Mr. MacInnes it is entirely for the pleasure of this

. committee,

Mr. MacNrcon: I would like to know a little more about it.
A dThe CrAmMAN: I do not think we should go into the revision of the Aect
0-day. ;
. Mr. Case: I think we should ask questions, but we do not want our own
Opinions,

The CuamrMaN: You can have Mr. MacInnes here later on but you will not
have Mr, Gooderham after to-morrow.
. Mr. Brackmore: I would like to ask for the opinion of the witness. With
t‘?ng experience in dealing with Indians and Indian matters, has he any sugges-
lon he would like to make as to how the revision of the Act should be carried
out in this connection.
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The Wirngss: Well, Mr. Chairman, in reply to that question I might say =
that a revision of the proposed sections has been drawn up by the departmental =
colicitor in consultation with officials, including myself, and there is a good deal
; of detail involved. Broadly speaking, if I might express what I consider the
{ view of the department on the matter, it is this. Just as soon as possible the
Act should be made so that it will apply and can be applied generally and =

i practically to all the groups of Indians in Canada, including western Indians; =

| and that is what we are aiming at. As I understand your question, that is the = f
H department’s view on the subject. ;
= Mr. Brackmore: You mean to give Indians more power in the matter of =

g electing their own chiefs?

v The Wirnyess: To put them under an election system, with regular inter- =
272 vals, and with powers to make bylaws, and in short to have what we have set

up as a sort of municipal election system, a rural election system.
= The CramRMAN: Gentlemen, would you consider this suggestion which has =
{ just been made? That we have Mr. Gooderham, Mr. MacInnes and Mr. =
: McCrimmon sit up there, and ask all of them questions? Mr. Gooderham will =
} not be here later. You are now asking questions on subjects which will be dealt =
£ with in detail later, but you will not have Mr. Gooderham then. 4

Mr. MacNicon: I ecannot get through my head how this discussion was
started; we have been at it for the last half hour. 18

Mr. HoeEy: Mr. MacNicol, I think I can explain that in a sentence. The
last witness made a statement— '

Mr. Farquaar: Would you speak a little louder? -

Mr. Hoey: The last witness from Alberta, at the close of the proceedings =
on Tuesday last, made the statement that the Peigan Indians had a vote at =
which an overwhelming majority had decided to remove their chief. The witness -
said a resolution to that effect had reached the department but the department
had ignored their wishes—the band’s wishes had been ignored by departmental =
officials. In view of the fact that the ignoring process had taken place since
B I became director I was a little disturbed and I thought it would be a good =
¥ thing if Mr. MacInnes answered it this morning while we still had an Indian
representative from Alberta here with us.

The Cuamrman: We have gotten away from the question by talking about
revising the Indian Act. Now, we have a subcommittee on the revision of the
Indian Aect which will go into that whole matter of revision, clause by clause
and section by section as will this main committee. Now if it is your wish to
go into a discussion on the revision of the Indian Act that is purely within the
province of the committee, but T am warning you Mr. Gooderham will not be =
here after to-morrow. If you do not want to hear Mr. Gooderham now just go
ahead and ask Mr. MacInnes questions. -

Mr. Case: If you want to call Mr. Gooderham now I suggest you do so.

~ Mr. Marraews: I think the point that was raised by Mr. Hoey has been
very well eleared up by Mr. MacInnes. T think the explanation is satisfactory.} s

ST O G Y b

¥ Mr. MacNicoL: It is not satisfactory to me. 3
E The CuARMAN: Let us hear Mr. Matthews. ; 2
5 & Mr. MarraEws: I am only saying it is satisfactory to me, Mr. MacNicol

‘can use his own judgment. : a2
Mr, Farquaar: I think so too, and I think the other gentleman should be ;

heard and we could ask questions of Mr. MacInnes later. »

BTt Mr. MacNicor: I was just saying it was not satisfactory to me, I want to

i go back to before the white man came. :

The Cuarman: Is that not a matter for the revision of the Act?
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Mr. MacNicoL: Mr. Chairman, the whole morning has been a failure.

The Cramrman: I do not agrée.

_Mr. MacNicon: You are upsetting everything. You put a witness in the
ﬁ}_lan' and he makes a deposition and before he gets through you want to throw
m out,.

Mr. Case: I think Mr. MacNicol’s handicap is that he was not here at the
Tuesday meeting when all that evidence was given.

Mr. MacNicor: No, that is not it at all.

The Craammax: Can we now say we will hear Mr. Gooderham?

Mr. Brackmore; Mr. Chairman, I do submit, since you started going all
around the committee, you should give each member a chance to ask questions.

- The Cuamman: Supposing then, we confine the discussion to the answer
glven by the witness with respeet to the election in the Peigan reserve as brought
out by the witness at the last session. Would you like to ask a question on that?

Mr. Brackmore: Yes. I would like to know whether or not this information
Wwas conveyed to the Peigan reserve Indians so that they had a chance to under-
stand this thing which Mr. MacInnes has told us about. If it was conveyed to
them, by whom was it conveyed to them; and what assurance was had that they
understood it.

The Wrrness: It was conveyed to the inspector of Indian agencies and he
¢an say in what form it was conveyed by him to the Indians. I presume it was
explained to the Indians because that was the established practice in conveying
tulings to our inspector or agency by whom it is to be explained to the band.

Mr. Brackmore: I would just like to know, Mr. Chairman, why it was that
ﬂ{e Indians have such a strong feeling on this matter as was expressed by a
Witness whom we heard here Tuesday. So, if I may, I should like to go into this
matter just a little further. I do not know whether it is in order to ask

r. Gooderham to make a statement about the matter.
The CaamrMAN: I am going to call Mr. Gooderham when you are through

~ with Mr. MacInnes and ask him a few points.

Mr, BrackMorE: I am not sure that I want him to take the stand in place
of Mr. MacInnes yet as I still have some questions I want to ask Mr. MacInnes.

The CramrMAN: The point is this, that we have Mr. Gooderham here and
he will soon be going back to Alberta.

_Mr. Brackmore: I think your suggestion a moment ago was a good one,
Mr. Chairman, that you have Mr. Gooderham at the table along with
Mr. MacInnes.

« The Cmammax: Is that the pleasure of the committee?
Carried.
All right, Mr. Gooderham, will you please come up to the table here.
Now, Mr. Bla¢tkmore, would you ecare to put your questions to

Mr. Gooderham?

. Mr. Brackmore: Yes. I would like to have Mr. Gooderham tell the com-
mittee just what steps he took to make sure that the Peigan Indians understood
e situation.
Mr. Goopermam: In the first place, to explain this whole thing; the Indians
felt that this old man was not up-to-date in his thoughts, in the development of
€ reserve program. They had the idea that he was incompetent. Under the
Section of the Act they were all quite aware of the rights and the status of the
chief. He was chosen, but he could be removed only by order in council for

_dishonesty, intemperance, immorality or incompetency. They had nothing to

~ Say about dishonesty, or intemperance, or immorality, although they may have
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felt that he was to a degree incompetent. So, to be sure that that was the feelingt
of the greatest number I had the Indian agent eall a second general meeting in
which they again were in a good majority who felt that the man was inecompetent.
We reported that to the department and the reply was that their mtcrpwbahon
of incompetency was that incompetency had to be either physical or mental in 8

mentally incompetent; and for that reason the department could not see their
way clear to have this man removed from office. This in turn was submitted
to the Indian agent in writing, in detail. I also spoke to the witness who was é
here yesterday and explained this whole matter, at least I tried to explain it =
to him; that under existing condition it was only on those four points that a 3
chief could be removed or that that they could expect to have him removed; and 58

that under the system as it is there is no alternative but to leave him there “until
we found there was something before the department under which they could =
find sufficient reason to have him removed. That is the way it stood. Now, you =
ask what I did. All I did was to have this matter,—I had not been to the =
reserve since that decision was made to have a council meeting—I had a talk =
with the Indian agent, Mr. MacMillan, in which I asked him to make that as =
clear as possible to them. Now, that is how it stands. :

Mr. Lickers: So far as the department is concerned unsuitability did not
amount to incompetency ? 5

Mr. GooberHAM : That is the interpretation.

Mr. MacNicoL: I want to go back further than that.

Mr. GoobeEruaM : Yes, sir. -

Mr. MacNicoL: What was the tribal custom; it may be that you Would '
have no records available on it, but what was the custom before the white man

came; what would that tribe hawe done -a hundred years ago? Of course, you -
would have no record on that probably.

Mr. GooperaaM: I do not know, I think Mr. Callihoo could go further ba.ck }'
than I can. 1 would not know how to answer that.

Mr. MaceNicoL: Is Mr. Callihoo here?

Mr. GooberHAM: Yes, he is right behind you.

Mr. MaceNicon: Is he a Peigan?

Mr. GoopeErHAM: No, he is a Cree from the north.

Mr. CastuepEN: But he speaks for the Indian association of Alberta.

Mr. GooperuaMm: I think Mr. Callihoo would know all right. You know -
what the question is, Mr. Callihoo? How were your chiefs got rid of in the old =
days before we came among them? ’

Mr. Canuizoo: 1 don’t know a thing about that. But according to what we _
are talking about our understandmg from the treaty and what the Indlan agent

signed contlnued a ch1ef for the balance of his hfetlme In any other case
where a _chief was elected he was supposed to be elected for a term of three years.

Mr. CASTLEDEN Do you do that on your reserve?

I don’t know how many times from the Indian agent but we have not been able ,g By
to get one. 2

Mr. CastrepEN: Would you tell us how you choose your chiefs now?

/ Mr. CaLutnoo: We understand that according to the Indian Act we are ""
supposed to choose our chief every three years, but we are not allowed to do that.

Mr. CastrEDpEN: Not the western Indians. According to the ev1dence glven’_ -
here the western Indians are not allowed to do that. i
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The Wirness: Might I clear that up, Mr. Chairman?
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

The Wrrness: The election provisions in section 96 of the Indian Act must
be applied by special order in council and that has not been done as yet in the
case of any band in Alberta, and it is possible there may have been a misunder-
standing on the part of one Indian agent about that; but that section of the
Act is operative only in any band of Indians when there is an order in council
authorizing its application, and that has not yet been done in Alberta.

Mr. Brackmore: May I ask a question here, Mr. Chairman?

The Cuamrman: Mr. Blackmore.

Mr. Brackmore: I gather from what Mr. Callihoo has said that the under-
standing of the Indian was when they signed the treaty there was an agreement
then that they were to be able to elect a chief every three years—

The CrAlRMAN: Mr. Blackmore, when you turn and speak away from the
committee we cannot hear what you are saying.

Mr. BuackMore: I am sorry, Mr. Chairman. My’ understanding was that
Mr. Calihoo understood that when the treaty was signed it was provided in the
treaty that the Indians should elect their chief every three years.

Mr. Caruizoo: No, Mr. Blackmore, it is not that. What I was trying to
say is this, that we learned from our Indian agent that chiefs who were chiefs
when the treaty was signed were supposed to be chiefs during their lifetime,
and following that we were to elect our chiefs every three years, to elect them
for a term of three years. That was the understanding we had.

The Cuamrmax: Will you answer that, Mr. Gooderham or Mr. MacInnes?

The Wrrness: I think T can answer that. Just as I was saying, that is the
understanding; provided an order in council is passed to bring it into operation;
and for administrative reasons which I have indicated it has not as yet been done
I the province of Alberta. ‘ :

. Mr. CasrLepen: That leads to this point then; chiefs who were chiefs at the
time of the signing of the treaty continued to remain chiefs until their death?

Mr. Carnraoo: Yes.

Mr. CastrepEN: Then as far as the western Canadian Indian is concerned,
they have no right to elect their own chief since orders in council have not been
bassed granting them that right. I would like to know how your chiefs are
chosen now. Can you explain how you go about getting a new chief for your
band at the present time?

Mr. Cavuizoo: Our last chief—and that was quite a few years ago—
according to the Indian Act, and the Act was changed, it said that we had

nominate members of the band for that office. That is according to the old
ndian Act; and that a certain time after we were supposed to have an election.
But when the old chief resigned then the agent came along and says, you'll have
to get a meeting. So right that day they nominated a couple of men to run, but
ey never waited the ten days.

Mr. Brackmore: And, who nominated these two men, the Indians?

Mr. Cavrizoo: The Indians just nominated them.

Mr. Castuepen: When selecting a chief you nominate two or three?

Mr. CarLiroo: We vote on them.

Mr. Buackmore: Do they choose the one you vote for or the other one?

~ Mr. Carumoo: We voted. We lose our majority.
The CrammaN: Would you like to comment on that, Mr. Gooderham? .
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Mr. GooperuaM: Yes, I would, sir. Just so you will understand our,
problems in the field, the last- twenty- “five years it has been my experience tha%
we are out to educate the Indian, and as far back as twenty-five years ago L&
have always called people togefther in the band, and when there was a choie
to be made—my experience prior to that was that the chief—well, you didn
actually have a vote taken, but if taken it always was an open vote, not a secret
vote. There was always the noisy, talkative chap who engineered his candida
and kept him before them, and the others mere or less fell in line and the best
man was not always chosen for the job. So we said, here is what we will doj
hereafter we will have you vote, but you understand in the first instance that
your vote does not say that yoy elect the man with the biggest majority; h
will be your choice, and if your choice on our report to the department,
favourable to that particular individual you will likely get that man as your
chief or councillor; and that has progressed very well. I might say that he
the other day you had a young chief from the Sarcee one who has been a chi
only for two months.

The CHARMAN: What is his name?

Mr. GooberuAM: David Crowchild. We want first to educate the Sare
Indians in the matter of voting. We hope and expect, and every band in th
province I think expects and hopes, that they will have the elective system a
nothing else very shortly, but a certain amount of education is needed bef
it becomes fully effective. What we have done so far as this, we have gon
through the process of having certain nominations followed by the posting of the-
names of candidates. We also require that they have a sufficient number
names at the bottom of their nomination paper, because we could not take eve:
person whose name might be put in, you might have every Indian in the ban
placed in nomination. We had to have sufficient support to signify that the
candidate would be representative of some people at least. We have even gon
so far as to borrow ballot boxes from the city of Calgary. We also had wh
you call the free vote; and then we had secret elections from nine o’clock in th
morning until five at night, with the ballot boxes being sealed and broug
back and opened up. We had the police there. It was all done for a purpose.
We had one chief and two councillors to elect. They were really under th
system, but to all intents and purposes it was an election. It happened th:
the three men of their choice were the same as our recommendation. The man:
on the spot is not going to recommend somebody who does not represent t
Indians. We do want the Indians to run their own affairs.
 While I am on the subject T might say you heard Yellowfly from t
Blackfoot band. The Blackfeet have a very large band fund, and a “tremendo
amount of responsibility lies upon the band. The majority of their councillors
are life chiefs of great age. If you did not have men like Yellowfly on that
council you would have a desperate time explaining the financial setup. For

Mr. MAcNicon: Continue what?

Mr. GooperaAM: The old idea of thosen chlefﬂ

The Cuarman: Hereditary?

Mr. GooperHAM: Not necessarily hereditary, chosen.
The Cuamrman: Chosen for life.

Mr. GooperuAaM: On request they had a plebiscite last fall to find out wh
the wish of the majority was. I think the result of the pleblsmte was 75 per ce
in favour of elections and retalmng the old chiefs as it is stated in the Act, that
the older life chiefs shall remain and the councillors shall remain and hold their
treaty coat and their title and all the rest of it, but shall have no voting powers
unless at the elections they succeed in gettmg one of the elective posntlon&

<,
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There is the situation. It is pretty well general. I do not think that in a very
great number of years any Indian agent has tried to force upon the band. his
choice or the choice of the department whom he represents. He has tried to get
the Indians by this voting system to approve what they want.

Mr. Case: While they do not elect their chiefs in western Canada do they
elect their councillors?

Mr. GooberuEAM: No, councillors and chiefs are both the same. When
we talk of chiefs we refer to both.

The Wirngss: I should like to say this to clear up one point that seems
to have been causing a little misunderstanding here. I might say under the
present policy and for some years back the department never recognized any-
thing but the choice of the Indians in filling vacancies for chief and councillors,
whether or not under the elective system. That is the present practice, that we
would not accept any one who was not the majority choice of the Indians.

Mr, CastreEpEN: Do I understand in every case where the Indians have

voted the Indian agent has selected the one that had the majority?

The Wrtness: No, the Indian agent reports to Ottawa and is instructed
to report what the choice of the Indians is, and I say we never recognize any
choice other than the choice of the Indians under the present policy.

Mr. CastuepEN: Has that worked out, Mr. Callihoo? Would you say
that was so from your experience with the Indians?

Mr. Carruiaoo: That is what we are led to understand but it does not
really work. I am not denying what you say, but the Indians away back there
on the Indian reserve do not know what is really going on here in Ottawa, and
I presume the officers in Ottawa do not really know what is going on at the
other end either. All they know is what they learn from the reports they get
from the agent, and that is only one side of the story.

Mr. CastrLeEpEN ' Do you see the reports that are sent to Ottawa?

Mr. Cariraoo: What is that?

Mr, CastuepEN: Does the band see the reports which are sent to Ottawa?

Mr. Canrrzoo: I am very sorry my secretary has gone away with some
letters T wanted to have here, we did not have time to get everything ready.
I got my telegram just the night before I left, so I could hot bring anything
along. T forget what you asked me.

Mr. CastepeEn: I wanted to know whether the band knew what was
reported to Ottawa? .

Mr. Carrrmoo: No, because in the instructions we get from the depart-
ment it says that we have to make all our complaints and all our reports
through the Indian agent. Many many times we have tried to make complaints
against our Indian agent through himself, but that would not do. It never
would,

The CaarMAN: Any further questions? :

_ Mr. MacNicorL: I have not got started yet. I have tried three or four
times, but I like to pursue a thing and follow it through without interruption.

The CuamrMAN: As long as it is on the subject I think there is no
objection. ‘ ’ ‘

~ Mr. MacNicon: I can plainly see there is a grievance somewhere, and
this committee should find out the full roots of the grievance. :
- The CmamrmaN: Fine. .

Mr. MacNicon: And if possible eliminate it. I did not quite cateh the

Dame of the chief.
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The CrairmaNn: Callihoo. :

Mr. MacNicoL: He is of the Plain Crees? 4

Mr. CarLuisoo: Yes. ' A4 s,

Mr. MacNicon: I would go back further. I think the department should &
go back to the commencement of things. You know far better than I do that
the Blackfeet were the premier tribe and that they had several allied tribes
such as the Peigans and the Bloods. I do not know whether or not they were -
the same people but they were the premier tribe because it was always called ¥
the Blackfoot confederation. What I should like to find out is how did the
Blackfeet elect their chiefs?

Mr. GooperuaM: I will tell you how it was originally. When the treaties
were made, at the signing of the treaty—

Mr. MacNicor: That was under Crowfoot? {

Mr. GoopErHAM: At the signing of the treaty the treaty commissioner
or representative of the Crown picked out the leading men whom he saw at |
the meeting, the men who had made a prominent contribution to the signing.
of the treaty. They were made chiefs and councillors right there.

Mr. MacNiconL: Just a minute; are you correct?

Mr. Gooperuam: I think so. !

Mr. MacNicor: At the Blackfoot Crossing treaty signing Crowfoot was |
the paramount chief, was he not? .

Mr. GoobErHAM: Yes. 8/

Mr. MacNicor: Do you mean to tell me the department picked him out?

Mr. GooperEAM: They had to recognize him as a representative.

Mr. MacNicon: No, no.

The Cuamrman: I think we are asking the witness questions.

Mr. MacNicoL: The witness is saying one thing.

The CuaRMAN: And you disagree with him.

Mr. MacNicorL: I am only quoting history. The paramount chief was
‘Crowfoot. How was Crowfoot picked out? :

Mr. GooperHAM: He was the recognized generalissimo of the Indians.

Mr. MacNicoL: Exactly. S

Mr. GooberuAM: But in order to' establish him as a representative of the
Indians the treaty commissioner at that time said, “Well, you become an official.
We know you are a chief, but offtcially you become on our books the chief of
the Blackfeet.” I cannot think of the names offhand of the different Indians |
who were designated to whatever bands they represefited, but officially they |
came on the books of the department as recognized chiefs and councillors from |
that time. Is that clear? : s

Mr. Case: Their signatures to the treaty would be valid? - |

Mr. GooberHAM: That is right. They are officially put into the positions |
they had held hereditarily. 7

Mr. MacNicor: How did they get that position originally?

Mr. GooperHAM: They were leaders; they were chieftains. They were very Y
prominent. I suppose the leader comes to the top in everything, but a man like }
Crowfoot was a leader, and a wonderful leader. Naturally the commissioner |
recognized his leadership, officially recognized him. Possibly through Crow- |
foot he picked out the councillors. It may be that Crowfoot suggested them for |
the smaller bands. Their names and signatures are all there in the treaty. Some |
of those have been more or less hereditary but it has been the choice of the
band nevertheless from then on.
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Mr. MaAcNicon: Is there any record of all the chiefs of the Blackfoot band
who followed Crowfoot?

Mr, GoobperuAM: Pardon?

Mr. MacNicon: Have you a record of the chiefs who succeeded Crowfoot?
Mr. GooberHAM: Yes, sir.

Mr. MacNicon: Of the Blackfoot band?

Mr. GooperEAM: Yes.

Mr. MacNicon: How was each one of those chiefs selected?

Mr. GooperuAM: They were the choice of the band in practically every
instance. I cannot go back to 1877. There were three main bands of the Black-
feet. At that time there was Crowfoot, and there was Old Sun, and there was
another man, Running Rabbit, the present chief’s father. Finally as time went
on as they all lived on one block of land, they merged and became one band.
There were a lot of little bands, and each little band had a chief who was chief
of his little family compact, so to speak.

Mr. MacNicon: Who is the present chief of the Blackfeet?

) “Mr. Gooperuam: Duck Chief, the son of Running Rabbit who was one of the
original chiefs.

Mr. MacNicoL: After he passes how would you select a chief?

Mr. GooperuaAM: Duck Chief did not follow his father. In the interim

there were other chiefs, but eventually he gained the choice. As a matter of
fact, it was in my regime. We had two candidates for the position. It was away
back in the early 20’s. The other man said that Duck Chief had got in wrongly
bjecause Duck Chief’s brother stood outside the voting place and handed out
cigars!
. The CuamrMAN: Gentlemen, this is all tremendously interesting, but how
1t is going to lead to the revision of the Indian Act I do not see, especially when
we still have such vital questions as timber rights and contracts on which we
would like to question Mr. Gooderham between now and the time he leaves.

Mr. MacNicor: I do not know anything you can do to eliminate the griev-
ances from the Indians that will be more effective than to make some provisions

“to eliminate the grievance presented the other day. That is what I am trying

to get at,

Mr. Case: I think their brief establishes pretty well what they are seeking,
but I should like to ask Mr. Gooderham about a statement made by Chief Crow
lagle. He said that the department had advised them to surrender certain
timber lands against their wishes.

Mr. GooberEAM: When I came into my present work in 1946 it was brought
to my attention that there was a timber limit of the Peigans some distance to
the west, and on which a report had been made by the forestry head of Alberta
to show that there was roughly 10,000,000 feet of good lumber. I believe the
question of disposition had been taken up the previous fall by Mr. D. J. Allan.
It was brought to his attention. He had suggested that something should be
done about turning some part of it into cash. It was our feeling that it would

e an excellent idea, as we are now doing it in the ‘north, to have the Indians
start developing that industry themselves. Although the Indians at first in
1946 were loath to assume a responsibility that they had never had, of logging
and lumbering, I thought possibly it would be better if they would reconsider it.
They did at a meeting in the early fall and said that they would like to take out
of their band fund, which by the way totals about $80,000, a sum sufficient to
buy equipment and start up a small camp to log and mill some of this lumber.
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They had to have this money, and they considered that about $10,000 would
be necessary. We looked around. It was very difficult to get equipment last fall =~
and very expensive. There was also the fact that you had to create a camp. =
When I came to Ottawa I brought before the officials of the branch the fact that
these Indians wanted to do trat. After conferences the officials felt it was
taking really too much of the capital of this band, which was only $80,000, and
putting it into a venture which none of us knew much about. I know nothing
about lumbering. I knew the Indian agent knew nothing about lumbering or the
organization of a lumber camp. ‘

At that time we had nobody to whom we could go as a mill man or a
lumber man who could do the work for us, so we were loath to start, and it was
suggested that the Indians be approached then to surrender this timber limit
for sale on condition that possibly they could become employed by the firm that
might get the contract or get the lumber or part of it.

Those were my instructions when I went back, knowing that we might not
make a very great success of it in such a short time. These Indians, by the way,
had not done any lumbering like the northern Indians who have worked in
lumber mills a great deal. T told these Indians what the departmental officials
said, and did suggest that they might first of all consider the surrender of an
area to cover not over 1,000,000 feet, and with the returns from that they might
then proceed to do the work on their own. That is where the thing stands today.
They did want to spend their money on this venture. Last winter was a most
difficult and impossible time for us to start with the heavy snow. No further
action has been taken, but it is proposed to go into this more definitely this year.
We are now having a conference with the director of Dominion forestry here to
get another survey.

Mr. MacNicor: Did you mean a million feet board measure?

Mr. GooperuAM: Yes, that is what it would be, sir. I may say, gentlemen,
I started coal mining on this basis on the Blackfeet reserve many years ago.
You can soon create a great many complications if you are not trained in it.
We do not want to rush into new ventures with people who have never had
any experience and then find it a failure. Tt would do more harm than good.

The CaamrMAN: In other words, you have a respect for the taxpayer’s money.

Mr. GoopErHAM: It is mostly band funds, so there would not be much of
the taxpayer’s money involved, but we thought of that.

Mr. Case: The Indians actually surrendered a million feet of timber?

Mr. GooperaAaM: They have not surrendered anything as yet. p

Mr. Case: They have not?

Mr. Gooperuam: No, sir, they did not. I said there was no rush, it was
during the winter season and whether they would consider that or not, I did not
know. They still felt they would like to go out and try it themselves.

Mr. Case: You heard the Indians the other day declare that they had
surrendered the whole thing?

Mr. Gooberuam: Sir, they have not surrendered anything. All the Indians
have done is to pass a resolution to spend their money on this venture.

The CuArMAN: Mr. Lickers would like to ask you a question.

Mr. Lickrrs: My question ig in conmection with the evidence of Mr.
Callihoo. I think he said that in 1911 the Indians on his reserve surrendered
timber for a little over $300. Then, he found out afterwards the chap to whom
this was surrendered made $20,000 profit; is that an actual fact?

Mr. Gooveruam: I do not know, sir.

Mr. Case: My recollection is that Crow Eagle was under the impression
he had surrendered it, so I am rather at a loss to understand the matter.
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Mr. GooberuAaM: Crow Eagle does not speak English very fluently. I do
not think he meant to say that. I think he meant to say that they had passed
a resolution to go ahead with the project, but they certainly have not surrendered
anything. I do not believe they intend to surrender anything. They want to
go out and do the work and I am right behind the Indian for thinking he can
do that if we are not going to run into a lot of difficulty and waste money.

Mr. CastLepeEN: Supposing the band agrees to surrender a million feet,
what would be the procedure in regard to it?

Mr. GooperuAM: I am not familiar with that. I think you would have to
ask: Mr. MeCrimmon who has been in charge of that work for many years.
It is new to me.

Mr. Hoey: In a word, it is done by public tender.

Mr. Case: If the band agrees to surrender.

Mr. Castuepen: Is this timber ever surrendered without the permission
of the band?

Mr. Hoey: Never to my knowledge, not in my day.

Mr. Gisson: It might be possible to secure a white contractor and put him
on a per thousand basis. The Indians would gradually be able to acquire enom_lgh

owledge to run it themselves. I think something could be worked out. I think
You would have to have some skilled help in there.

Mr. Gooperuam: T would not be responsible for taking $10,000 of their
Money or the country’s money unless I was satisfied we had an organization or
& manager who was not, going to waste it. It could be wasted quite easily from
What I have heard about the lumber business.

The CuamrMAN: Mr. Gibson, you have had a wide experience in that busi-
hess, would you care to make any comment?

Mr. Gisson: Nothing beyond what I have said. It should be possible to
obtain a competent white man to go in there to look after the logging and milling
on & contract basis.

Mr. GooperraM: The difficulty is to get a man who will allow the Indians
to do the work.

Mr. Gisson: That could be part of the contract.

b Mr. GooberaAM: That was suggested by the Indians after I came back last
all,

Mr. MacNicoL: I should like to ask Mr. Lickers what is the complete signi-
ficance of the question he asked, that the Indians had sold some timber for $300
for which the timber operator received $100,000.

The CrarMaN: $20,000. That was the evidence given by Mr. Callihoo, and
I understand that occurred in 1911.

Mr. Gisson: I may say that in British Columbia I have found the Indian
depgrtmental officials very capable in handling the Indian timber when the
Indians decide they are going to sell. A high price is usually secured.

‘Mr. MacNicoL: You would not call that very good, $300 received by the
Indian when the operator received $20,000.

Mr. Gison: Oh well, that was in 1911,

~Mr. Case: It was on a stumpage basis, so it did not seem too bad on that
baS_ls. I know of cases where some of the forests of Ontario were sold about that
period for not very much more.

Mr. MacNicor: I know, but the Indians received only $300.

The CrarMAN: I know, and there are cases in which white Indians, as Mr.

arquhar suggests, got very little more in Ontario.
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Mr. MacNicoL: We are not dealing with them.

The Cuamrman: Neither are we going back as far as 1911 to review all the
affairs of the Indian department.

Mr. CastrepEN: In view of the fact there are large quantities of lumber on
the various reserves, I was wondering whether the department had ever con- |
sidered training the Indians in lumbering. Some group of Indians would have
the capacity to learn this, it seems to me, and it would be a very fine piece of
work if some of these Indians could be trained in the art of logging, lumber cut-
ting and so on. I have seen lads up at Norway House operating a sawmill of
their own—

The CeAlRMAN: Let us get away from expressing opinions and just ask
questions in order that we may expedite the matter.

Mr. Castiepex: Has the department ever considered or undertaken the
training of Indians to enable them to carry on their own lumber operations?

Mr. GooberuAM: I can answer it so far as Alberta is concerned. Last year,
we arranged for at least one band to get a new portable sawmill and they have it
now. A representative of that band was here yesterday. This band is located
in Driftpile ageney in the Lesser Slave Lake country. At the Saddle Lake agency
they have had a sawmill for years, and they are starting it up again. There are
Indians who are sawyers. However, the Indians in the south have not done
much of it because they have not got the wood. There are others which are being
considered at the moment, and there was one operated again this winter.

The CuAmrrMAN: I think Mr. Harkness, Mr. Farquhar, Mr. Gariepy and Mr.
Case as well as the others who were on the commission last fall could give evi-
dence as to what has been done down East, in Quebee, New Brunswick and Nova
Scotia where mills have been established amongst the Indians. They have
opened up timber areas on the Indian reserves and have done very well.

Mr. Case: In cases where they have followed Mr. Gibson’s suggestion and
have secured an overseer while the Indians do the work.

Mr. HarxnEess: I was going to ask if the department has a timber cruiser
among their officials, properly trained in timber operations, who could go out
to this Peigan reserve and possibly get this Indian project under way, and the
cut of that timber organized.

Mr. Hogy: It is my understanding that when the Indian administration
was a department they had such a man, and immediately after my arrival in
1936 we had a man who has since retired. At the present time we are a branch
of a large department and in the department there is a man, not in the Indian
branch but in the dominion forestry branch and we are supposed to consult
them and work with them in matters such as this. We have not, in the Indian
branch, a forestry man. )

Mr. Harkngess: But in the department you have men who are capable of
going out and organizing this timber take?

Mr. Hoey: In the department, yes, but not in the branch. ,

Mr. MacNicon: Did Chief Dan Basque not say that he has such an
organization?

Mr. GmBson: Do you not use the officials of the forestry service on this timber
cruising?

Mr. Hoey: Yes, we have done 50 on a few occasions.

Mr. Hagrness: I do not think you could operate a timber eruising service
from Ottawa. It sounds like a rather expensive thing to me.

The CrmAamrrMAN: Chief Dan Basque has a sawmill down at Restigouche, a

real one. Who is doing all the timber cruising and the development in there?
Is it Isaacs? Yes, George Isaacs.
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Mr. Casr: He is a road builder?

The Cuamman: He is a road builder, a forester, a millwright.

Mr. Lickers: Is he an Indian?

The CuArMAN: Yes, and a very capable one.

Now if there are no more questions I think some of the members would
like us to rise at this time.

Mr. MacNicon: If you will allow me I am going to revert, while Mr.
Gooderham is here, to the question of the election of chiefs—
i tThe CuAIRMAN: There is a question by Mr. Lickers before you get into

at.

Mr. Lickers: It is in connection with the Blackfeet, if Mr. MacNicol

wants to go on— ;

The CuamrMmAN: All right then, Mr. MacNicol.
Mr. MacNicon: That apparently is a grievance.
The Wirness: Of the Peigans?

o Mr. MacNicon: The Peigans, and they are one of the tribes of the Black-
eet,

The Wrrness: Yes.

Mr. MacNicon: That is why I bring it up, evidently the Peigans now want
to elect their chiefs, is that right?

The Wirness: I have nothing concrete to show that the majority have said
$0 but I think they do, and now this certain majority does not favour the present
head chief. ' That is the whole thing right now.

: The CuamrMmaN: Well now, I am sorry gentlemen, although it is not one
o'clock but due to other arrangements that have been made by several of our
embers I do not see how we can very well continue. We will now postpone
urther questions until eleven o’clock tomorrow, when we will meet in this room.

The Committee adjourned at 12.35 p.m. to meet again at 11 o’clock a.m
tomorrow, April 25, 1947.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or CommoNs,
Fripay, 25th April, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.8.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).

Present :

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Macdonald (Cardigan), McKeen
and Taylor.—3.

The House of Commons: The Honourable Mr. Stirling and Messrs. Brown,
Blackmore, Bryce, Case, Castleden, Farquhar, Ga=iépy, Gibson - (Comoz-
Alberni), Harkness, MacLean, MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chair-
man), Raymond (Wright), Reid, Richard (Gloucester).—16.

In attendance: (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Direc-
tor; T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; D. J. Alland and M. MeCrimmon, Reserves
and Trusts; B. F. Neary, M.B.E., Superintendent, Welfare and Training; G.
Armstrong; H. M. Jones, Supervisor, Family Allowances; D. Russell; Major
D. M. MacKay, Commissioner, Indian Affairs, B.C.; G. H. Gooderham, Inspec-
tor, Indian Agencies, Alberta; also Mr. John Callihoo, President, Indian Associa-
tion of ‘ Alberta; also Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the
Committee and Liaison Officer.

By leave of the Committee, Mr. Max Campbell, M.P. (The Battlefords),
put on the record some corrections of the evidence given by him to the
Committee on March 21, last, as reported at page 258.

- Mr. Matthews announced a meeting of the subcommittee on education

- to be held at 5.30 p.m. this day.

- Discussion followed as to procedure and the schedule for future meetings.
It was agreed to hold a closed session on Monday next, April 28, at 11 o’clock
a.m.

The Chairman announced a meeting of the subcommittee on agenda and
Procedure to be held on Monday next at 5.00 p.m.

. Messrs. MacInnes and Gooderham were recalled and questioned by Mr.
Lickers and members of the Committee.

The Committee adjourned at 1.05 o’clock p.m., to meet again on Monday
next, 28th April, at 11 o’clock a.m.
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THE SENATE,
Monpay, 28th April, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons

appointed to continue and coniplete the examination and consideration of the =

Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been
referred to the said Committee, met in closed session this day, at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., Joint Chairman.

Present:

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Johnson, Macdonald (Cardigan),
McKeen.—3.

The House of Commons: The Honourable Mr. Stirling and Messrs. Brown,
Bryce, Case, Castleden, Harkness, Little, MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon)
(Vice-Chairman), Reid, Richard (Gloucester).—10.

In attendance: Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director, Indian Affairs Branch; Major
D. M. MacKay, Commissioner, Indian Affairs, British Columbia; ‘G. H. Gooder-
ham, Inspector, Indian Agencies, Alberta; also Mr. Norman E. Llckers, 5.
Barrlster Counsel for the Committee and Liaison Officer. 2

Mr. Case called to the attention of the Committee a letter he had received
from Magistrate Tucker, Cochrane, Ontario, with regard to grievances of certain
Indians in the Cochrane district. It was agreed to have the matter referred to
the subcommittee on agenda and procedure.

Mr. Case also asked that the subcommittee give consideration to ’ohe f __\-
advisability of hearing in closed session certain officials of the Department of
National Health and Welfare, and it was so agreed.

At 11.15 a.m., the Committee went into closed session for the purpose of .

considering recommendations with regard to certain aspects of the Orders of

Reference.

The Chairman thanked Mr. Gooderham for the valuable assistance he had
rendered the Committee and excused him from further attendance.

The Committee adjourned at 1 o’clock pm to meet again on Thursday,
May 1 next, at 11 o’clock a.m.

© T. L. MecEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Commattee.




MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

Houske or ComMoONs,
April 25, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act, met this day at 11.00 a.m.
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman) presided.

The Cuamrman: Would you come to order gentlemen, please. If it is your
pleasure, Mr. Max Campbell, M.P., would like to make a correction with respect
to the brief which he presented to this committee. Is it your pleasure to hear
Mr. Campbell for a couple of minutes?

Agreed.

Max Campbell, M.P., called:

Mr. CampBeLL: Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee. I made a
mistake in one of the statements I made here in answer to Mr. Reid’s question.

The Cuamrman: What page is that?

Mr. CampeBeELL: Page 258. The question is this.

By Mr. Reid:

Q. You spoke about co-operative farming. Are there any vegetables
being grown or gardens being cultivated there now?—A. Practically none.
There is not a house on any of these reserves that has a place to keep
vegetables in the winter. There is not one that I saw that even had a
cellar of any kind. They do not eat vegetables.

Now I have received a letter from the assistant agent at the Battleford
agency and he informs me that on one of the reserves, the Thunderchild reserve,
they have cellars in the houses. One other correction that I have to make is
this. T said that they did not eat vegetables. I should have said they do not
raise vegetables. They eat them, but generally speaking the Indians do not raise
vegetables. I do not want to mislead the committee and I was asked by the
assistant agent at Battleford to correct the statement.

By Mr. Case:

Q. On these reserves do they have gardens?—A. On my visit I looked very
closely for gardens and I never saw a single one.

Q. Has the agent commented on that?—A. No, he also stated though, on
the Sweet Grass reserve, there was a root cellar. I imagine from what he said
that is a community cellar. The agents themselves may raise vegetables, but
the Indian, generally speaking, I am inclined to think, does not raise vegetables.

Mr. Rem: May I ask this question? Have you any information as to how
they carried on in the earlier years? Did they have gardens then or is it just a
atter of policy now? Did they ever raise vegetables there?

. The Wirness: I do not think so. I know in the fall—I farmed in that
district—and when we had surplus potatoes we often gave the Indians those
botatoes. They liked them all right, but as far as I can find out they do not like
to raise them. They do not like to be bothered.
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Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, with all due respect, I think this should be =
definite. The witness says he does not think so or he does not know about it. =
Is there some way we can find out the answer to that question, whether they have “=
cellars for the storing of vegetables? -

The Wrrnxess: You could find that out by writing to the agent. f_;_

The Caamrman: Well, thank you very much, Mr. Campbell. We appreciate =
your coming to this committee and making the correction. B

Now, Mr. Matthews, I believe you have an announcement you would like to
make in connection with the subcommittee on education. e

Mr. MartaEWS: Yes, the subcommittee on education will meet, if it is agree- =
able, in room 268 at 5.30 p.m. today for a short organization meeting. We will =
not keep members there very'long. "*

The Crarman: Could I give you the names of the members of that com-
mittee: Senator Fallis, Senator Taylor, Mr. Brown, Mr. Brunelle, Mr. Case, =
Mr. Charlton, and Mr. Reid. -

Mr. Case: Messrs. Brunelle and Charlton and Senator Fallis are not here, |
they should be notified. e 1

The CuaRMAN: They will get notice in any event. Mr. Charlton is usually
" here and he may be along later in the morning. >

There is another matter here. On Monday we were to have the Manitoba
Indians. We sent them a notice but they have replied that they are not able to |
be here until after the 28th of May. Now, that being the case, we have some
of the department officials here and it has been suggested that we hold another
closed meeting, for at least part, of the meeting. We could discuss certain mat-
ters of Indian affairs administration off the record for part of the time. I believe
there will be Major McKay from British Columbia,-and some suggestions will
be made. Mr. Gooderham will be here on Monday. Then, if it is your pleasure
we will have a closed meeting on Monday for at least part of the time and then
continue in publie. P

Mr. CastLepEN: Is that the recommendation of the “steering” committee?

The CuamrmaN: No, it has not been referred to the subcommittee on
agenda and procedure.

Mr. CastiepeN: The reason I asked the question is that I would like
to know when the Ontario Indians are to be allowed to appear. What is the
situation there? %

The CuamrMAN: The situation with regard to that is we are anxious to
get rid of the western Indians first. I think the matter should be considered by
the subcommittee to determine what the plan is going to be with respect to
the Ontario and the Quebec Indians. ;

Mr. CastiepEN: Since the Manitoba Indians cannot come, could arrange-
ments not be made to have the Ontario Indians here? o

The Cuairman: Well, the whole question of representation of the Ontario
Indians has to be considered by the subcommittee. I think probably it would
be well if, probably on Monday, the subcommittee on procedure were to meet
to consider further this question of the Ontario and Quebec representation.
You see they are not organized as they are in the western provinces. While
Ontario has the largest Indian population in any of the provinces in Canada,”
they are spread all over various parts of the province and they are not organized
to the same degree as those of British Columbia and the other provinces in the
west. If it is the pleasure of the subcommittee on agenda and procedure
I think we should meet on Monday and notice will be sent out in that connection.

Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, with respect to the question of the meeting
on Monday, in addition to the officials you mentioned, would it not he a good

g
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" idea to have Mr. Hoey available and any other officials, so that we might

complete the business of that meeting at one time?
The Cumairman: That is the plan.
Mr. Case: There are some problems that we should consider.

The CuarMAN: The officials will be here and we are hoping to complete
the departmental presentation on Monday.

Mr. Case: In the closed meeting?

The CuAlRMAN: No, we will have the closed meeting and then go on from
the closed meeting to the open meeting.

Mr. Case: I think sometimes we accomplish more in the closed meetings
and I think it would be well if the officials could speak freely there and inform
this committee. It is most informative to have that done. I think provision
Sl}llould be made to have the closed meeting terminate at the pleasure of the
chair.

The CuammaN: We want to get the departmental presentation finished.
We will have our closed meeting up until whatever time on Monday you
desire and the rest of the time can be devoted to the departmental presentation
ete.

Mr. Rem: May I ask a question? My question is, have you any reports
from the external affairs department as to whether we are likely to hear from
the American representation? We should get a piece of atomic bomb behind
someone or we will be drifting along all year. Surely there cannot be too
much red tape about getting a U.S. representative here.

The CuamrMAN: I can get you an answer to that from Mr. MacInnes.

Mr. FarquuAR: May I just say that when the “steering” committee meets
would it not be well if they would draw up a plan that would cover all the
Indians from Ontario and Quebec or the other provinces, so that you can give
them something definite?

The CuAmrMAN: I can answer that briefly. We have a plan. A plan
has been mapped out but we have not been able to keep to it. The plan was
that the Indians from Alberta should be here on April 21 and 22, from Manitoba
on April 24 and 25, from Saskatchewan on April 28 and 29, and those from
British Columbia on May 1 and 2.

Mr. Farquuar: ‘We were told that those who came from Alberta had very
little time to prepare their brief. Now, by having a plan and letting the
I‘ndians know, they would have more time to get their briefs prepared. I would
like also to ask if, in your plan, you are considering the reserves up in the
Manitoulin district.

The CuairMAN: I might draw to your attention, Mr. Farquhar, this
committee has been going now for over a year. If you will refer to the Alberta
brief you will see that it could not possibly be prepared in a very short time.
It must have taken a considerable time to prepare that brief. They had at least
three months notice of the approximate time that they would be heard and we
gave them warning long before that. When it was decided to hear them
Immediately after Easter, we sent them a telegram.

Mr. CastLepEN: In defence of what Mr. Farquhar says, Mr. Chairman,
I would say there is some truth there. The Alberta Indian Association knew
about the hearing, but the decision as to the actual delegates who would be
heard was not made until recently. I mean the unaffiliated Indians, such as
Chief Yellowfly, had no way of knowing who was to appear until after the
decision was made by this group a couple of weeks ago.
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The CuarrMaN: I think, Mr. Castleden, if you will look at your calendar -
you will see it was more than two weeks ago and Yellowfly’s brief, printed in our
minutes at page 206, is dated November and December, 1946.

Mr. CastLEDEN: As far as he is concerned you made the decision that you
would hear someone from the Imdian Association and some other unaffiliated
Indians, but by the time that decision gets down to him he may not have an
opportunity to prepare his submissions.

The CuamrmaN: We, of course, advised all Indians, all groups of Indians
last year that they would be heard this year.

Mr. CastLEDEN: Are all Indians to be given an opportunity of being heard‘?

The CuamMan: We told them that all Indians would be given an oppor-
tunity to be heard. In fact, all Indians throughout Canada were told that they
would be heard this year. Now as to what representation is to be sent and what
fares paid from the different bands to Ottawa, that decision will not be made
until a little later.

Mr. Farquuaar: Has this notice been sent to the various Indians on the
various reservations?

The CramrMAN: Yes, notice was sent out to the various Indian reserves,
you will note what I said on page 417 “at a later stage in its settled procedure,
the committee will afford a full opportunity to all organizations interested in
Canadian Indians and their welfare, to make representations to the committee
at a date and place which will be notified in good time to all concerned”.

Mr. CastrepEN: All organizations.

The CrarMaN: Do you not consider an Indian band an organization?

: Mr. CastrepEN: Is each Indian band to be given an opportunity of being
eard?

The CuHamrMAN: Any Indian band that wants to come here at their own
expense will be heard.

Mr. CasTLEpEN: But many of them have not the money to come.
The CrAmrRMAN: They all got letters, to which we have had many briefs sent
in, all of which have been printed as appendlces to the minutes.

Mr. MaclInnes, would you like to answer the other matter about the Ameri-
can representation?

Mr. MacInnes: Mr. Chairman, the position in so far as our department is
concerned, is that following consultations with the officials of the committee the
suggestlon has been conveyed by the right honourable secretary for External
Affairs to the United States Government, through the Canadian Embassy in
Washington, that Monday, May 12, would be a suitable date, and it is assumed
that suggestion will be transmitted to the office of Indian Affairs which is part
of the Department of the Interior of the United States. I do not know if request
has actually reached the US. Indian office as yet. I might say, for your informa-
tion, that quite informally I have had occasion to discuss matters recently, in
Washington and previously in Chicago, with officials of the Indian Affairs branch
there. The commissioner is ill at the present time and will not be available, but
the assistant commissioner would be quite willing to come here.

The Cuarrman: Well, Mr. Maclnnes, is it correct to assume that May 12
is the probable date of the American presentation.

Mr. MacINNES: Yes, I think it is probable that Mr. William Zimmerman,
Jr., assistant commissioner of Indian Affairs in the United States, or someone
representing him, will be here on or about May 12. That is as far as T know.

Mr. Rem: Personally, I am very pleased to hear that. I think it would be
all to the good if the assistant commissioner would come instead of the commis-
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sioner. I understand the present commissioner has not been so very long with
the department whereas the assistant commissioner has been there sometime
and is the man who has more information than anyone in the department of
Il{dian Affairs in the United States. I think it is most important for the com-
mittee to have a representation from the United States because our Indians
are going back and forth across the line and we should see how the problem is
being conducted down there.

.. The CuarmaN: If there is no further discussion on that matter we
Wwill proceed with Mr. MacInnes and Mr. Gooderham. Are there any questions
to be asked of them?

Mr. Lickers: Yes, I have some questions.
The CuamrMan: All right.

George H. Gooderham, called:

By Mr. Lickers:

Q. Now, Mr. Gooderham in connection with the Blackfoot Indians, what is
the acreage there on that reverse?-—A. About 178,000 acres.

Q. How much of that is under cultivation?—A. Around 40,000, between .
30,000 and 40,000 acres.

Q. And is any of the land under cultivation leased?—A. Yes there are
12,160 acres under lease at the moment, farm lease.

Q. To how many people is that land leased?—A. I would imagine about a
dozen, T cannot give you exact figures.

Q. About a dozen?—A. Yes, they are large dry land leases, mostly dry land
leases. There are some irrigation leases however.

Q. So that over 10,000 acres are leased to about a dozen white people?
—A. correct. :

Q. And the balance under cultivation is worked by the Indians themselves?
—A. Yes, or on behalf of the Indians as a tribal unit, that is large areas are used

or growing feed for band cattle by local arrangement, that is band arrangement.
... Q. My information is there are about 128 Indians on that reserve who are
tilling about 11,000 acres?—A. That is correct.

Q. And then you have 12 white people tilling about 10,500?—A. Yes.

Q. My information is also that the department has informed the band not
to till any more land?—A. I do not think you are quite correct. There is a large
acreage already broken or under cultivation on the reserve and it has been our
€Xperience in the past, that as drought seasons arrive, depressed prices follow
and some of this land is abandoned. A good deal of the prairie land has been

roken up when it would have been better if it had been left under grass as it
Would have been of value to the Indians themselves. The suggestion was made
that they should not break up more land on their small holdings, or that very
little more land should be broken but they should utilize the land already under
cultivation.

Q. My understanding is also that at the present time some 60 Indians
hﬂ:Ve applied for acreage?—A. That sounds very much larger than it should. I
think it is a smaller number than that. You will always have a number of

~ applicants who have not proven themselves, in the past, as good farmers. They

are not, given first consideration. The younger men, who number possibly less
than half the applicants, 20 to 25, should be given an opportunity to start farming.

Q. Is the department making any provision this year to give those 20 to 25
an opportunity to farm?—A. We hope that it will be possible to start them by
aking over some of those leased lands. ,
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Q. There is provision in the leases to do that?>—A. No, sir, but at t
moment it is under consideration. The officials at Ottawa, realizing this area
of leased land has been producing a very large revenue, want to go carefully.
For example, these leases that you have mentioned earned those Indians over
$200,000 in rentals in the past six years. The officials are just wonderin,
whether it would be wise to take away those earnings and turn the land over to
these Indian boys. ]

Q. Well, as far as the Blackfeet are concerned it is not a question of money;
is it?—A. No.

Q. It is not for the purpose of providing funds for them?—A. Well, m
understanding is the Blackfeet do not want any more money. They do not ne
any more money. They want a better man. We have got to the point where
want to improve the man and not the capltal

Q. Well why then would you not give these young chaps, who have applied
for land, an opportunity to work that land?—A. From a recent meeting I had
with them I gather it is the wish of the band. It is the desire that gradual
these leases should be eliminated and the land turned over to the younger me
whom they may recommend as possibly good farmers, and to those others who
wish to expand and to become independent entities. Then a man who wants to
expand can get out independently. You see on the Blackfoot reserve a conditi
has been created where we have set up a state which is self-supporting. After
all you have got a thousand people who do not have to work to make a living; =
and a very comfortable living it is at that. The younger generation come in
and they are losing all that sense of responsibility, of independence, and those
things which go to make up a man. We feel we must throw out an inducement
to anybody who will expand and show that their condition in life can be 1mproved
as an individual. We would like to see that. ;

Q. Are they not showing that by making this application?—A. T think s0,
sir. The department’s position is, there is a very large revenue there that they
do not think we should lose entirely and it is my recommendation, and has been
my recommendation to the department that we start to reduce the leased acreage
and turn it over to these people gradually. Not in one block, but gradually-
There is a splendid principle involved but the application may not work out a
practically as it would appear to in theory.

Q. Is the department going to start that this year?—A. Pardon? i

Q. Is the department going to start that this year?—A. I am not in &
position to say. It is my recommendation, however, sir. At the present time
Mr. D. J. Allan, our superintendent of reserves and trusts is here. He is going
out to the west I believe, and I hope the Indians and their agents and thei
inspectors can satisfy him that a move in that direction is a good one and not
a move to their disadvantage.

Q. Now, I believe you gave in your evidence also that as far as the Black-
feet Indians were concerned that your father was the Indian agent there and you
succeeded him before you were appointed the inspector for the provmce?—-‘
A. Yes sir, we were there thirty-nine years.

Q. Now has there been much improvement on that reserve in the last
twenty-five years‘?—A They had the same situation as any other reserve in
1907. In 1912, by means of this sale, farming was started and the Indians
throughout the 1914 war, and after that war, operated with horses on those
units that they now have, 40 to 150 acres, and did remarkably well with th
relatively high prices. In the 30’s the prices fell and drought conditions creat
soil drifting. Horse-drawn implements became more or less obsolete in t
drought country and just before the present war, in 1938 and 1939 power farm-
ing was started, and, as you gentlemen will realize, you cannot operate a power
unit, a large power unit, on very small acreage. It requires a bigger acreage t0
justify its existence. As a result farming on this reserve is done mostly by lar
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band farm units, power units, and it leaves the small farmer more or less a
dividend drawer at the end of the season and that is a bad feature. Small farms
are practically a thing of the past with the Indians to-day and it is becoming
more and more apparent throughout the west and the whole of the country.
t is a new problem, a new condition.

Q. Is everything on that reserve more or less undertaken as a tribal project?
—A. Practically. There are a few independents but everything is practically a
Subsidy affair. We are trying to break away from that by taking certain of
those Indians away and putting them into these other areas in an attempt to
make them absolutely independent. They have, of course, to qualify financially
and in all other respects.

Q. I was just thinking that if everything is under tribal management, how,
for instance, would a veteran get his re-establishment credit?—A. He can get it.
As a veteran he is located on a certain parcel of land by the band council. The
})andd council just meets and they say this man will be given a certain piece of
and.

Q. They have no such thing as a location ticket?—A. No, there are no
location tickets. It is purely a tribal arrangement. The majority state that
the man will have the use of a certain quarter section or half section so long
as he farms properly and behaves himself. It is recognized as his property.

Q. If he makes improvements on that land what happens in connection with
Succession.—A. If he makes improvements those improvements acerue to some-
bOd)CI1 else when they take over and in some instances they are purchased by the

and.

Q. Can he will it to the reserve?—A. Yes, as improvements, if he wishes.

It may be of interest to you as a committee to know all the buildings on that
reserve, or practically all the buildings on that reserve are the property of the
band. Practically every farm has a set of buildings on it to the value of about
$3,000. I would say they would be worth more than that today. They have
$500,000 tied up in band buildings; from the community hall, the hospital,
down to small houses, one, two, four-roomed houses, barns, ete.
. Q. What would be the percentage of illiteracy on that reserve?—A. Illiteracy
18 a very difficult thing to define. For many years the only children who have not
attended school from the age of seven to sixteen have been those who were
Physically and mentally unfit for schooling. I can think back for thirty years
and the only ones who do not attend are those who are physically and mentally
unfit for education.

. Q. How much education do they get?—A. They have been attending the
residential schools for the most part until recent years but now a few have been
attending technical schools, agricultural colleges and high schools. Only a few
do that of course. It might also be interesting to know that one per cent of the
band’s income is set aside each year for higher education.

Q. Ts that used every year?—A. No, but it is available there and is left to

e council to bring up the name of any student who wishes to have further
education. It is also left to the agent to bring names before the council. As
Chief Yellowfly said in his evidence there is rarely anybody who wants to go on
to further education who has been refused.

Q. How does the standard of living on that reserve compare with the sur-
rounding white community ?—A. Well, I think—I know that in the depression
times they felt very sorry for the whites—they had a very high standard of
Iving. You must remember that when every man, woman and child gets
beef and flour and tea and special rations, plus a per capita distribution of his

‘Imcome, and clothing and his house when he is married, he has not only a home
but a standard of living above the average Canadian family—especially in
tough times.
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- By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Then it is one community in which people have more or less complete
social security and all the things we are talking about now?—A. Yes, it is =
unique. We thought we did something in giving these Indians food, clothing, =
shelter and education and the wherewithal that we all require, but we have now |
come to the point—it is remarkable in all these years that they did produce—and
I have our records to show that the per eapita production among that thousand
people was as high as any in Canada among the Indians; but we have now arrived  f
at the point where we have the newer generation coming up who have seen
nothing else but security, so much security that they have no initiative, and
that is what we want to build up. We want to create in the minds of these young
men a desire for a higher standard of living. In fact, it is our instructions that
if the Indian wants to buy an aeroplane to fly for goodness sakes say, “Yes; go g
out and we will give you every support we possibly can so you can create an
income to buy that”. We encourage that desire for a higher standard of living |
that we are now facing. How are we going to create that desire? In fact, that «
is a very large angle with the Indian everywhere.. Take a house. If the Indian |
does not desire anything but a small two-room house he is not going to improve,is |
he? And there is no use putting another room on the side because that will
likely be a dumping ground for him. You first have to create that desire for — f
something greater than you have, and that is what we are trying to do. We |
start larger units to stimulate that desire. If a mdn can make $5,000 a year |
he can improve his condition and get these things which are extremely luxurious ;
today but which in five years will become a necessity.

Q. Will you say from your experience, as far as that reserve is concerned,
that it is mainly a question of education?—A. You mean from the classroom
point of view?

Q. No.—A. Broad education, yes; but it is not even confined to the class-
room; it is education of an Indian agent’s office, from Ottawa and from
everywhere.

Q. Is that program underway?—A. Well, T am hoping it will be underway.
That is what I am recommending, sir. The Indians are very much in favour
of it. We feel they have now sufficient capital, and even if they gradually lose
this income of $30,000 or $40,000 a year eventually from this leased land it i§
better to turn it into men than into cash. 165

Q. Take in Alberta as a whole, I was wondering as to whether there is any
dissension among the Indians as far as their election of council is concerned,
and things like that?—A. There is and there is not. As Mr. Callihoo said yester-
day, the Indians want to have more local autonomy in the election of council.
I think they all want the elective system so they can decide who is going to be
their council.

Q. That is all T have to ask.

By Mr. Matthews:

Q. As I see it, the Indian after all has a good deal in common with the
white man as far as social security and manhood are not developed—A. Very
definitely, sir. I think the lower down the scale you go the more definite it is.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Do you not say that poverty and the lack of opportunity to develop their
initiative is destructive?—A. Similarly, they are both extremes.

Q. And you think that is what you have?—A. We have the two extremes.

Q. That is right.—A. Now, we are drivihg ahead with this movement. This
is a real socialistic problem.
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The CuarrmaN: What is your pleasure; that we go clockwise around the
table?

Mr. Harkness: I have no questions to ask.

By Hon. Mr. Stirling:

Q. I gathered that there are some 140,000 acres of range land and they are
not cultivated ?—A. That is right, sir.

Q. What is the condition of that 140,000 acres, is it largely range and a little

timber?—A. Almost entirely range. That is in southern Alberta where there is
very little woodland except along the rivers; and they run in that area some
6,000 head of stock—6,000 or 7,000 head of horses and cattle.

Q. Is any of that range land leased?—A. No, sir. There are two or three
small parcels of a half section or a quarter section adjoining irrigated lands
that are leased. That is all. I do not think it amounts to a section of land all
told. I do not favour grazing leases on Indian reserves.

Q. These leased lands for cultivation do not have attached to them pieces
of range land on which to run stock?—A. No, sir. I think I should explain that
this so-called leased agricultural land is a legacy directly from the last war
When the greater production farms were started and when the greater production
Was such that the Indians just could not take all of it. The Blackfeet took over
one production farm of 2,500 acres and that was too little at that time. There
Was no alternative but to lease these greater production lands until such time as
the Indians were capable of taking them over themselves. That time we think

as arrived, and our leases are so made that they can be cancelled in any
One year. As the Indians absorb the land the lessee will be removed.

Q. You spoke of the fact that we are moving into an era of larger agri-
cultural lands with motor cultivation and yet you speak of returned men having
allocated to them by the tribes certain areas which obviously must be small
In comparison.—A. They have so far been sufficiently large to satisfy these
returned men.

Q. What would you call large?—A. Sufficiently large to satisfy them—a half
section. The V.L.A. through our own department have looked after them very
well, and they are starting out in every instance with power machinery and
cattle and with the combination of the two they should do very well.

By Mr. MacNicol:

Q. I have a few questions to ask. Do they do any small manufacturing of
any kind?—A. No, sir. They mine coal, and in connection with that they have
the usual blacksmith work.

Q. They do not make any small machinery?—A. No, sir.

Q. Are they instructed or encouraged to do small manufacturing?—A. No,
SIr, not, really there. I haven't tried to.

Q. There seems to be a good deal of loose manpower and womanpower
that could be used—A. We are using these men on the repairing of machinery.

or example, Chief Yellowfly attended an agricultural school. We send boys

~ to the technical school at various times to study machine operation—tractor

and diesel. We often send girls to those schools. We have a girl in the United
tates at the present time as a seamstress. She went through the technical

school. ‘That is the sort of thing that we develop in manufacturing.

Q. Have any of the Indians motor cars?—A. Yes, they have them, not
S0 many now as prior to the war. They could not get them. They buy a lot of
Secondhand cars.

Q. Are they able to repair the cars themselves?—A. Some of them are very
80od. They have men there who are quite good mechanics.
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Q. It is a very old reservation. Have you many roads?—A. We have good 3
roads. We have a building program from year to year. The Indians put aboub
75 per cent of their income each year—is plowed back into improvements fo
services such as roads and hospitalization.

Q. The reserve is on both sides of the Bow River, is it not?—A. Yes.

Q. It is south of the Bow River. Do they do irrigation?—A. Yes. g

Q. Are they doing it themselves?—A. There is a 5,000 acre area of irriga=
tion that was started in 1938, and of that acreage about, 1,000 is operated by
the Indians. We have an Indian irrigation colony; we are extemdmg that.

Q. What do they usually produce on the irrigated land?—A. Alfalfa, oal
and barley.

Q. Do they produce sugar beets?—=~A. Not there, sir, because we are t00
far from the market in the first place. i

Q. What program is followed to induce them to take pride in their ancestry
and history?—A. These people are very proud—I do not believe there are an
Indians in Canada who are more proud to display their ancestry than are thi
Blackfeet.

Q. There have been for many generations Cree Indians south of the line?—
A. They are that sort of people; they went back and forth.

Q. The Peigans and the Bloods were their allies. Do they mtermarry?—-‘ ]
A. There is quite a bit of intermarriage. They are all of the same blood. The
Blackfeet Indians of America comprise those on the three reserves in Canad
and one in Montana.

Q. Do they mix much with the Plain Crees?—A. They are mterma,rrymg,
and mixing more and more.

Q. I think it is important that they should have a pride in their ancestry an
history—A. They have a very great pride. We expect to get a moving pictur
of the signing of the treaty in which the Indians took a big part, I believe.

(). Are they encouraged to participate in sports?—A. They are fond o
sports. In the coal mining area we had a team that toured the country and ou
schools have hockey teams. In the summer they do not do much. They d
play some baseball, but they would rather have a good horse-race than anythin
else. I might mention that Yellowfly’s boy was killed in Italy and he was on
of the outstanding athletes in his community.

Q. Are they encouraged in Indian crafts?—A. Yes, they have kept them
alive, but during the war it was very difficult to get the bead and buckskin a
they do not have the skin. They have to buy it. They make some beautifu
stuff and during the war sold considerable of it considering that they had to bu
the raw material. The craft is kept up by the pride of the Indian in his craf
and we are trying through our institutions to keep that alive.

Q. Do they raise any furs?—A. Pardon, sir?

Q. Do they raise any furs?—A. No, well ves. We have an area where ther
are muskrat, and we try to control them on a certain lake. There are also a fe
beaver on the Bow river and we do not allow them to be depleted.

By Mr. Matthews:

Q. I was going to ask, Mr. Chairman, if anything has ever been tried out m
the way of fairs?—A. Yes school fairs. We have not as yet developed a large
fair but the school fairs were very successful, even with the whites in the
district. At the present time the Indians put on a stampede. Last year the
stampede had 6,000 people there, and everything was run on a very high order‘
with loud speaker systems and so on.
- Q. Do these fairs include livestock?—A. No, sir, they have not done tha’tr.
but we are hoping we can develop it. -

The CuamrmaN: What is a stampede? Can you tell us please? Some of u -
easterners do not understand what you mean by a stampede.
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Mr. Bryce: Go west young man, go west.

The CuamMaN: I am quite willing.

The Wirness: Well, there is this wonderful stampede at Calgary that
these boys participate in to a large extent. They participate in many of the
contests. Those are riding bucking horses, doing chariot races, riding steers, or
decorating them as they call it, running Roman races and flat races.

Mr. Case: Riding bucking steers as well.

The CramMan: Do they have any exhibits of workmanship?

The Wirness: This oceurs all over the province. It is not confined to the
Blackfeet. All these reserves have their stampedes which cause a little bit of
headache to the average Indian agent. At our Calgary and Edmonton exhibi-
tlons we have wonderful displays of school work, Indian crafts, and so on, and
We are now adding grain and canning and what not. In the case of the Calgary
and Edmonton fairs it is a matter of a whole week at each place. We hope that
anybody who comes out to the west will go and see our fairs.

By Mr. Matthews:

Q. Please do not forget Brandon. We also have a fair—A. Yes, and a very
éxcellent one.

Q. How many motor cars would you say they have on that reserve?—A. 15
or 20, they had more at one time but they have been worn out.

Q. What I was leading to was this, for quite a number of years there has
been a cultivation of the mechanical ability of the Indian. After they get that
education what becomes of them? Do they try to get into any line of business
for themselves?—A. In some' instances they do get work elsewhere but it has

een more difficult for an Indian to get placement in such work if there are whites
available.

Q. He has not tried to start up in business for himself?—A. One Indian I

know was one of the chief artificers for the Canadian artillery. He is living

0w on the Blackfoot reserve. He is an expert with guns, large guns.

By Mr. Reid:

Q. I have one or two questions to ask. What garden products are grown?
—A. Not very many Mr. Reid, that is in the southern part. :

Q. Why?—A. The drought. It is very difficult. I myself gave it up because

could not get my seed back and it is very discouraging. The department has
for years made every effort to endeavour to inerease that activity and each year
there are prizes given on the reserve. The reserves in northern Alberta however,

Ichel, the Edmonton agency and such places have wonderful gardens.

Q. How far, in the case of the Blackfoot Indians, are they away from the
BOV_V river and could that river be utilized to irrigate?—A. We are irrigating in
One area but you see you are dealing with a very large area and their homes are
on dry land. We started in with the idea of producing such roots and legumes
that we need and that we thought we could grow on dry land.

Q. I have one other question to ask while you are on the stand but I just

- Want to make this remark first, Mr. Chairman. This committee has been listen-

g here to what I would say is one of the finest examples of a beneficent
dlctatorship that we could have. Here we have a reserve with $2,000,000 where
money is not desirable any more. These people have all the money they want
and 60 Indians are applying to work their own land. We are told this morning

that the department is just considering. Well, I realize that Indian lands were

leased when the Indians did not want to work them but here you have a case
Concerning their lands, where the Indians want to use their own land for agri-
Cultural purposes. The department is apparently thinking in terms of money.
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In heaven’s name, how much more money do they want? They have control ==
of $2,000,000 of these people’s money and the country is paying 5 per cent Sf
on it. T am going to raise that question before I get through, but I wish to "%
ask Mr. Gooderham who makes the final decision when the Indians apply
for their leases? Does the final decision rest with him or with what officials?
Does it go to Ottawa? I think it is a terrible thing to state that Indians on their
own lands cannot get leases. I do not know, I am far away from the place con- =
cerned. I am just sitting here as a member of a committee and listening.—A. It
may sound worse than it is. The final decision is of course made by our director
at Ottawa.

Q. In making the decision—I presume you send some information to him?
—A. Yes, sir. L

Q. You send a recommendation or no recomimendation?—A. I try to recom-
mend one way or another.

Q. And how do you recommend?—A. I recommend that the Indians be
allowed to farm this land but not all at once. I would start the thing right away
but. I would recommend certain applications be accepted right now. g

Q. You do not have to consider the money, you have to consider the mode
of life and the question of occupying them usefully so why do you hesitate?—A.
I am not hesitating. ;

Q. Well, T will have to ask Mr. Hoey why the department would turn it
down. It seems to me to be one of the most important things that has come up
this morning.

Mr. Hoey: That matter has just arisen lately Mr. Reid. The land is land |
that has not been cultivated by the Indians and they have not, until recently,
expressed a desire to cultivate it. In the last three or four years I have taken
a keener interest because of my position. They show more and more tendency
to go in for group farming and to purchase power machinery and operate as units.
It was a great source of revenue, the leasing of the land. The request came in
quite recently, within the last few weeks, and I would say I did exactly what
Mr. Reid would have done. What I mean by that is this. The head of the divi-
sion responsible came up and discussed it with me and we are working under
a very keen sense of responsibility. We are not going to throw away a couple
of hundred thousand dollars of revenue without an investigation. I think the
superintendent of reserves and trusts has on at least four distinct and separate
occasions gone into that matter with me fully and in detail. I feel, as each
member of the committee would have felt, that we would like to have a look ab
these men. Look at them and talk to them. First, has he any real intention of
going in for farming as an individual? Is it his intention to stay with it? Is
he going to get discouraged? : )

As a result, the head of the service will accompany Mr. Gooderham to
Alberta. He will meet the agent, meet the Indians, look at them, and discuss
the matter very fully and very thoroughly and then decide on the program.
Now I think that is not an unreasonable attitude to take in view of the
revenue involved. Do not get the idea, please, that the Indians have been
pressing for this for years. The matter has come to my attention only in the
last few weeks. As far as I am concerned this is the first time that I have
ever had the idea they wanted to go in for farming as individuals.

By Hon. Mr. McKeen:

Q. I think one question that should be cleared up here is how many acres
have these 60 applicants applied for?—A. I could not answer that question, all
I know is they want a farm. b |

Q. I was thinking that you might deal with these sixty persons without
seriously interfering with your $200,000.—A. Yes you could sir, because it i8
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" quite probable that the council might turn down a goodly proportion of those
- a8 being unsuitable.
Q. Have you any agency there set up for selling their products or any of
‘their craft work that they might be selling? Is there anything that might
elp them, for instance purchasing the raw material? You might be able
~ 10 buy in larger quantities?—A. The craft work is such a small thing it has
been worked through the Indian agent office, but there are also the schools.
I recollect that during the war one school derived a revenue of about $2,000
th;‘ough the women who secured material from certain novelty shops and
this material was made up but there is not much of that done in that fashion.
It is done usually through the agency office. ,
: Q. Well does the making of this produce raise the morale? Does it give
= them a pride?—A. Not an awful lot today. You must remember these people
do not require the funds. This is only extra pocket money so to speak. They
have to bring the raw material, in the case of this particular reserve, from
outside and they bring it altogether and after it is all through there is not
Vlery much left and for them it is just a past time, a hobby more than anything
* “else,

~ Mr. Farquuar: Well if I might just say I think a great deal of this
_dlscus'sion is very interesting but I have been wondering whether much of it
- 18 going to be of very great help to us in revising the Act.
- What I would like to know is this? Mr. Gooderham has spent all his
- life working amongst the Indians. Knowing the policies of the department as
~ he does, is he in a position where he could make suggestions to us that we
~tould consider in connection with revising the Indian Act; suggestions which
Would be beneficial to the Indians. I would like to hear some discussion or
- Suggestions of that nature. That sort of thing would be helpful to us when
- We are considering and endeavouring to revise the Indian Act as we are trying
- %o do. I think that would be much more beneficial to the committee than a
. 8reat deal of the discussion that is going on in connection with the history of
the Indians and many of the details regarding the work that is being carried
out on the reserves. I would like to hear something more along that line from
g g:e officials of the department, something that would be useful towards revising
. the Act. :
The Cmamrman: Have you any suggestions: Mr. Gooderham that you
.~ Would like to give now? _
- .The Wrrnnss: It is very difficult because you get so close to the work
over a period of years and you have so many things on your mind. I eould
consider it until Monday and give something to you at that time.
Mr. Case: Mr. Chairman, I understood the department officials would
Prepare something in the nature of a brief on their suggestions?
.. The CuammaN: Senator McKeen is chairman of the subcommittee which
- Wil be getting under way very shortly. The department has some suggestions,
believe, for the revision of the Act and they wish to place before the subcom-
- Mittee those suggestions for consideration.

G

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. There are a number of questions I would like to ask. The Indians
~ Somplain about their rations, what is your experience with regard to that?

- Do you think the rations are adequate?—A. The rations that have been issued
- Were more or less created in the early days before we knew about vitamin
- Content., It was more a subsistence ration than anything else. I believe that
~ the time has arrived when a more varied ration should be given that will
- Meet their physical requirements. If you take it from an actual survival point
87965—2




744 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

then you could say that twenty- -four pounds of flour will make a lot of bread =
and six pounds of rolled oats will last a long time and so on, but it is diversi-
fication that is most important. A

Q. In the distribution of this ration do you find the ration depends in any =
way upon band funds?—A. Not necessarily, no. Band funds are employed only .
when they are sufficient and if there are not sufficient band funds as I understand
it—this really should be answered by an Ottawa official—there is a welfare fund
which supplies rations.

Q. But in all cases and on all reserves there is a certain standard ration
given?—A. Yes sir, the Indians can and are now augmenting that ration. They =
are augmenting it for certain of the old people from their band funds. They do =
that on certain reserves. '

Q. From the discussion this morning one might imagine we are dealing with
people who do not need money. That applies to only one band but there are
Indians on some reserves whose conditions is far from the condition of those
people under discussion—A. Yes, there are Indians in certain sections in the
south who have very high incomes, some of them $10,000 to $15,000 a year.

Q. Are there Indians on other reserves who are able to afford automobiles? g |

—A. Yes sir, a number, much more so than the Blackfeet.
Q. Is that general"—A No, that is not general, but I am talking about ‘the
large area farmers. '

Mr. Gissox: Can we get on the record that figure that he spoke of, what 3
was the sum you mentioned that some of them made? ;

The Wirness: Well there are some of the Blood Indians who will make
as high as $15,000 a year. Those are very rare of course.

Mr. CastreEpEN: And what about malnutrition?

Mr. Rem: I would ask Mr. Castleden this question in dealing with the word '
malnutrition—I wish to make my opinion clear, that malnutrition is not neces-

sarily a lack of food. Is he speaking of malnutrition in the same sense. You =

can give Indians too much white flour and too much of this and that and it

amounts to malnutrition. I would ask Mr. Castleden if his idea is the same as

mine.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q. Yes. I noticed in the Indian brief that was presented, on page 22. They

- say malnutrition is so prevalent that it has a direct bearing on the high infant
mortality rate among the treaty Indians. The survey reported in the Canadian

Medical Jowrnal of March, 1946, and reported to the joint committee of the

senate and the House of Commons by the Honourable Brooke Claxton, in number |

3 of the minutes of proceedings and evidence as appendix F, should show sub-
stantially the need of the Indian and the effects of malnutrition”. T would ask"
the witness if he found that in Alberta——A. Yes, you will find it, among even
the wealthiest bands because of the inability of the parents to properly feed the
children either because of lack of knowledge or lack of the right type of food.

Q. We find that even amongst white people?—A. Yes.

Q. Now you have given one end of the income scale but how about Indians
in some of those reserves and agencies in the north, what is their annual income?
—A. Well I can tell you in some cases it is very low, at certain times. The
income in the north, however, has been high, much higher during the latter years
owing to the high prices of furs and good wages.

Q. What would you say was the lowest income?—A. I am not prepared to
answer, I could not answer that question.

Q. Some of them would not be receiving as much as $400 a year in the
family?—A. Very possibly.
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Q. I noticed with regard to housing the Peigan reserves stated in the brief
that twenty-five families had no housing at all and that they are financially
unable to build those houses themselves—A. That is possible. Yesterday
we talked about the timber limit. The idea is to organize that timber limit to
create material for their use. It is my purpose to see the director of Forestry
and I hope to get cooperation from that branch in order to work out a solution

for the development of that timber limit for the Indians. Their reserve is out on

the plains where they have not got wood.

Q. What about the need for wells?—A. Wells are a tremendous problem. In
certain areas it is very difficult to get water. We drill shallow and deeper wells
but water is a problem, a very great problem. We are doing our very best at the
present time to locate central wells if not more numerous wells.

Q. At whose expense would this be?—A. The band’s usually. And in many
instances during this past winter, bands have voted certain of their funds for the
drilling of wells. Where that is not possible the department, through the welfare
fund, votes raoney and supports them. :

Mzr. Rem: How deep do they have to go?

The Wirness: It varies, sir. You get a shallow well thirty or forty feet but
may get a very constant flow. Then you get down two hundred feet and perhaps

“ you get a small flow. It is a very big problem. We are getting dams as you
know and we are damming the water, keeping it where we can conserve it, run

it off, and if necessary sterilize it. Unfortunately in many years gone by cer-
tain farming areas were set out on reserves without first considering the water

~ Supply, rather putting the cart before the horse.

Hon. Mr. StirLinGg: Do you find successful water diviners amongst the
Indians?

The WrrNess: I do not know that we do. I think that idea came from the
white man.

Mzr. Lickers: No, that is an Indian invention.

Hon. Mr. StiruinG: It began with the Indian.

Mr. Lickers: Yes, and it works too.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. Returning to the medical services of the Indians on the Hobbema reserve,
the band, in their brief, complained about the lack of medieal facilities and I
believe that is very important.—A. A great endeavour is being made to increase
the medical services. At Hobbema there has been for many years a resident
nurse with a nursing station. Unfortunately there is no nearby hospital and the
patient. had to be taken to Wetaskiwin or at present to the Charles Camsell
hospital at Edmonton.

Q. And how far away is that?—A. About sixty miles on the highway.
Westaskiwin is a much shorter distance.

Q. How far is Westaskiwin?—A. Well it varies, it depends on what part of
the reserve you are at. It will run anything from twelve to forty or fifty miles
according to where the Indians are living.

Q. An Indian, if he is sick, has to come from the reserve to the hospital >—A.
Not necessarily, the nurse has a car and she drives out and she will pick up a
patient as will the agent and they take them into the nursing station or, if
necessary, into the hospital. I understand that it is the policy of the Indian
hospitalization service of the Department—I do not know what you call it—

The CuamrMAN: National Health and Welfare.

The Wirxess: The Department of National Health and Welfare is trying
very, very hard to get personnel, doctors and nurses as well as hospitals, but all
of those are very hard to secure.

87965—2% ¢
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By Mr. Castleden: 8

Q. The condition of the roads must present considerable (Mﬁlmllt\ —A. You§
have mentioned something now. Here is the stand taken by the Indians in that S
reserve. They do not want a survey but we very keenly want a survey in order =8
that we may evolve some method of improving road conditions. We cannot do '
very much unless we have a surv ey and the Indlana are fighting that. o -

Q. Do you not think. the co-operation of the band could be obtained if it was =
pointed out to them it was for the purpose of improving road facilities in order
to be of assistance to them?—A. It is to be hoped so, but in this pmtmular
reserve 1 held two meetings for that very purpose and I have not yet received =
their support.

Q. The Indian support?—A. The older men object. :

Q. To the building of roads?>—A. To the building of roads. You ecan build
trails but built up trails are very unsatisfactory. B

Q. I notice from Paul’s band report that there is a lotof development to be
done on their reserve and they mention a fur project, additional agricultural S
land to be developed, and they want timber development there to be done by the 3
band—A. Yes, that is quite true. They are now developing very rapidly on a =
self-sustaining baala, mostly by band lands. That is agricultur ally. With regard
to fur, the fur supervisor of the province has investigated the possibility of = =%
estabhs}ung colonies of certain fur-bearing animals. B

Q. There was some timber development?—A. Last year the Indians got out ‘.;~
a large quantity of logs. T think that has turned out to be about 150,000 feet of
lumber so far. It is a hired outfit of which a large part of the crew are Indians. =
Q. The Indians at Sucker Creek maintain that most of the Indians in their =
band are experienced loggers, mill-men and competent to operate—A. Yes, and =
they have been supplied with a portable sawmill.

Q. That came out the other day.—A. Yes, and they will be milling there
shortly if they are not right now.

Q. Those Indians also opposed very strenuously the policy requiring the
Indians to surrender timber limits to white operators?—A. They are not bemg‘
asked to do that now. <8

Q. On any reserve in Alberta?—A. There was the question which came up
yesterday, but the Indians had not surrendered it.

The CrarMaN: Just a moment, if there are any more questions to be asked
of Mr. MacInnes by any member of the committee, could that be done now, as
Mr. MacInnes has to leave. It is 12.30 now and the committee will rise at one.
Mr. MacInnes has to leave within the next fifteen minutes, so, with your per-
mission, any questions should be put to him at this point.

Mr. Case: He could return for questioning?

T}}e Cuairman: Yes, he could come back any time within reason. We -
appreciate your coming here, Mr. MacInnes, and you may be excused now. o

By Mr. Castleden.:

Q. The other complaint concerns the Alexis band, who complain that at .‘
one time, they were in a much better position than they are today. Some land
was cleared for eultivation which has now gone back to brush.” What would
you say was the cause for such deterioration?—A. I do not know the past his-
tory of that.section, I do not know the reserve. I understand it is a very poor
farming locality and that the white farmers in that area are not making a
success.

I wish to say, that at the Alexis reserve, the Indian Affairs Branch and
the Department of Mines and Resources very recently purchased a nice central 3
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reserve better than we have been able to do before. There was no centre for
administration. Finally, within the last two or three weeks, we located a
_ building. We can now look after the wants of these people. They are mostly
trapping Indians.

By Mr. Gariepy:

Q. Where is the centre located?—A. It is right on the railroad, right at the
edge of the reserve. It was at that point the Indians wanted us to locate it.
; Q. Would you mention one of the nearest cities?—A. Edmonton is one of
~ the nearest cities and Glenevis is the nearest town. It is at the point the Indians
.~ wanted us to locate this building.
= Q. How many miles from Edmonton, roughly?—A. I think Mr. Callihoo
. could answer that. How far is Glenevis from Edmonton?

Mr. Carraroo: I do not know exactly but I think it is about 45 miles.

The Wirness: I may say that it was at the request of Mr. Callihoo this
move was made.

By Mr. Castleden:
Q. You think this Indian association of Alberta is serving a useful pur-
[' ~ pose?—A. It did there, an excellent purpose.
3 Q. Then, we come to the Goodfish Lake reserve?—A. Yes, up at Saddle
ake.

Q. The Indians complain their territory is undergoing an economic decline

- with a resultant effect on the Indians?—A. My recommendation for that reserve
~ is that we turn it into a range. It is a cattle growing area. It is well watered

and has good food in great abundance, legumes and wild hay. It should be
cohanged over from purely agricultural. I was there just the day before I left for
¢ - Ottawa.

Q. What will be done on a reserve such as that now?—A. I am hoping we
will have what we call a farm instructor established right on that reserve. The
Indian agent has too large a territory to handle in this area.

Q. Do you find that a difficulty, that you are short staffed and are not

~ able to get the work done?—A. This is a vast empire, these Indian reservations.
I think there are not very many people who realize what a tremendous area
has to be covered and how lightly the department is staffed. I believe by staffing
and officering we could meet all the troubles which have been brought before
this committee. It is at this point the biggest problem exists. We have not got
the staff to handle our tremendous empire.

Q. And you do not always secure the kind of staff you may require bégause
I notice the Indians complain that many of the Indian agents, either because
they are overworked or for some other reason, appear to be somewhat superior
and do not listen to the Indians. There is a lack of co-operation?—A. The per-
- fect Indian agent would be a perfect man and he has not arrived yet.

- Q. What would you recommend? Would you recommend that the agencies
be made smaller and have more farm instructors, more qualified men appointed?
—A. T think the director has stated, since I have been before the committee,
that there is a reorganization underway in the department at the present time
which we think will be an advancement. I think he should answer that question.

Q. The treaties promised the Indians, when they went on their reserves, that
‘the white man would do his utmost to lift them—
The CuammaN: Now, last night, the treaty revision committee met and

~we are to meet again at the call of the chair, which will be some day next week.
- We will meet with the departmental officers, at which time the treates, one by

i et
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one, geographically, province by province, will be considered. I wonder if you

could reserve your question until that time? I.am trying to expedite the proceed-
ings because it is nearly one o’clock and there are still some members who have

questions to ask.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. This is my last question. The representatives of the Queen said they
were looking forward to see the day when the Indian population would be

happy, prosperous and self-sustaining, do you think that the promises of these- =
treaties are being carried out?—A. I think the treaties, as we understood them,

are being entirely carried out. In fact, I think in many instances we are giving

the Indians more than the treaties required. The thing which has struck me ';.
lately is that, for three or four generations—I am speaking of the western

Indian—we assumed all of the responsibility and the Indian developed no real

sense of responsibility. Now, we must turn around and pass the responsibility 8
on to him in order that he may understand how to conduct his own business. We 5

have now to reverse our own policy.

Q. I think there is a general agreement that there has been too much

paternalism?—A. That is exactly it.

Q. The main objective now should be to develop the Indian so that the

Indian, himself, can do things. However, if he is now unable to sustain himself
by his own efforts, it would be rather harsh treatment to turn him loose
immediately ?—A. Quite correct.

Q. I think I will ask you if you would agree with the demand of the Indlan
association that the Indian be—

The Cramrman: If you please, there are other members of the committee

who desire to ask questions. I wish you would ask questions rather than make

statements.

Mr. CastLepeN: I am asking him if he agrees with the Indian association E
request that greater autonomy be glven and the bands be given greater power?—

A. T agree thoroughly. I think it is the only solution to the Indian problem,
but the Indian must be prepared to accept it.

The CuAlRMAN: Mr. Richard?

By Mr. Richard:

Q. You told Mr. Matthews a while ago, in answer to his question, that the |

Indian who has received no higher education than the ordinary school is handi-
capped in obtaining employment when he meets the competifion of the white
man. How does he fit in amongst his own people? How could he make use of
that education amongst his own people?—A. For example, we have just recently
made an Indian a farming instructor on the Edmonton Stony Plain reserve. He
happens to be the son of Mr. Callihoo, but a much bigger man.

The CuammaN: Physically, you mean.
The Wirness: Yes. We are absorbing a large number of Indians into our

office. I have had an Indian in my own office for some time. He came out of a

sanatorium. Chief Yellowfly who was here has been in charge of an office for
many years.

f

By the Chairman:

- Q. In charge of what kind of office?—A. He was in charge of the office
of a coal mine. He ran the office of the coal mine in the reserve. He did all the

. work:

i
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By Mr. Richard: _ .

Q. You have no Indians who act as Indian agents?—A. Not yet, sir.

Q. Do you think there is a possibility or an opportunity of placing some of
the Indians in that position?—A. I have not yet found the Indians would sup-
port an Indian agent who was of the same blood. This is an experiment. Mr.
Callihoo will bear me out when I state that my experience over many years has
been—this is in the west—that the Indians will not take or have not taken
orders from their own people. They must learn to do that.

Q. Is not that a result of our own treatment of the Indians?—A. Quite.

Q. We have been giving them too much paternalism and, as a result, they
have not any confidence in their own people?—A. Quite.

Q. I do not think it is a special characteristic of the Indian?—A. No, we
have developed it and we have to change our policy along the lines suggested by
the association in the brief.

Q. You said they must assume more responsibility in the conduct of their
own affairs. I think the best way, then, is to try to promote some of their
own people to these positions?—A. That is right. On every reserve now, in our
province, we do not allow white labour to be introduced unless it is of a very
Special nature. The operators of tractors and what not which were formerly
often white temporary help, are being replaced by Indians. \

Q. Have you any school teachers amongst, the Indians?—A. We have school
teachers. Mr. Lightning has a sister who is teaching in Ontario. He was here
before the committee. We have others, but I cannot tell you their names.

Q. You have not many?—A. Not many among our own people, but we
certainly have some girls who are wanting to be teachers who are going to the
college at Edmonton and whom our educational branch wants us to send on to
normal school. We will place them just as quickly as they can qualify. We
had a male teacher last year whom we tried to take into the work, but he refused.
Every endeavour is being made, and the committee must realize this, there is no
attitude of keeping the Indians down; we are doing everything to encourage
them to go on into these positions. :

Q. That may be so to-day, but I do not think it was so in the past?—A. No,
I quite-agree. -,

The Cuamman: Mr. Gariepy, have you any questions to ask?

Mr. Gariery: No, thank you.

The CHATRMAN: Mr. Bryce?

Mr. Bryce: Yes, but, there are not many questions left after we have had
twelve members asking questions. :

The CuamrMmAN: I think it would be well, if the members keep the same
seats, the next time questions are asked we may go counter-clockwise.

Mr. Bryce: It might be a good idea. However, you are the inspector for
the whole of Alberta, Mr. Gooderham?

The Wirness: Yes.

By Mr. Bryce:
Q. Most of the questions which have been asked have pertained to those
bands of Indians who do not really need any help?—A. Yes.
Q. They are pretty well fixed, in fact, they are a lot better off than a lot

- of people I know. I should like you, just in a few moments we have left, to

say whether there are any reservations in Alberta which have no band funds?—
A. T am not so familiar with that part of the work as Mr. McCrimmon who
might answer that question. There are one or two, I believe.

Q. We can get that information, in any event. Do you know what bands
they would be?—A. The Northern bands. '
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Q. Tell us :omething about the conditions there—A. Well, I do not know o
them. I have been employed in my present position only for a little over a year. -
There are bands in the north which I have not visited. ;

Q. Would you agree with me that there are deplorable condltxona exxatlng '
in those bands?—A. I am unl, going by hearsay.

Q. You have heard that s A. Yes, sir.

Q. Very poor conditions? A Yes b

Q. Are you doing anythmg to try to improve those conditions?—A. I am =
trying to get organized. Sl

Q. Have you any program or any scheme in mind about which you could =
tell the committee?—A. You mean the isolated reserves?

Q. Yes—A. We are trying, first of all, to find out the industry for which =
they would be best suited and develop that, industry, or assist them in that
industry. For example, take the Athabasca agency, grave consideration has =
been given as to whether or not they should be put up in the lumber business or,
up at the Delta, to create a muskrat farming area. I have in mind the matter =
of fishing. You see, there are limited occupations for some of these places. =
Some occupations would not be practical. I have not been long enough at the
work, sir, to be very definite. 2

Q You have been an agent for a long time. Do you know whether there
are any reserves in Alberta today where the children are getting no education, =
that is, the children between 7 and 16?—A. Yes, sir, there are hundreds and =
hundreda of Indians who are not getting any educatlon b

and there are not enough Rchools for another thm-g The realdentlal schools are A
overcrowded. The development of the day school is a real problem because you =
have to secure personnel as well as a building. We have here our superintendent
of schools who can give you more detailed information on that problem.

The CuamMax: You mean Mr. Me¢Crimmon?

The Wirness: Colonel Neary.

Mr. Bryce: I do not want to take up too much time.

The Wirness: It may interest you to know there are schools—for instance,
up the Alaska highway, the R.C. church missionary and the agent have appealed
to our department for a certain building. Through the department, they secured
this building from the War Assets Corporation and today they are running a
day school which is quite satisfactory for those Indians at that point. At other
points, for instance, at Morbider Lake in B.C., certain Indians are attending =
day school by arrangement with the British Columbia government. At Fort
Chipewyan and Fort McMurray, similar schools are being started. That is a 3
move which was started within the last month or two. e

By Mr. Bryce:

Q. Your program is in that direction?—A. Very d;eﬁmtely |
Q. Are you stressing day schools?—A. So far as I can, and adult day
schools. The Indians are very keen when they come out of the hunting season
to get to a centre where they ean receive such training. The personnel is very
difficult to secure.

The CrarrMAN: Mr. Case?

By -Mr. Case:

Q. We are just about at the end of the journey, but I have a few questions |
to ask you. The Indian families on these reserves are receiving the family
allowances?—A. Yes.

Q. Are the cheques sent directly to the pa,rents of the children, in tbe £
main?—A. In the main, yes. b
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Q. There are some cases in which the agent might find it necessary to
administer them?—A. A few cases. The policy has been to put the responsibility
where it belongs and if they fall down, to take it away. They do not like
to lose that.

Q. In the matter of tribal property, how would an Indian participating in
that project define his interest in it?—A. The Indian is most remarkable in that
he is far more co-operative with his fellow men than is the average white man.

A YQ He has the right to make a will, has he not, and will his property?—
es.

Q. That is what I am getting at, just how he would define his interest if he
were making a will to his heirs?—A. Well, if it is tribal, each member of the
tribe has a unit interest. He does not need to will that.

Q. It can be passed on?—A. It can be passed on. He does so.

Q. The Indians, while living on the reserve, have bank accounts outside the
reserve?—A. Yes.

Q. In the matter of education, you heard Chief Yellowfly make a statement
with respeet to public schools versus residential schools and so on. Do you
think it would be well to 1nbt1tute a public school program?—A. Where feasible,
yes, sir.

- Q. So there would be an element of choice?—A. I would also go further, I
.would rather see the Indian child admitted to the white schools if it were pos-
sible, than to start segregated Indian schools. I would even go farther and say
that we hope, on the Michel band reserve to build a day school which will admit
white children if there are not enough Indian children. The matter of assimila-
tlon 1s so important at that age.

Q. On the matter of rel1glon, and I am limiting this to the two religions
the Roman Catholic and Protestant, how do you find the Indians divided with
regard to that? Would you say there was a majority who were one or the other?
. —A. No, sir, it depends on the location a good deal.

Q. So you have a representation of both religions, generally speaking, on
all reserves?—A. They are very satisfactorily divided.

Mr. Rem: What about the third religion which was mentioned?

Mr. Case: I am recognizing only the two religions for the purpose of my
quhestion because the other religion is not recognized in the development of
schools.

The Wrrness: No, sir.

By Mr. Case:

Q. I should like to ask you about the Indian’s aptitude for music. Do they
have bands?—A. Yes, and they are very fond of it. I should like to take you to
some schools where you would hear the most wonderful singing and playing of
instruments.

Q. Do you bring in outside instructors?—A. In some instances special
instructors are brought in.

Q. They purchase their instruments through the use of band funds?—A. In
some instances. Chief Yellowﬂy has a boy who plays the piano quite well. The
piano on which he practices is situated in a larore community hall to which he

. goes to practice.

Q. Are there stores on most of the reserves? Is the reserve, more or less, ;
self-contained unit? Can the Indians purchase supplies there‘?——A Rarely,
there are not many stores, not in that province.

Q. You mentioned something about a thousand acres of land, that is, in this
5,000 acre project near the Bow River which is irrigated.—A. There are 5,000
acres of irrigated land, it is leased land, of which the Indians have aheady taken
over 1,000 acres in the irrigated area.
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Q. Are they growing vegetables there?—A. I regret to say that I took
special steps to arrange garden facilities for them, had the ground prepared and

irrigated, buf I eannot say at the moment what they are doing this year. I had 3

the ground prepared and the water running around it last year, but I have not
been down there this year. They just started last year.

Q. They can grow vegetables, enough to take care of their needs?—A. Oh,

yes.
Q. Reference was also made to the fact that the land lease was such that
you could take over certain portions as it was required; that is, that you take
up certain portions of that and establish Indians on it?—A. As required, or as
the council suggests.
Q. My next question is this, is the lease on the land in such form that you
can take over portions of it as it is required at any time?—A. Yes, there is a
special clause in the lease permitting us to take over any part of the land at any
time throughout the year when it is required.

Q. Can you tell us briefly what they receive in the way of rations, clothing

and other allowances, could you give us that offhand?—A. You mean, what
they get? y

Q. Yes—A. I will just go over it rapidlys These are the services which the
Indians receive from the band fund. First of all there is a per capita payment

running from anything about $30 to $60 per head per year. That is their allow- _ _[

ance. The larger payment goes to those who are over sixty, the elderly people.
Following that they provide for the staff, instructors, doctors, nurses and so on,

and that, comes to about $30,000. A large item of expenditure in recent years

has been on their rations, which includes their meat.

Q. How much meat are they allowed?—A. Per head?

Q. Yes—A. They get about seven pounds of meat.

Q. Is that per week?—A. Per week, yes. Seven pounds of meat per week;
five pounds of flour per week; at the present time one pound of tea per month;

rice; soap and special rations for those who are old, blind or deaf who have no

way of getting things for themselves; and there are other things running to a
considerable amount. On top of that they have clothing for all the old women

and men, and household furnishings for the young married couples. I think

that covers it, and that runs to between $50,000 and $60,000 a year. Then
there is hospitalization, which is the upkeep and operation of the hospital,
running to about $35,000 a year. That is a service. Then they have the mainten-
ance of buildings, roads, bridges, irrigation and whatnot; which runs at the
present time around $15,000 to $20,000. And then there is what we call develop-
ment, new ventures; that will run to another $25,000. Anything left over goes
for what we call miscellaneous.

Q. Is there anything included in that for shelter?—A. They have already

spent half a million dollars on shelter. ;

Q. I mean, is that new homes?—A. There are about 175 sets of buildings
which, as I said, are valued at around $3,000 to $4,000 per set; which represents =
on the whole practically every family, and that is supplied free. b

Q. And the newly-married couples will also receive shelter?—A. You mean,
will they be given a house?

Q. Yes, will they receive shelter in addition to furnishings?—A. Invariably
yes; oh, yes. They have more houses than they can use. Most of them have
two or three places in which they can live. :

By Mr. Castleden: ‘ , '

Q. Do they know how to use them?—A. No, sir. As the director told you
the other day there are a number of four-roomed houses which were built thirty
years ago and are still vacant. The usual so-called Indian residence is a one-
roomed house.
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The CuAlRMAN: Mr. Lickers has a question which he wanted to ask.

By Mr. Gariepy:

Q. You have just made the statement that the Indians do not use proper
homes. What would be the cause of that?—A. Well, there are two principal
reasons. One is, and that is the one I mentioned the other day, they do not
consider the house as suitable to their needs. However, the main reason I think
is that even at the present stage of his development the Indian is still a one-

. roomed man; in other words he had formerly lived in a tepee and the extra

space is useless to him. :
The Cmamrman: Mr. Callihoo, you said you had a letter which you wanted

. to bring to the attention of the committee.

Mr. Carrieoo: I have a copy of it here.
The CuamrrMAN: Did you want to ask any questions?
‘Mr. Carriroo: No, sir:

Mr. CastiepEN: Mr. Chairman, I understand that Mr. Callihoo wants to
ask a question?

The CrmairMaN: I asked him, and he said.no. He wants to make a short
statement.

Mr. Cavnraoo: What I want to say is this, Mr. Chairman: we have had
all the talk about rations from Mr. Gooderham, and from what has been said
it would appear that the Indian is getting the very best of everything when as
a matter of fact they really are not. Just to show you what happened in times
past I will read this letter and that will give you a better appreciation of our
problem. This is a letter which was written to the Hon. M. MacKinnon,
Minister of Trade and Commerce, in March of 1942.

The CuamrMAN: Would you give us the date of that letter, Mr. Callihoo? T,
think the letter is on record, isn’t it?

Mzr. Carrizoo: No, I do not think so.

The CuarMAN: This letter is datéd March 27, 1942, and it is addressed to
the Minister of Trade and Commerce. I will read it for you. Do you want me
to read the whole thing?

Mr. Caruiaoo: No, just as far as I have marked.

The CmamrMman: This letter was written from the Hobbema Reserve, Hob-
béma, Alberta, on March 27, 1942, and, as I said, was addressed to the Mmlster
of Tra.de and Commelce It 1eads

DeAr Sr,—On January 11, 1941, T wrote to the Commissioner of

Indian Affairs and sent a copy to the Prime Minister of Canada and the

. Minister of Justice and to you as well as Senator Blais. You replied in
your letter of January 18, 1941 sending me .your sympathetic considera-
tions. The deputy Minister of Justice just said that it was none of his
business what was contained in the letter of January 11.

Then you wrote on March 25, 1941 to tell me what Mr. Pratt had
told you. Then we did not hear from you until March 9, 1942 in answer
to my letter of March 6, 1942.

In my letter of January 11 T told you that the treaty obligations
with Her Majesty the Queen had not been carried out. The Minister
of Justice says it is none of his business. The Prime Minister of Canada
did not reply so I take it that it is none of his business either and as for
Senator Blais, he has a pension of $4,000 a year as long as he lives, so I -
do not suppose it is any of his business either.
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4 In the same letter of January 11 I pointed out to you that the com- =
g plaints had been made on a large number of subject matters and that the =%
Indians.of Hobbema Reserve and other Indians had requested a judieial =
inquiry. You did not reply to this part of the letter nor did anyone else. "=
In the same letter of January 11 a complaint was made that in 1909 =
the Indians were compelled to sell a portion of the reserve at Hobbema and 8

that the Indians were to receive $100 per head and the balance of the money
was to be put in a fund held by the government and that the interest was =
to be paid to the Indians. I told you that the $100 had not been paid. ==
You did not say anything about that. =8
I complained that in November 1940 cattle were found dead in a =
slough, that the Indian agent Colonel Lewis bought four of those cattle =
from a man by the name of Strong Man and that the carcasses had been =&
distributed as rations to the old people. You made no answer to that =
and it did not impress the Prime Minister nor the Minister of Justice or
the life pensioner to take sufficient interest to appoint a judicial inquiry
" to see why dead meat should be given to Indians. If the meat of a dead =
animal were served up to you and the Prime Minister of Canada some =
one would have been put in jail for it but so long as it is to an Indian =
who has no votes it does not make any difference to you, the Prime =
Minister of Canada or the Minister of Justice and the life pensioner who =
as a doctor ought to know that such a dirty trick is not done except =

to Indians.

What is the purpose of that, Mr. Callihoo? *
Mr. Cavrimoo: That is a copy of a letter addressed to the Honourable =
J. A. MacKinnon, and I have asked Mr. MacKay who signed it for a copy of U8
that letter. There have been letters going back and forward to the Indian

department or whoever it is. I asked for those letters a long time ago and he
said he needed them on his file in Edmonton because he said they would be
needed some day. When he died of course I went to the office and they told me
they couldn’t let those files out.

The CuamrmaN: If there is any other letter of importance I am sure we can
' get copies of it from the files of the department. I am sure it can be worked
out if you will get in touch with this committee.

Mr. CastLepEN: You have no eomplaint about the ration being given out -
on the Indian reserve now?

Mr. Cariiaoo: No, no. It is up to them. I do not know about it anyway -
because we belong to a different reserve altogether. o

' Mr. Case: In relation to this letter, are you supporting the testxmony tha.t_
: the $100 has not been paid?

Mr. Carrmmoo: I cannot support it because I am not sure, because it is o8
just a letter. : o

Mr. Case: The letter has to speak for itself.
Mr. Cavrriaoo: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: A meeting of this committee will be held on Monday in
room 368 at 11.00 a.m. s

Mr. Brackmore: Will Mr. Gooderham be there? : B2
The CuarMAN: Mr. Gooderham will be there. It has all been arranged,
Mr. Blackmore, that we will hold a closed meeting. o

The committee adjourned at 1.05 p.m., to meet agam on Monday, April 28,
at 11.00 p.m. : i

-
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or CoMMONS,
Thursday, May 1, 1947,

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons

: appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have
been referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman).

‘ Present :
4 The Senate: The Honourable Senators McKeen and Taylor. (2).

The House of Commons: Messrs. Blackmore, Brown, Castleden, Farquhar,
Gibson (Comoz-Alberni), MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice-Chairman),
Raymond (Wright), and Reid. (9).

In attendance: Dr. H. L. Keenleyside, Deputy Minister, Mines and
] Resources; (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director;
T. R. L. Maclnnes, Secretary; Major D. M. MacKay, Commissioner, Indian
r Affairs, British Columbia; H. M. Jones, Supervisor, Family Allowances;

B. F. Neary, M.B.E., Superintendent, Welfare and Training; D. G. Armstrong;
G_. Armstrong; G. Patrick, K. L. Balderston; Dr. P. E. Moore; Dr. Gordon Bell,
Sioux Lookout, Ontario; Misses M. Walton, A. Nolet; (From Native Brother-
hood of British Columbia): William Scow, President; Rev. P. R. Kelly, Chair-
man, Legislative Committee; Guy Williams (representing Unaffiliated Indians),
| also Thomas Gosnell, Fort Simpson; (From Christian Island, Ontario) : Messrs.
Henry Jackson, Edward Sandy, Bert Monague, Lewis Jackson.

The Chairman conveyed to the Committee the regrets of the Honourable
Mr. Stirling that it was not possible for him, owing to illness, to be present.

Mr. Raymond (Wright), presented the fifth feport of the sub-committee
on agenda and procedure. (For text, see Minutes of Evidence).

On motion of Mr. Raymond, after discussion, it was
Resolved: That the fifth report of the sub-committee on agenda and pro-
cedure be adopted.

It was agreed that Mr. Thomas Gosnell, Fort Simpson, British Columbia,
be heard as a witness.

The Reverend P. R. Kelly, Chairman, Legislative Committee, Native
Brotherhood of British Columbia, was called, made a statement with regard
to the membership and representation of that organization. Mr. Kelly intro-
duced the members of his delegation, and read their brief.

k. Chief William Scow, President, Native Brotherhood of British Columbia,
was called and made a statement.

L 88163—1}
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Guy Williams, representing unaffiliated Indians of British Columbia, w
called, made a statement.

Questioning of the above witnesses was postponed until the next meeting
of the Committee. -




MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House or CoMMONS,
May 1, 1947.

The Special Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons appointed
to examine and consider the Indian Act, met this day at 11.00 a.m. Mr. F. D.
Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman), presided.

The Cmamman: If you will come to order, gentlemen, we will proceed
with the meeting of the committee. As you know to-day, we have representatives
of the Indian population of the province of British Columbia. I am glad to see
that all British Columbia members of the committee are present, including
Senator McKeen, Mr. Reid, Mr. Gibson, except the Honourable Mr. Grote
Stirling who has called me with regard to his inability to be present because of
serious illness which is confining him to his home. Did I miss somebody?

Mr. Gison: Mr. Castleden thought you were referring to us as British
Columbia Indians.

Mr. Castuepen: I was complimenting them.

The CmamrMAN: Actually Mr. Stirling is confined to bed. He has asked me
to express to the committee his regrets for his inability to be present. We are
Sorry to learn of his illness because he is a valuable member of the Committee.

. The first matter of business is the report of the subcommittee. Will you
give that report, Mr. Raymond. :

Mr. RAYMOND:
May 1, 1947.

FIFTH REPORT OF SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGENDA AND PROCEDURE

Representation of Indians from Ontario and Quebec

Your subcommittee agreed to defer the consideration of the Quebec repre-
sentation until a later date, as our schedule for the month of May is complete,
except for odd days which are being kept open in case a decision to hear some
individual or organization should be reached before the end of the month.

With regard to representation of Indians resident in Ontario, your sub-
committee recommends that six delegates be heard, distributed as follows:
two to be chosen by the Six Nations’ Council; one to represent the Indians in
the south-western part of the province; one to represent the Indians in the
Georgian Bay-Manitoulin Island area; one to represent the Indians in the
north-west angle treaty area; and one to represent the Indians in the James

ay district. The usual expenses payable to witnesses asked to appear before a
Committee of the House be paid to these accredited delegates.

North American Indian Brotherhood
The delegates from this Brotherhood will be heard commencing on Monday,
ay & next. The president of the Brotherhood was notified that the accredited
delegates are Andrew Paull, representing Western Provinces; Chief Tom Jones,
representing Central Provinces and Mr. Norman Saylor, representing Eastern

Provinces.
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Representation of Saskatchewan Indians

Notification has been received that the Saskatchewan representatives are:
Chief John Gambler, Edenwold; John Tootoosis, Paynton; Chief John Dreaver,
Leask and that Reverend Ahab Spence is accompanying the delegation. This
delegation has been notified to appear before your Committee on Thursday,
May 8.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

The Cuamrman: The adoption of the report is moved by Mr. Raymond,
supported by Mr. Reid, all in favour?

Mr. Farquuar: Before we adopt this report I would like to ask how you
plan to choose representatives of the Indians from Manitoulin and vicinity.
They are not organized.

The Cuamrmax: If I may just speak on behalf of the subcommittee—

Mr. Farquuar: I would just like to say to the committee first, that there
are some ten bands in that vicinity and none of them are organized. I do not

know how you can arrange to have a representative who would represent all of
those different bands. I was wondering if you have considered that.

The CuamrMaN: If T may speak on behalf of the subcommittee, Mr.

Farquhar. In the case of the British Columbia Indians there is not the same
difficulty in getting representations. That applies to Alberta, Saskatchewan,
and Manitoba. In those provinces there are organizations of Indians repre-
senting a large percentage of the Indian population so that at least one person can
speak authoritatively on behalf of the organizations. In Ontario there does
not appear to be any organization which will represent any large body of
Indians and there is a total Indian population, I am informed, of around
35,000. The exact figure regarding that population is in the record. The largest
number of Indians in Canada is in Ontario and that problem of representa-
tion has given the committee a great deal of concern. In your particular case,
we can see the advisability of writing to the Manitoulin Indians and asking
them to send representatives from all the various bands and reserves to a
central point to be heard by the Committee or a portion of it, but due to the
pressure of governmental affairs during the rest of the session the committee
does not feel that it is feasible to go to Manitoulin Island. As a result we are
going somehow to ask that the Indians of that area confer, probably with
yourself, for the purpose of naming one delegate. Now, of course, if others
want to come along at their own expense there is no objection, and whether or
not we can hear them depends on the time of the committee. Probably you could
assist us, Mr. Farquhar, in naming somebody who would truly speak for the
Indians in your area.

Mr. Farquaar: That is just the question. I do not think I could do that. I
do not think the bands would agree to any one Indian representing all of them.
There are some ten bands and they are scattered very widely throughout the

constituency. They would find it somewhat difficult to get together to appoint .

a representative.
Mr. Remp: What is the population of the bands?

Mr. Farquuar: The largest band has over 1,500. I think I gave the total
figure here recently. I think there are over 3,000 if I remember well.

The CrARMAN: I am told it is about 3,600.

Mr. Farquuar: 3,600, I see. The Wikwemikong band has over 1,500.
Mr. MacNicoL: What is the largest band in the Manitoulin area?

Mr. Farquuar: The Wikwemikong.

Mr. MacNicoL: Would that figure take in the Batchawana or Ojibbewas,
near Sault Ste. Marie?
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Mr. Farquuar: I doubt if they could come that distance.

Mr. MacNicoL: Well I think that is the best suggestion; they had better
meet together and select from themselves a representative.
~ Mr. Castuepen: In the recommendations of the committee you say there
18 one representative to represent the Indians from the Georgian Bay Manitoulin
Island area.

The CHAmRMAN: That is right.

Mr. CastiepeN: But I understand from Mr. Farquhar that there is no
organization— ‘

The Cuamman: That is right.

Mr. CastLepeEN: Whereby they might come to an agreement as to who
should represent them. :

The CrARMAN: Therefore we suggest they assemble and name somebody.
If they cannot, we will have to give if further study.

Mr. CastLepeN: I should like to ask this question. I understand there was
a union of Omntario Indians formed last year in an attempt to organize the
Indians of Ontario. I think they made application to the committee to have a
representative of their organization appear here. Did the committee receive
any such application from an organization known as the Union of Ontario
Indians?

The CualRMAN: We have had several reports from various bands. I do not
recall that particular group.

Mr. CastuepEN: Not a band. This is known as the Union of Ontario
Indians. The secretary is Henry Jackson.

' The CmammMAN: He invited us to some sort of little gathering he was

having, but I do not think there was ever any invitation extended by the
committee to his union. .

Mr. CastrepEN: Did he make application to appear before this committee,
or to have a representative of his organization, the Union of Ontario Indians,
appear?

The CuARMAN: I do not recall he did. :

Mr. Farquuar: I am informed by representatives who are here to-day
from Christian Island, off the Bruce Peninsula, that an effort was made last
fall to organize the Indians in that vieinity, but the organization has not yet
been completed. I think there was a representative from only one band on the
Manitoulin Island who attended that meeting. I believe it was held at Sudbury.

Mr. MacNicon: I notice one representative is to come from southwestern
Ontario. There are three main bands down there.

The CuarMan: The same would apply there.

Mr. MacNicon: The Muncies, Moraviantown and Walpole Island.

The Crarman: We did not feel we could hear representatives from every
reserve in Ontario. '

Mr. MacNicon: T know them all. They are all friendly. No doubt they
will get together and select someone to represent them.

The CramrMAN: We did receive a letter dated April 10, 1947, from Henry
Jackson, but in that letter he does not ask for any hearing by this committee.
He merely gives us a report submitting resolutions, and so on, that were passed
at a convention held on Parry Island, on August 19 and 20, 1946, and other
meetings, but they do not ask to appear. .

1 Mr. CastLEpEN: This was an organization known as the Union of Ontario
ndians.
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The CrARMAN: He is the joint secretary of the N.A.LB.—
Mr. CasTLepeEN: North American Indian Brotherhood.

The CrAIRMAN: —and Union of Ontario Indians. That is the only letter
we have in which he states they represent a majority of Ontario Indians, which
has yet to be proven.

Mr. MacNicoL: What is your procedure? You will write the chiefs of those
three bands.

Mr. FArquuAR: If that 1s the deecision of the committee I will do what I can
1 an effort to try to get them together and arrange for a representative.

The CrarrmaN: There is another matter with respect to the North American
Indian Brotherhood. We have a wire from Mr. Paull that Chief Tom Jones
cannot be here on Monday, the 5th day of May, because of treaty payments on
May 7. He would like to be heard at a later date. I assume that is the
pleasure of the committee.

Mr. Raymoxp: But Mr. Paull and Mr. Saylor will be here?

The CrArMAN: They will be here on the 5th of May, next Monday. Chief
Tom Jones may not be here until a later date. We also have a communication
from Andrew Paull in connection with a request to hear one Frank Assu, who
is a member of the North American Indian Brotherhood. As you know the
reason we are hearing the North American Indian Brotherhood this year is
because when they were here a year ago and had a conference with this
committee we said that at a later date we would call them for their official
presentation. He wants to have Frank Assu, represent the unaffiliated B.C.
Indians. In his letter of April 11, 1947, Paull says:

I think it would be a gracious act on the part of the Indian Act
committee to allow one of the Indians from the northern interior of B.C.
to speak instead of two speakers from the Native Brotherhood of B.C.

who represent only some of the Indian fishermen of the B.C. Coast.
Further on he says:

Frank Assu now residing at Steveston, B.C. was the unanimous

choice of a meeting of Indians at Kamloops last Sunday to be the speaker
from the unaffiliated Indians of B.C. so I hope you will recognize him
as one of the delegates.

We did not feel we could pay the expenses of Mr. Assu from British Columbia,

so we sent a wire to him reading:

Matter of representation of unaffiliated Indians of Brltlsh Columbia
was delegated by committee to Native Brotherhood of British Columbia
a provincial organization. . .

(by the way, Mr. Andrew Paull will be here next Monday and he can speak
on behalf of the North American Indian Brotherhood)—

Representation of the North American Indian Brotherhood, as a
national organization, was given same representation as a province
namely three delegates. Andrew Paull has already chosen three delegates.
Delegation from province does not include your name. Regret only
official delegates have their expenses paid. Decision to hear other than
accredited delegates is made only at time of meeting of committee.

Mr. Rem: That brings up a question which I think should be discussed

now. I understand other delegates have come forward from British Columbia.
The CuARMAN: Just one, Mr. Gosnell.
Mr. Rem: We may have to decide whether we will hear him.

The Cuamrman: That will be brought up when Mr. Kelly makes his
introduction. We have wired Mr. Assu. The procedure will be the same as it
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is to-day. We cannot pay the expenses of more than 3 delegates but in the
event they come and we have the time I am sure that the committee will be
pleased to hear them.

Mr. CastuepeN: May I ask the representative of the Native Brotherhood if
Mr. Frank Assu was not once a member of your executive?

Rev. Mr. KeLuy: He was a member but he has withdrawn his membership
from our organization.

The CrAmrMAN: It is moved by Mr. Raymond and seconded by Mr. Reid
that this report of the subcommittee be adopted. All in favour?

Carried.

Gentlemen, we have with us to-day the representation of the Native
Brotherhood of British Columbia. They have named a representative to speak
on behalf of the unaffiliated organizations of British Columbia. The delegation
1s headed by the Rev. P. R. Kelly who has with him Chief William Scow,
President of the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, Mr. Guy Williams
who, I believe, is a member of the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia but
will speak particularly in connection with the unaffiliated Indians, and Mr.
Th_omtas Gosnell who is accompanying the delegation. If there is time available
18 1t your pleasure to hear Mr. Gosnell?

Mr. Rem: I so move.

The Caamman: All in favour?

Carried.

. We will hear from Mr. Gosnell in due time. You understand, of course,
gentlemen, that each province is permitted only three delegates whose normal

- €Xpenses are paid. Any other persons in attendance have not that privilege,

unless the Committee decides otherwise at the time.

Mr. Rem: I am sorry to raise the point, but how did we agree to six from
On.rbario with a population of 36,000 and three from other provinces, particularly
British Columbia with a population of nearly 26,000 Indians?

The Cuamrman: I understand that the population of Ontario is 36,000 and
the population of British Columbia is about 25,000, but fortunately in British
Columbia they have one incorporated organization, the Native Brotherhood
of British Columbia. One person can speak on behalf of all members of that
organization, whereas in Ontario we are mot in such a fortunate position. They
are mot so highly unionized.

Mr. Gmson: I wonder if it might be a matter we could refer to the sub-
committee on agenda and procedure for further discussion on the point.

The Cuamman: I think that is in order. Thank you, Mr. Gibson. First
of all T want to introduce to the committee the Rev. P. R. Kelly of Ocean
Falls, British Columbia, who will introduce the delegation of the Native
Brotherhood of British Columbia. Would you introduce first the other members
of your delegation?

Rev. P. R. Kelly, called

The Wirness: Mr. Chairman, and honourable members of this committee:
I'should like to introduce the president of our organization, the Native Brother-
hood of British Columbia, Chief William Scow. Then there is Mr. Guy Williams.

€ is a member of our organization. He was business agent of the organization
last year. When we were requested to name a representative for the unaffiliated
ndians, because of his closer acquaintance with the larger body of Indians he
Was named by our organization to represent them. He is here in that capacity.
r. Thomas Gosnell from Fort Simpson is not an accredited delegate.
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By the Chairman:

Q. Whom does he represent?—A. He is also a member of our organization
in good standing. He was treasurer of the organization last year.

Q. Mr. Williams is a member of your organization?—A. Yes.

Q. So there is really no répresentative here from British Columbia who is
not a member of your organization?—A. No.

” Q. Is there any way in which you could get a representative here who
would truly represent those B.C. Indians who are not affiliated with your
organization?—A. In our judgment what we have done was the best we could do.
In connection with every organization I think it can be said that there are many
people who are lukewarm. They like to associate themselves with organizations
while things are going splendidly, but they prefer to sit on the sidelines looking
on. There are a great many in British Columbia like that. I might say by
reason of an intensive campaign against some of the things that the Native
Brotherhood of British Columbia stands for some of our former members have
become suspicious. They do not know just what to do. They are bewildered.
Yet as we see them and as they come to our meetings and hear what we are
talking about they realize we stand for the things that they long to see spread
among their people. Mr. Guy Williams is one of the best fitted men in my
opinion to represent the unaffiliated Indians. He has travelled extensively in
the interior of the province, up and down the whole coast, on Vancouver Island
and other places. I think he knows their problems as well as anyone can
hope to do =o.

Q. Approximately how many members of your organization have you in
British Columbia?—A. In our organization there are paid members in good
standing numbering about 2,000—2,000 male paid members.

Q. All male paid members?—A. Yes.

Q. You do not include the women?—A. There are auxiliary women’s
organizations.

Q. When you refer to 2,000 paid members they are all men?—A. Yes.

Q. And that does not include any women?—A. No. There are auxiliary
women’s organizations. The sisterhood of British Columbia probably covers
another 1,000 or 1,500, probably 2,000.

Q. Then that would represent roughly what population. 2,000 male mem-
bers would represent what population?

Mr. MacNicor: There would be five to a family on the average, say
10,000 men, women and children.

The CHAmrMAN: 10,000.

The Wrrxess: In the submission made last year by Major MacKay, the

Commissioner of Indian Affairs, he estimated there were 12,000 Indians in British
Columbia under the age of 17.

The CuarmaN: We will assume it is roughly 10,000. There are 25,000

Indians altogether in British Columbia so that you claim to represent close to

half of the Indian population. Would that be correct, Mr. MacKay?

Mr. MacKay: I would think that the Native Brotherhood would represent
very approximately half of the population, certainly not more than half.
It is the only organized group of Indians in the province. The interior of the
province is not greatly represented by the Native Brotherhood. As far as I know
1t is mainly a coast and fishermen’s organization. The information we have—
and, of course, it is subject to correction—is that the Native Brotherhood has
not penetrated into the interior of British Columbia in the matter of paid
membership to any great extent, so I should say it would be reasonable to

assume that the Native Brotherhood certainly would not represent more than

half of the Indians of the province of British Columbia.
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~ The Cuamrman: While you are on your feet can you tell us if, in your
opinion, there is any way whereby we could get one person to represent all of
the unaffiliated Indians of British Columbia?
Mr. MacKAy: I think there should be a way. There probably is a way.
The CuamrMaN: Do you know of the way?

Mr. MacKay: We would have to consult with some of the agents and
probably the church organizations and others interested in our Indian work.
There is a very large group of Indians in British Columbia who do not subscribe
to the Native Brotherhood organization or to any other organization for that
matter.

The CuAmrMAN: Can you tell us how we could get a true representative
from that large body of persons?

Mr. MacKay: I think I would have to have some time to think that out.

The CmamrMan: I might tell you that this committee, and the subcommittee
on agenda and procedure, have spent considerable time over the past two years
trying to figure out some scheme and we have not yet evolved any scheme
because of the fact that those who are involved do not seem to want to confer
and appoint any one person to speak on their behalf.

Mr. MacNicorL: We will hear from the gentleman Rev. Mr. Kelly has
mentioned. .

The Cmamman: I want to make it clear we have done everything possible
to get a representative of the unaffiliated Indians in each province.

Hon. Mr. McKeen: Could you not use the same procedure that you are
following in the province of Ontario for your unaffiliated groups in British
Columbia?

The CuAarrMAN: If you can name any one person or any group of persons
who would speak on behalf of the unaffiliated Indians of British Columbia we
would be very glad to have that name. We have had many briefs from British
Columbia, from Indian tribes and other organizations, printed in our minutes.

Hon. Mr. McKzeen: I do not feel at all qualified to do anything like that
because T am new on this committee and new to this procedure.

The CuarrMaN: You have learned very quickly, and well.

Hon. Mr. McKeex: From what I have heard I would think that whatever
procedure you are following in Ontario could apply in British Columbia. In
Ontario you have unaffiliated groups without any organization., You have the
same thing in British Columbia in a large part of the province. I think the same
thing could be done.

The Cuamman: I think you will agree that if we had any organization
in Ontario which would represent any large group of the Indian population we
certainly would not be suggesting to this committee the representation that is
now proposed for Ontario.

i Mr. MacNicor: I suggest we get on with the witness. Time is getting
along,

Mr. CastrLepEN: The matter of representation is most important. In the
correspondence received regarding Frank Assu was it not pointed out there
was a meeting of the interior Indians on Sunday last, and that they had chosen
someone whom they wished to represent them? :

The Cuamrman: That is one group out of probably 15,000.

. Mr. Brackmore: Can this matter not be discussed by our “steering” com-
mittee? We have all these Indians here. Surely we can discuss it when they
are not here.
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The CHAmMAN: I am quite content. I am only pointing out that it has
been discussed and rediscussed, and the rediscussion has been rediscussed on
many occasions by the subcommittee, and we cannot find a solution. We will
get, on with the witness.

Q. Mr. Kelly, are you thé spokesman on behalf of the Native Brotherhood
of British Columbia?—A. I am.

Q. Would you care to present your brief?—A. Before doing so I should like
to clarify one matter. I do not want to leave any doubt hanging in your minds.
I beg to say that Frank Assu is no more qualified to represent the unaffiliated
Indians of our Provinece than is Mr. Guy Williams. Mr. Frank Assu is a fisher-
man with headquarters at Steveston, B.C. The unaffiliated Indians extend
from the Alaskan boundary, north of Prince Rupert, to the Stikine river just
inside the coastal boundary line of Alaska. Unless one has an unlimited amount
of money to travel to those places he cannot get there, and we have not the funds
to go around. Delegates have been sent from different places again and again.
I beg to say that in our organization I think we represent, if you will excuse
the expression, the “cream of the crop.” That is our claim.

Q. Thank you very much.—A. Mr. Chairman and hon. gentlemen:

The Native Brotherhood of British Columbia have the honour and pleasure
to present for your earnest consideration the within brief. The subject matter
thereof considers Indian administration in general, and in particular the matters
specified and numbered one to eight in the orders of reference of both the
Senate and House of Commons made on Thursday, the 13th day of May,
A.D. 1946, at Ottawa. The sections of the within brief have been numbered to
correspond with the enumerations of these matters as made in the said orders of
reference.

The representations, respectfully submitted, of the Native Brotherhood of
British Columbia, are as follows:—

1. Treaty Rights and Obligations:

Wherever there are treaty rights and obligations these should be strictly
adhered to and should not be abrogated without the consent.of both parties.

2. Band Membership:
(1) Band membership is provided for in the present Indian Act, and where

it is considered necessary, the terms should be more flexible to admit such

persons as are considered suitable by the band concerned.

One practical instance would be on the death of her white husband an Indian
" woman should be admitted to the band. Similarly where an Indian woman has
married a white man and has suffered desertion for a period of some specified
time, she should be permitted to rejoin the band.

Where enfranchisement has occurred and it is found that the Indian is not
suitable for citizenship some provision for re-admission to the band should
be provided subject, however, to forfeiture of any right on the capital fund of
the band.

I might say we thought of adding the words “until the money drawn from
the band has been repaid in full.” It is felt that these provisions would add to
the self-esteem of the person in question as well as make adequate economical
provision in the instances of women concerned.

(2) No member should be removed from band membership unless it be by
the will of the person and the band concerned.

It is considered that the band concerned should have a veto on enfran-
chisement.

Similarly, no enfranchisement should occur at the instances of other than

an Indian or his band as is permitted under section 110 (5) of the “Indan Act”.

This present section 110 (5) may allow of abuses in that the Indian agent or
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his subordinates can threaten Indians with enfranchisement. It may be said
that no enfranchisement could oceur unless under proper governmental auspices
but individual cases show that the Indian agent or his subordinates can
threaten an Indian and it would be possible legally that the Indian would be
enfranchised without his consent or the consent of the band as specified in
section 110 (1). Whatever argument may be advanced that only proper and
bona fide governmental action would be taken, nevertheless, under the present
section there is colour that improper action could be threatened.

(3) Illegitimate children’s membership should be protected fully.

Section 12 of the present Act should be eliminated. It follows all generally
accepted legal principals in this country that the illegitimate child has the

status of its mother. Indian children are certainly entitled to the full status
and benefits of and from their mother.

3. Liability of Indians to Pay Taxes

’ (a) The imposition of income tax and other taxation on the native people
1s viewed as unjust, as they have no voice in the affairs of the country; they
are treated as wards and minors. The natives look upon this as a violation
of the British principle, “No taxation without representation”.

There is no legal instrument in existence which suggests that the govern-

~ Ments in Canada have the right to tax Indians. On the other hand, there

Was a tacit understanding when the Indians relinquished their domains to
Canada that they would be free from taxation.

Under article 13 of the “Terms of Union” between British Columbia and
the dominion:—

The charge of the Indians, and the trusteeship and management
of lands reserved for their use and benefit, shall be assumed by the
dominion government, and a policy as liberal as that hitherto pursued
by the British Columbia government shall be continued by the dominion
government after union.

British Columbia never taxed Indians prior to union. Let us consider the situa-
tion historically.

_The only records of direct transfer of lands by the Indians are referred
to in “B.C. Papers Connected with the Indian Land Question, 1850-1875”,
Wherein the Indians made transfers of lands to the Hudson’s Bay Company.
Therein were reserved to the Indians hunting and fishing rights as formerly
carried on by the Indians. This has been the pattern for British Columbia in
taxation. No hunting or trap line licences have been charged, although when

r. Jones was Minister of Finance an individual fee for a gill netter was set
at five dollars ($5) and the fee for operating a seine boat was fifty dollars
($50) per boat. This caused considerable contention and these fees or taxes
Were gradually dropped. However, with the advent of income tax, even Indians

‘Working on fishing boats have been taxed. There would appear no justification

for this taxation in view of the aforemientioned considerations.

As stated under the “Terms of Union” the Indians were supposed to
Tecelve just as favourable treatment after union. However, economic condi-
tlon_s and modes of living in Canada have changed to the detriment of the
Indians. This condition arises because the reserves set aside for the Indians

ave now become inadequate.

In British Columbia, the Indians have no treaty rights .save and except
the treaties made by Sir James Douglas and these were with small bands of
ndians. The reserves for the Indians were not sufficient to make the Indians
Self—S}lstaining and provide sufficient revenue for their well being. They were
ot given sufficient lands to allow them to be self-supporting and self-sustaining,
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while on the other hand the lands contiguous to the reserves have been com-
mercialized and exploited with no benefit to the Indians. For instances, logging
operations have removed the rights of the Indians to take any timber from
contiguous lands however necesary it may be for their welfare. The fact
now is that in British Columbia the reserves have become inadequate.

(b) If the governments have the right to impose taxation on the Indians,
then such social benefits as are enjoyed by the taxpayers of the country should
be granted to the Indians, such as:

(1) Old age pensions.
(i1) Mothers’ pension.
(ii1) Social assistance.
(iv) Home for the aged.

It is appreciated that family allowance is made available for the Indians.

If there is to be taxation then for the Indians there should be adequate
representation in the affairs of government and adequate compensation for the
taxation so imposed.

(c) The native Indians should also be given equal opportunities for
employment in civil service, in public works, and other forms of employments.

An instance may be cited where an Indian made application for the
position of engineer on the Indian agent’s boat. Although the Indian applicant
had superior knowledge and qualifications, he was refused the position simply
because he was an Indian. Reference could be made to the evidence of
Brigadier Martin (minutes and proceedings of evidence, number 19) with respeet
to his application for an Indian agency.

(d) The denial to the Indians of the rights to pre-empt lands should also
be removed.

Before reading the next section, “Enfranchisement of Indians”, may I
pause here and explain that because we have followed the headings in the
orders of reference and have used those headings here we have been accused
of championing the cause of enfranchisement for Indians. We have merely
followed the orders of reference.

4. Enfranchisement of Indians

Enfranchisement, as it is provided for in the Indian Act, is not satisfactory.
Because of that very few Indians have availed themeslves of it. They do
not wish to sacrifice the hereditary rights as Indians simply for the right to
vote. Yet this is a right of citizenship which they crave because they live
under the laws of the land and feel that they should have some voice in the
formulation of such laws.

The only solution is to extend the rights of citizenship to the Indians
as such without the necessity of their enfranchisement. The rights of citizen-
ship should be extended to the Indians, but in view of the many issues involved,
careful consideration should be given to the conditions under which this could
be granted. A system of native representation such as the Maoris enjoy in
New Zealand could be the pattern followed in Canada. There the Maoris
retain their aboriginal rights, but at the same time have full representation
in parliament. See New Zealand Year Book (1944). Why cannot this be
done in Canada? '

The incentive to advance is noticeable where the rights of citizenship are
enjoyed by the native people as they are in Alaska.

Perhaps a more comprehensive understanding can be had if one realizes
that Indians can be placed in perhaps three main categories:—

(a) There are Indians who boast of the fact that they are Indians, remain
Indians and will die as Indians. They insist on being wards of the

s

Bl 5 n



INDIAN ACT 767

government in the fullest sense and do not want any part of progress.
They are suspicious of any advancement from the past.

(b) There is a second group that want all the advantages of civilization
and progress. They want education and all the medical care that the
government has to offer, as well as other securities that come to them
on the reserve life, but they do not want to even consider the
responsibilities that these involve. They want to be carried along
“on flowery beds of ease”.

(¢) There is a third group that sees things just as they are. They appreciate
all the advantages of civilization and realize all progress has its price,
that the profits of civilization are fully appreciated only by those who
have had to face some of the responsibilities for it. This group comprises
the more virile type. They want to have all these advantages of civiliza-
tion and profit by its spiritual and material values. They also have
learned this means shouldering responsibility. They want the rights of
citizenship but do not wish to surrender their hereditary rights all in
one stroke.

Obviously it should be the objective of the Indians as well as the govern-
ment by all means at their disposal by way of education and otherwise to bring
all the Indians within the third category to the realization that to every right
there is a corresponding duty. Then a beginning can be made towards citizenship
followed by a transitionary period of probation towards ultimate citizenship.

5. Eligibility to Vote in Dominion Elections

Eligibility of Indians to vote in dominion elections should be granted under
the conditions outlined above.

6. Encroachment on Indian Reserves

So long as Indian reserves are what they are, it is unreasonable for white
persons to encroach on them. ;

7. Day and Residential Schools

Eduecation of Indians at present is the sole responsibility of the federal
government; therefore, in conformity with the other educational practises in
Canada generally, Indian day and residential schools should be free from denom-
Inational jurisdiction. In British Columbia the B.C. curriculum should be used
exclusively and the supervision and inspection of the schools under the provineial
Inspectors, the cost of such supervision to be borne by the federal government.
Th(_a school age should be advanced to eighteen (18) years due to the broken
period of attendance occasioned by the casual geographical employment of the
parents. Where fathers have to leave home for their employment, the mothers
should be encouraged to remain at home and keep their children attending
school. Wherever possible the Indian children should be permitted to attend
the public schools and the per capita cost thereof paid by the federal government.
As a fundamental principle Indian children should be allowed to attend Canadian
public schools.

Residential schools should be maintained for pupils not within range of
the day schools and these schools should also be non-denominational. At Port
Alberni for instance, there is a large residential school which should include
high school facilities. If this particular school cannot be equipped and staffed
for high school education then the pupils should be allowed to reside there and
attend the regular high school. However, wherever possible the day school system
should be encouraged and day schools established.

. There are two salient features pertaining to schools and education generally
which should be stressed:—
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(a) The schools should be undenominational—The Indians appreciate
that at one time the entire cost of education was borne by the churches but
they believe that education being the sole responsibility of the federal govern-
ment under the law the federal government should exercise and implement this
responsibility into direct action.

At the present time the churches furnish part of the moneys expended on

education and the Indians are very grateful and appreciative thereof. If the
dominion government, assumed the cost then the churches would have additional
money to advance their ministry in additional social services and practical
benefits to the Indians. Education is the primary duty of the government and
not of the church and as such should be undenominational.

(b) Greater facilities and opportunity for -education.—The opportunity to
obtain high school and university education should be available more generally
for Indian youth. In isolated instances in British Columbia the Indian agent
has permitted Indians to attend the regular high schools but a great number of
deserving Indian students have been denied this privilege, that is, refused by
the Indian agent. What a situation this is when we consider that the Indian
agent is, in a sense, in control of the intellectual development of, and thereby
controlling, the destinies of a people, a race. No individual should be denied

the right of intellectual advancement at the behest of one man however benevo-

lent a despot he may appear to be. y

The time has certainly come for the government to inaugurate a higher
standard of training in the schools and employ more highly trained and
competent teachers. The need for more advanced vocational training is evident.,
There are many reasons for the government’s deficiency such as the difficulty in
obtaining white teachers to handle this more difficult work and to pay adequate
salaries therefor. The dominion government could and should aleviate this
problem by training Indian workers.

e Ve ey AR Tk S e b

There must of necessity be improved educational facilities. Tt should be,

the objective in Indian education to train Indian leaders and teachers, nurses
and others for work in the Indian communities. How then can this be done
without proper educational facilities?

It has been very difficult and in many instances impossible to get properly

trained white teachers and nurses to live in isolated areas. An Indian girl
trained as a nurse would feel quite at home at Kitamaat, for instance, whereas
a white girl nurse finds the district far too isolated and dreary. This illustration
is from actual experience. Why should there not be an adequate supply of
Indian nurses made available? = With proper educational facilities this would
soon be possible. The same applies to all branches of Indian education and
social service.

In British Columbia the educational situation is deplorable, as shown by
the following statistics:

According to evidence presented by Major D. M. MacKay, Commissioner
for Indian Affairs in British Columbia, to the Special Joint Committee of the
Senate and the House of Commons in June, 1946, 12,000 or nearly 50 per cent
of the Indian population of B.C. are 17 years of age or under. In the year
1945-1946 only 4,100 Indian children were enrolled in schools. Tt was estimated
by Major MacKay that approximately 1,200 Indian Children in B.C. were
receiving no education whatsoever. Of those enrolled, only 87 had reached
Grade VIII, while 142 were in Grade VII, 261 in Grade VI and 382 in Grade V*

" Only 24 Indian pupils were receiving high school education. There were 201
Indian pupils attending the elementary publie sehools of the Provinee.

Mr. CastuepeN: Before we leave that may we have one matter cleared up?
There seems to be slight difference. i
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The CuamrmaN: Mr. Castleden, I think you know the rules and procedure,
previously followed in this Committee.

Mr. Castoepen: I understand those, but I think there is a matter of
correction of figures. It is just that 12,000.

The Wrrness: 1,200.

The Cuammman: Is it your wish to have examination at this time?

Mr. CastLepEN: I do not want to examine him. It is merely a correction.

The Crmairman: Then would you point out the correction?

Mr. CastrepEN: It says 12,000 children.

The Wirness: 1.200.

The CuarrmMan: —“and the House of Commons in June, 1946, 12,000 or
nearly 50 per cent of the Indian population of B.C.”—and only 4,100 enrolled?

The Wirness: That is right.

Mr. CastuepeN: It would seem to me there would be 8,000 without
education, and you only have 1,200.

Mr. Raymonp: Some were under school age.

The Wrirness: I am simply quoting from the evidence given by Major
MacKay.

The CrArRMAN: Proceed.

The WITNESS:

8. OTHER MATTERS OR THINGS PERTAINING TO THE SOCIAL AND
ECONOMIC STATUS OF INDIANS AND THEIR ADVANCEMENTS

(a) Medical Care: According to the evidence given before the Joint
Committee in Ottawa, Dr. F. F. Tisdall of Toronto pointed out the fact that
the death rate from tuberculosis among the Indians of Manitoba in the vicinity
of Norway House was fifty times greater among the white people of that
province. Unless a better standard of health is reached and maintained, all
the efforts for advancement along other lines will be futile. Preventative medical
care should be more intensively carried out.

© (b) Umiformity of treatment and hospital costs: The medical care of
Indians is the responsibility of the dominion government. There is no legal
Instrument, acknowledging this, but as a fact it is admitted.

The government has established sanitariums for treatment of tuberculosis
but ordinary cases are assigned to general hospitals.

The doctor in charge of a case reports to the Indian agent and in many
cases the Indian agent has refused to allow cases to go to hospital. The doctor’s

~ Verdiet should be final in all cases in the interest of uniformity. In maternity

cases the Indian department pays for the first five days and patients have been
Prematurely discharged.

There are cases of specialized treatment but here again the matter is left to
the Indian agent. There should be a uniform practise adopted.

The Indian department has made a ruling that any Indian residing off the
reserve for a period of eighteen months is no longer entitled to medical

. assistance. This should be abrogated. Residence elsewhere may not be of

choice but an economic necessity.

~ (¢) Agriculture: The need for assistance in the field of agriculture generally

158 most urgent. Even after centuries of farming life, the white people find 1t
88163—2
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necssary to send their sons and daughters to obtain the most advanced

scientific training in farming, fruit growing and gardening. The Indians, who.

are just beginning this life, rieed more practical training along these lines. In
the farming areas of the coast and interior of British Columbia, the need of
better barns, irrigation and larger areas of lands for farming and grazing must
be met.

All Canadian universities have courses leading to the degree of Batchelor
of Scientific Agriculture. These educational facilities should be made available
for Indian students.

Special attention should be given by the Indian department to a study of
Indian rights under the “Water Act”. Indians have complained that they are
not getting their share of water. There are many contributing factors requiring
adjustment.

Assistance should be given to procure mechanical implements of farming.
Livestock of proper quality also should be established on Indian farms. This
should be done with the ultimate view of making the farms self-supporting.

(d) General cases should not go to a T.B. hospital for treatment.

(e) Samitation: The lack of proper sanitation in Indian homes undoubtedly
has been the cause of spreading of such diseases as tuberculosis and kindred
diseases.

(f) Housing: The need of better housing in the Indian villages, commu-
nities and settlements must receive very serious consideration. Standards should
be set forth and insisted upon for the relief of overcrowding and the provision for
sanitation. Carrying this into effect may mean a better appreciation of the
improvement of health generally, and family independence.

(g) Traplines: The restoration of traplines that have been used by Indians
formerly and now assigned to white trappers should be investigated with a view
to restoring them to proper holders.

It has been pointed out that prior to the time traplines had to be registered,
Indians had large areas available to them. In some instances Indian agents
have not advised the Indians of the necessity of registration. Before the Indians
became aware of the situation many trap lines had been taken up. Where trap
lines were known to have been the property of Indians these should be returned
to the Indian users. In some instances, trap lines have been repurchased for the
Indians. This practice should be carried out generally. !

(h) Appointments in the Indian Department: Priority equal to that given to
returned soldiers should be given to Indians who are applicants for appointment
in the Indian department and civil service. Inducement should be given to
Indians to train for such positions.

Civil service academic qualifications should be relaxed in favour of Indians
until such time as higher schools of learning are made available.

Returned soldiers priority in this branch of the civil service of Canada
defeats its own purpose. Proper qualification and practical experience should
not be sacrificed in too close a conformity with past practices and regulations.

. Canada could very well follow the example of the United States. There in

the Bureau of Indian Affairs a great percentage of the employees are Indians,
and this is as it should be in Canada. This may be a radical departure in Indian
administration in Canada but the Indians feel it has historical precedent and
would be beneficial in Canada.

(1) Committee to Revise the “Indian Act”: There should be Indian repre-
sentation to assist in the framing and drafting of the actual amendments deemed
necessary. Legal counsel should be employed as well to represent the Indians.
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(7) Indian Department: A separate department of Indian Affairs should be
formed in Ottawa with its own minister in charge. Indian agents should be
directly responsible to this department in Ottawa rather than to provincial
commissioners, which office should be abolished.

Too often carefully developed plans for local improvements, prepared after
exhaustive consideration and application by individual Indian agents never reach
Ottawa for deliberation.

The appointment of the personnel of the Indian department should be kept
above the realm of party politics. Proper qualification and integrity should be
deciding factors.

. (k) Indian Lands: Compensation should be made for lands and timber areas
alienated from the Indians. Reference should be made to paragraph 3 (a) herein.
he same argument is applicable.

(L) Self government..Self government in directing the affairs of the village
should be more fully in the hands of the councils, and the appointment of councils
must be encouraged. In large areas in British Columbia there are no councils.
Government is accomplished through chiefs.

Where it is the unanimous opinion of the village or band concerned to spend
money out of the band funds for improvement in the village life, the Indian agent
or the commissioner of Indian Affairs should comply with the wishes of the band
and not, exercise his veto power.

(m) Industry:

(1) The establishment of industries, such as fur farming, canneries and
Sawmills, should be encouraged and assisted on a co-operative basis.

(2) Indian fishermen should be given assistance to obtain seine boats, and
Where necessary, other fishermen should be assisted in obtaining boats and fishing
gear. The more progressive Indians requiring capital to engage in fishing,
barticularly seine fishing, are at the mercy of the large fishing corporations.

(n) Welfare: So long as the Indian department assumes full responsibility
for the social welfare and medical care of Indians, there should be no diseri-
mination because of residence which is mostly dictated by economic necessity.
Further to Paragraph 8 (a) discharged and out-patients of hospitals should
receive additional care and assistance.

(o) Indian Act: There are many very fine features of the Indian Act which
are protective and beneficial to the Indians.

(p) Band Funds and tribal funds should be strictly under control of the
band and tribe.

(@) Old Age Pensions for Indians should be granted to Indians and on the
Same basis as other citizens.

It would add to the dignity and personal worth of the Indians to receive
regular old age pension payments rather than spasmodic paltry pittances.

(r) Relief should be the same as allowed by the provincial government.

(s) Returned Soldiers: It is gratifying to notice that the native Indian
returned soldier is treated with the same consideration as other returned men.
The spirit of this policy should be continued.

Statistics show that on a per capita basis the Indian population was very
well represented for overseas service. The Indians did their full share in every
area of actual combat service in all branches of the service of their country. The
Indians volunteered for active service. They did not stop to ponder what
1(llea,nada had done for them much less question what benefits- the future would

old.
88163—23
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The Indians have an innate sense and spirit of patriotism. Could not the
dominion government encourage this in peace time by extending to them a
greater participation in this great Canada of ours?

All of which is respectfully submitted.

This brief is submitted by the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia,
pursuant to resolution passed at the 17th Convention thereof held at Massett,
British Columbia, on or about the 31st day of March, A.D. 1947, and is executed
and presented by its official representatives on its behalf; namely, Chief William
Scow, Reverend Peter R. Kelly and Mr. Guy R. Williams, and Mr. Thomas
Gosnell.

Dated at the city of Vancouver, in the province of British Columbia, this
28th day of April, A.D. 1947.

NATIVE BROTHERHOOD OF BRITISH COLUMBIA.

“Caier WiLLiam Scow”,
President.

“Rev. PerEr R. KELLY”,
Chawrman of Legislative Committee.

“Guy R. WiLLiams”,
Representative of Unaffiliated Indians
of British Columbia.

The CuarrMAN: Thank you very much, Mr. Kelly. There is one matter

to which I think I should refer at the moment. It is where you say, in 8 (i):

There should be Indian representation to assist in the framing and

drafting of the actual amendments deemed necessary, and legal counsel
should be employed.

Mr. Norman Lickers, who is a duly qualified barrister and solicitor in the
province of . Ontario and a member of the Six Nations Council at Brantford,
is the liaison officer and counsel for this committee. Unfortunately, last night
Mr. Lickers had a call from his home that his father is very seriously ill and
he had to leave on the midnight train. That is the only reason he is not
here to-day, but I can assure you that Mr. Lickers has been here, as you can
see from the minutes of proceedings, and is in attendance at all meetings of
the subcommittee on the revision of the Act and, as a matter of fact, at all
other subcommittee meetings with respect to agenda and procedure, treaty

rights and obligations, and education. If it is your pleasure we will now proceed

with the next delegate, Chief William Scow.
Mr. MacNicoL: I think that is the best thing to do.

Chief William Scow, called.

The CuArMAN: Probably I might ask you a few preliminary questions.

Possibly other members of the committee might also like to ask you some
preliminary questions.

By the Chairman:
Q. You are the chief of what band?—A. Kwicksutaineuk.
The Craamman: Mr. Gibson, do you know how that is spelled?

By Mr. Gibson:
Q. Where is it?—A. It is at Gilford Island.
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By the Chairman:

Q\. Chief, perhaps you can spell it?—A. K-w-i-c-k-s-u-t-a-i-n-e-u-k.

Q. You are the chief of that band, and how long have you been the chief?—
A. Since the death of my late father.

Q. It is under the hereditary system?—A. Yes.

Q. When did your father die?—A. 1934.

Q. You are the president of the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia?
—A. Yes.

Q. When were you elected president?—A. I was re-elected at the last
convention.

Q. When were you first elected to the presidency?—A. 1946.

Q. You were re-clected w A. Last March.

Rev. Mr. Kenny: 1945.

By the Chairman:

. You were elected first in 19457—A. Yes.

. And you were re-elected in 1946?—A. Yes.

. Were you re-elected again in 1947?7—A. Yes.

. Then you hold office for a one year term?—A. One year term.

. You have been re-elected for two successive terms?—A. Yes.

. So that you are holding office for three consecutive years?—A. Yes.
. Would you mind telling us approximately how old you are?—A. 44.

. And you have lived in British Columbia all your life?—A. All my life.
. What is your occupation?—A. Fishing.

. You are a fishermen. How large a band is this one you refer to?—A.
It is not very large. It is a small band

The CuaRMAN: Are there any other preliminary questions you would
care to put to the witness?

Mr. MacNrcorL: You would not want to take time to ask the chief about
the hereditary system?

The Cuairman: Can we go into that afterwards?
Mr. Brackmore: Can he tell us how long he has been a fisherman?

@8@@@@@@@@

By the Chairman:
Q. How long have you been a fisherman?—A. Ever since I was able to fish.

By My, MacNicol:

Q. What kind of boat do you fish with?—A. Both types, gill net and also
seine boat.:

By Mr. Gibson:

Q. Mr. Scow, at what age were you first takmg your full place on a
boat? When did you first begin to take a man’s share—A. Rather than an
assistant?

" Q. Rather than just a helper. How old were you then?—A. I would sa,y
I was about 9 years old.

Q When you got your first full man’s share?—A. No, it was not a full
man’s share. I was just an assistant.

Q. How old would you be when you finally got a full share?—A. I would
say I was 15, using gill nets.

The CramrmaN: If there are no further preliminary questlons would you

like to make your presentation now‘?
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By Mr. Castleden:
Q. I should like to ask him this question. You were fishing when you
were 9 years old?—A. I was fishing with an older brother, of course.
Q. What opportunity did you have for an education?—A. Never had very
much. ’ :
Q. How long did you attend school?—A. I would say I attended what in
those days they called the “industrial school” for about two years.

By Mr. Gibson:
Q. Where was that?—A. That was Alert Bay.

The CHarMAN: I think we are now getting beyond the point of pre-

liminary questions.
Mr. Castuepen: I think it is very valuable information.

By the Chairmah.:
Q. Would you care to proceed, chief?—A. We have presented our brief here.

We are an organization. I do not think there is anything that I could say .

further to substantiate the brief which the organization has presented. It has
been deliberated upon and agreed upon by the majority of our members.
The CuarmAN: Thank you very much, chief. Probably when we get to the
period of questioning we will put some questions to you and you might well
come forward then. You will probably be able to make some very valuable
answers. If that is all we will ask the next witness to come forward.

Guy Williams, called.

By the Chairman.:

Q. Mr. Williams, you are a resident of British Columbia?—A. I am a
resident of British Columbia, sir.

Q. And I believe you are a member of the Native Brotherhood of British
Columbia?—A. I am a member of that organization.

Q. And would you mind telling us your age?—A. 39 to be exact.

Q. You mean this is your birthday? Is that right?—A. Very very close.

Q. I wondered. You said “to be exact”, and I wondered if this was your
birthday. What is your occupation?—A. For the past three years I have been
the business agent of the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia. I am a fisher-
man and a construction worker in the past, also a boat builder.

Q. You are now the business agent?—A. I have been the business agent
until the last 1947 convention. .

Q. Have you travelled extensively throughout British Columbia?—A. I
have travelled quite extensively in that province brought on by the.fact of the
nature of the work as business agent for that organization.

Q. Would you tell us what parts of British Columbia you have travelled
in among the Indian population?—A. From Kamloops down to the vicinity of
Vancouver, from boundary to boundary as far as the coast is concerned, including
the entire coast of Vancouver Island, east and west, the Queen Charlotte Islands,
the Skeena river, and its upper reaches to the edges of the Babine agency.

Q. Have you travelled in any other parts of British Columbia into the
interior?—A. I have been to Prince George but I have not actually come in
contract with the problems of the Indians around Prince George other than
what they have told me. I have not actually seen the conditions in their living
quarters on their reserves. I have contacted them in the city of Prince George.

Q. What scholastic education did you receive?—A. Whether you could
call it scholastic I do not know. :

B e
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Q. Going to school. What school did you attend?—A. Altogether I think
barely over four years, and a large period of that four years was under the
half-day system.

Q. What school did you attend?—A. I attended Coquelitza from late
1919 to June, 1923, on the half-day system. In the last term it was probably
only about 10 per cent of,the time I attended school due to the fact I was ill.

Q. You are now a business agent?—A. I have been the business agent of
the Native Brotherhood.

Q. Have you travelled in the northern part of the province?—A. As far
north as the Nass river territory.

Q. Is that the extreme north?—A. That is only a few miles from the
Alaskan boundary.

Q. In all these places where you have travelled have you consulted with
the Indian population in that particular area?—A. Yes. That was part of my
work, to consult them and to see for myself conditions as they actually existed.

The CuAIRMAN: Are there any other preliminary questions members of
the committee would like to ask?

By Mr. Blackmore:

Q. Was that the work of the business agent? Was that what the business
agent was appointed for?—A. That is one phase of the business agent’s work.
The other phase was negotiating and drawing up agreements for our rank and
file who were engaged in the fishing industry. ]

By Mr. Gibson:

Q. From what village do you come?—A. Kitimat, close to Prince Rupert.

Q. Why did you attend for only four years? Were there any other educa-
tional facilities available to you?—A. Economic reasons, as far as my parents
Wwere concerned.

Q. Was there any residential school at Kitimat?—A. There was a school
- there at that time known as a home, and only a limited number were admitted,
and they held boys only until 10 or 12. T am not sure whether it was 12. That
school has been closed for a number of years now.

Q. How did you happen to get down to Coquelitza? Did you or your
barents apply to the Indian agent?—A. I cannot say how I got down there.
I was just sent down there by my parents. That is as much as I know.

. The CaAlRMAN: I might observe that I think you have made very valuable
‘use of the four years you did put in at school.

The Wirngss: I got my eighth grade.

By the Chairman:

Q. You got to the eighth grade in four years?—A. Yes.

Mr. Raymonp: Might I remark that all these questions are rather personal,
and I do not believe they amount to much.

The CuARMAN: It is merely as a foundation to find out what knowledge
this witness has as to the Indian population.

Mr. BuackMmore: It helps us to be acquainted with him, too.

The Cuarman: We want to have the witness feel at ease before the
committee.

Mr. MacNicon: The witness has travelled very extensively and appar-
ently has a keen grasp of the conditions on the reservations which he visited.
I should like him to express himself as to suggestions he would like to make
Whereby the committee might be encouraged to improve the lot of the Indians.
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The CmamMan: If you will permit him I think he wants to make his
presentation. We will question him later.

Mr. MacNicon: All right.

The Caamrman: If there are no further questions would you care to proceed,
Mr. Williams?

The Wirness: Following the request by your committee to the organization
known as the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia that they appoint a
representative for the unaffiliated groups, at their last convention, which took
place only a few weeks ago, I was appointed as such delegate by that con-
vention.

By Mr. Raymond:

Q. What convention?—A. The convention of the Native Brotherhood of
British Columbia—to choose a delegate to represent the unaffiliated groups.
When I refer to unaffiliated groups, I feel that unaffiliated groups are the
natives or residents on the reserves along the territory of the entire coast, the
upper reaches of the Skeena, the Skeena itself, the Naas, and also parts of
the Fraser. They are actually people who are interested in the Native Brother-
hood and are favourable to the Native Brotherhood but are not progressive
to the point where they will actually support every movement of the organiza-
tion, as you heard the chairman of the Indian Brotherhood legislative com-
mittee state.

I have no written submission to make, due to the fact I am a signatory
to the brief of the Native Brotherhood. I will relate to you some of the things
I have seen existing amongst our people, if you will permit me.

The Cuamman: We would be very happy to hear you.

The Wirness: In those three years, gentlemen, I have seen some conditions
that are difficult for some people to believe—conditions that they cannot
believe actually exist in this big country. I have seen poverty in its worst
form amongst our people. True, there are others who are able to make a good
living for themselves and their families; but on the other hand there are con-
ditions that must be made right, and I feel that it is the duty of this committee.
to know those conditions as they exist to-day and to make it possible for
those conditions to be righted. To right those conditions in three years I have
been associated with our Brotherhood I have come to the conclusion that
education is the answer. It will lead to better health; it will lead to the
condition whereby these people all acquire an education; it will lead to an
objective whereby they will compete on an equal footing with other nationals
in this country. The present system has to be corrected. There has to be a
wider system; a system that will result in a situation whereby the administra-
tion of the affairs of our people will be put on a more understanding basis.
When 1 say a more understanding basis I mean that the country, the publie,
governments, will understand and know the Indians better. They will under-
stand his problems, and by understanding his problems I believe that in a very
short period of time the Indian will be accepted by the public on an equal
footing.

While out on the coast of British Columbia the natives are a little more
fortunately situated, I believe, as they are engaged in one of Canada’s largest
industries—the fishing industry—I want to point out at this moment that I do
not know of a single instance where any of the 3,000 Indian fishermen have
had any assistance from the Indian Affairs Branch. Yet, we are a charge
of the department.

I have listened to the educational references in the brief. I want to use
that word “education” over and over again to impress upon your minds that
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it is*important. It is the feeling of every Indian parent that the school system
should be changed and be brought into line with the requirements of a particular
province, and that education be taken from the denominations which, at the
present time, we feel are retarding the progress of the Indians. That has been
brought about largely by the factor that the grant has never been big enough.
I say that now, and I admit it. Education, gentlemen, is the answer to the
Indian’s problem. It will lead him into professions; it will lead him into trades;
1t will lead to a situation where the Indian will be self-sustaining. A large
number of Indians need assistance in the building of their homes. Some of you
gentlemen have seen some of the good homes of Indians—I am referring to the
British Columbia members—but I believe also that they have seen some of
the shacks, the deplorable struetures where some of our unfortunate people live.
These conditions must be righted. We are an asset to this country; that has
een proven from time to time. We must be accepted as an asset by the people
and by the government. These conditions may be hard for some of you
gentlemen to visualize, but they do exist. Only recently I was told by one of
the vice-presidents of the Native Brotherhood about a man living on the west
coast of Vancouver Island travelling forty-five miles in a small fishing boat to
& city where there was a hospital, and the doctor who was appointed by the
I_Ildlan Affairs Branch told him to come back the following Saturday. He told
hll}ltt-hat after he had travelled forty-five miles on the sea. Such conditions
exist,

I was also told only a few days ago about a territory where there are
facilities of every description and where one can go a good many miles in a
Very short time of an Indian who took sick and went to the doctor appointed
Vv the Indian Affairs Branch the doctor said he was too busy although it would
have taken him only a few minutes in his car to go and see the sick Indian.

Mr. MacNicon: What did the doctor say?

The Wirness: He was too busy. I will come to that later. He went to
See the doctor twice. The doctor may have been too busy, but he went a week
ater and, gentlemen, he was just in time for the funeral. Those are the condi-
tions that exist among our people; yet we are the charge of your government
through that particular department.

On the other hand, gentlemen, there is a brighter side to the picture,
barticularly on the coast and in some instances in the interior. Some of our
beople are quite progressive; some of them own large boats outright; some of
hem have fairly good farms: but they had to use a pick and a shovel to acquire
those good farms, whereas other nationals in this country can go to the bank
and get the money. Our people do not have that privilege—particularly in
: ritish Columbia. Assistance must be given whereby we can acquire help for
uilding up industries and building up farms. Good farms must be made more
general. The fact remains that there are some natives who are industrious yet
Wh(} cannot get ahead because they cannot compete on an equal footing, and no
assistance has been made available for them so to compete.

Farming has now become a mechanical operation. It requires heavy
machinery to clear some of the B.C. lands. They have to have that machinery
available if the Indian is going to survive, and assistance must be made available
48 s00n as possible or conditions will be worse than they are now.

. Industrialization is a factor that the Indian can make use of to-day, if he is
glven an opportunity. He is not given that opportunity now and the result is
that large timber stands belonging to the Indians have been sold to corporations
When the Indian himself, through proper assistance, would have benefited more
tom the little resources he has on the land that was allotted to him, namely,,
he reserves. That has not been possible—particularly in the coast regions of

ritish Columbia.
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Now, I would say a word with regard to taxation. I have subsecribed to our

brief, but I will go further-than that. I want to point out one instance. We
have been given to understand that there is a ruling that there is no taxation
of the Indian providing he makes his living on the reserve—providing he earns
his money on the reserve or that he gets his income on the reserve. Now, an
Indian goes out to sea and gets his catch in non-territorial waters; he comes in
and delivers his catch to a fish processing plant situated on an Indian reserve;
but he has been made to pay taxes on this particular catch, on those particular.
deliveries to the plant on the Indian reserve. :
I do not think I will take up much more of your time. The gentleman to
my right, here, (Mr. Hoey), has asked me what proportion of the catch of
salmon in British Columbia the natives hold from 3,000 licences—between 3,500
and 3,700 licences. I have been very close to what the salmon industry terms:
their Salmon Canners Operating Committee. I have negotiated with them for =
three years and have been chairman of the negotiating committee not only of the

Native Brotherhood but also chairman of the joint committee of the union— |

the fishermen’s umion, which is a white organization—and our organization.
I shall not refer to statisties, but I have made a public statement on more than
one occasion and consulted a certain chairman of a certain committee whose
name I shall not divulge, and I will say that the Indian is responsible for more
than 50 per cent of the entire salmon catch on the Pacific coast of Canada. We
are also engaged in all lines of fisheries. That is the contribution of the Indian
fisherman to that industry.

Mr. MacNicor: Do they do any processing themselves?
The Wrrness: Not exactly, although there is a co-op cannery on the north

end of the Queen Charlotte Islands where the Indians themselves process the

salmon. But they actually process shellfish in the winter. There are a few |
outside members—what they term outside members—white people who live in
that particular territory, and they belong to that co-op. While we have our
natives out there who own their own boats, there is a portion of that industry
where our native fishermen are beginning to play quite a major role and that i8
what they term the live bait industry for the halibut fishermen. They catch
the herring and keep them alive in pounds or ponds. To that extent they have
a.}rl_lywhere up to 300 or 400 tons in holdings at one time, but that only lasts &
short time. ‘

The CrarrmaN: Would you permit an interruption at this point?
The Wirness: I will welcome any interruptions.

The CramrMAN: The committee sits from 11 till 1 o’clock, and it is now
exactly 1 o’clock. It is suggested that we have two meetings tomorrow. BY
not sitting this afternoon we will give our members a chance to digest the brief
that has been presented this morning by the Rev. Mr. Kelly on behalf of the
Native Brotherhood. I might also say that our attendance today is rather
small because of the rather strenuous day which members had yesterday as
members of the House of Commons. If it is your pleasure we will meet twice
tomorrow.

Mr. MacNicon: This meeting has been very interesting, and I hope that
these witnesses, particularly the Rev. Mr. Kelly and Mr. Williams, will be heard
again. They can explain so many things.

The CuamrMAN: We will have them with us for four hours tomorrow, and
members can ask any questions they like,

The committee adjourned to meet on Friday, May 2, 1947, at 11 a.m.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or CoMMmons,

Frmay, 2nd May, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to continue and complete the examination and consideration of the
Indian Act (Chapter 98, R.S.C., 1927), and all such other matters as have been
referred to the said Committee, met this day at 11 o’clock a.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P. (Joint Chairman).
Present :

The Senate: The Honourable Senators Fallis, Macdonald (Cardigan),
cKeen, Paterson and Taylor.—5.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Blackmore, Brown, Case, Castleden,
Farquhar, Gibson (Comozx-Alberni), MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon), (Vice
Chairman), Raymond (Wright), Reid.—10.

In attendance: (Department of Mines and Resources) Messrs. W. J. Ford
Pratt and C. W. Jackson; (Indian Affairs Branch) Messrs. R. A. Hoey, Director;
D. M. MacKay, Commissioner, British Columbia; T. R. L. MacInnes, Secretary;
B. F. Neary, M.B.E., Superintendent, Welfare and Training; P. N. L. Phelan;
H. M. Jones, Supervisor, Family Allowances; G. Patrick; C. A. F. Clark,
Educational Surveys Officer; J. W. McKinnon, E.S.0., NW.T.; Dr. P. E. Moore;
Indian Medical Services;

Also Rev. Dr. G. Dorey, Secretary, Board of Home Missions, The United
Church of Canada; Reverend Father J. O. Plourde, O.M.L.

. Mr. Reid, by leave of the Committee, on a point of privilege, made a correc-
tion to press reports with regard to a statement he was alleged to have made
I committee.

The Chairman informed the Committee that owing to the death of his
father, Mr. Norman E. Lickers, Barrister, Counsel for the Commiittee and
Liaison Officer, would be absent. It was agreed that the Clerk should send him
4 message conveying the sincere sympathy of the committee in his sad bereave-
ment,

Mr. Guy Williams, representing the unaffiliated Indians of British Columbia,
Was recalled and concluded his statement.

Mr. Thomas Gosnell, Port Simpson, B.C., was called and made a statement.

On motion of Mr. Reid, seconded by Mr. Gibson, it was
Resolved: That the subcommittee on agenda consider and report later on
he matter of payment of the usual witness fee and expenses to Mr. Gosnell,
Particularly in view of his very valuable contribution to the deliberations of
e Committee.

The Committee adjourned at 1.05 p.m. to meet again this day at 4.00 p.m.

779
88588—1}



780 SPECIAL JOINT COMMITTEE

AFTERNOON SESSION
The Committee resumed at 4.00 p.m.
Presiding: The Joint Chairman, Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P.
Present:
The Senate: The Honourable Senator Fallis.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Blackmore, Brown, Case, Castleden,
Farquhar, Gibson (Comoz-Alberni), Harkness, MacNicol, Matthews (Brandon)
(Vice-Chairman), Raymond (Wright), Reid—11.

In attendance: (From Indian Affairs Branch): Messrs. Hoey, MacKay,
MacInnes, Neary, Jones and Patrick.

Mr. Gosnell was recalled and questioned, as were Messrs. Scow, Kelly and
Williams.

The Committee adjourned at 6.15 p.m., to meet again this evening ab
9.00 p.m.

EvENING SESSION

The Committee resumed at 9.00 p.m.

Presiding: Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., Joint Chairman.
Present:

The Senate: Nil.

The House of Commons: Messrs. Blackmore, Brown, Case, Castleden,
Farquhar, Gibson (Comoz-Alberni), Harkness, Matthews (Brandon) (Vice
Chairman), Reid.—9.

In attendance: (From Indian Affairs Branch) : Messrs. MacInnes, MacKay,
Jones, Patrick; Dr. P. E. Moore; (From Department of Mines and Resources) :

Messrs. W. J. Ford Pratt and C. W. Jackson; also Mr. James Sinclair, M.P.

Statement supplementing matters contained in the brief of the Native
Brotherhood of British Columbia were made by Messrs. Kelly, Scow and
Williams, and there were questions thereon.

The delegates expressed themselves as satisfied with the hearing they had
been given and for the opportunity of being heard by the Committee and were
thanked by the Chairman for the very splendid presentation they had made and
for their valuable assistance to the Committee.

Mr. Gibson, M.P. (Conwx—Alberm"), spoke a word of “appreciation for the
very able manner in which this very distinguished British Columbia delegation
presented the case for the B.C. coast Indians.”

The Committee then adjourned at 10.15 p.m., to meet again on Monday
next, May 5, at 11 o’clock am. ~

T. L. McEVOY,
Clerk of the Joint Committee.




MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House or CoMMONS,
May 2, 1947.

The Special Joint Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons
appointed to examine and consider the Indian Act, met this day at 11.00 a.m.
Mr. D. F. Brown, M.P., (Joint Chairman) presided.

The CuHammMAN: Senator Fallis and gentlemen, can we come to order?

Mr. Rem: Mr. Chairman, I would like to raise a question of privilege.

The Cuamrman: Yes, Mr. Reid.

Mr. Rem: I appreciate with respect to what we say in committee that
Sometimes the press are not always able to print all of it, and I believe they
always try to be fair. My question of privilege is this; I received a com-
Mmunication yesterday from the local council in my district representing the

oman Catholic organization who state that the press report me as having
Sald in this committee that I was absolutely opposed to religion being taught
In schools. I do want to say, Mr. Chairman, that I have made no such
Statement as that in this committee. Any statement I do make I am prepared
to back up. I think it is most unfair that a member of this committee should
be accused, especially by the press, of having made a statement which he did
not make, and I want my correction noted in the record; that I did not, and
have not made any such statement.

The CuAmrMmAN: Thank you, Mr. Reid. That will be duly noted.

Yesterday I referred briefly to the absence of our counsel and liaison
officer, Mr. Lickers. Since then I have received a telegram from him advising
me and this committee that his father passed on yesterday afternoon. On behalf
of this committee I request that the clerk convey to Mr. Lickers our sympathy,
In appropriate form, and a sincere expression of our deep sympathy and regret
at this time.

Yesterday we were dealing with the presentation of Mr. Williams. We will
continue with his presentation. Mr. Williams, will you come forward, please.

‘Mr. Guy Williams, recalled:

The Cmamman: It is understood that Mr. Williams will continue his
Presentation until he has completed it, and then will retire so that we may
hear Mr. Gosnell; and on completion of Mr. Gosnell’s presentation we will have
Questioning of all four witnesses. Are you prepared to continue, Mr. Williams?

Mr. Winniams: Yes, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman and honourable gentlemen, again I want to thank you for
the privilege of making statements before your committee. Yesterday I referred
to conditions which exist among the natives with whom I have come in contact
In my travels as business agent and organizer. This morning I will try to be

rief because I have covered most of the ground yesterday.

These conditions are brought about by the fact, in my mind, of lack of
Proper administration. That could have been prevented. It could have been
& better picture, if the department, those in charge of the Indians had been more
Sympathetic and trained men. The result through lack of trained personnel is
that the Indian is a displaced person. He is not free according to the accepted
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interpretation of the term “freedom” as applied to a democratic country. He
1s segregated. He has a little piece of land to which the regulations of the
Indian Act bind him. He cannot actually do as he wishes because he is &
minor. This must be righted so that he will become a free man. He is still
under the Indian Act which was written about a century ago. There have been
only a few amendments to that Act and when those amendments were made
the Indian was not consulted; yet he is considered at times when it is to the
benefit of the country as a man or as a person of equal footing. He is paying
taxes. He is fighting for the freedom of the country in time of war. He should
benefit along the same lines as other citizens of the country benefit, because
he is doing his part for this country.

_ There are many injustices. For instance many of the boys volunteered in
this past war as in the first world war. When they came back, those who
were fortunate enough to come back, they did not enjoy what other
veterans enjoy. Boys whom I personally know after they have been accepted
on equal footing in the fighting forces of the country and accepted on equal
grounds in the other countries, when they come back to Canada are set back
into that segregated group, namely, a plot of ground on their own Indian reserve;
they are pushed out of beer parlours; they have learned to enjoy the privileges
which other veterans enjoyed .in the other countries. This should not be.
He has fought on equal grounds. He has faced the same dangers. This must
be righted. If there are any special grants of any deseription which veterans
are going to enjoy in this country the Indian veteran must enjoy them in equal
amount. I believe in my own mind that he is not enjoying that to-day.

You heard in the brief that was read yesterday about the death rate in
some parts of Canada as a result of T.B., about its being very high. There
must be preventive methods made available; not only for T.B., but for all
other communicable diseases, particularly the social disease commonly referred
to as V.D.; there must be preventive methods made available to the Indian
population of Canada. There must be proper assistance made available so the
Indian can be self-supporting within his own reserve and outside, if necessary. -
He is capable of performing duties or running a business or following a trade
if he gets the proper training. Even those who have not had this training have
made an example to be looked upon by this committee, particularly on the coast
in British Columbia; and there are some in the interior who have proven
themselves capable of earning their livelihood or running a business of their
own.

While I realize there is a revolving fund in the Department of Indian Affairs
I have heard many of our Indian people questioning the use of this revolving
fund; as a matter of fact, some of them say that it is revolving so fast that they
cannot get their fingers in it. It can be used only with securities. In the prov-
ince of British Columbia due to the fact that we have no treaties we are unable
to raise the security such as is available in the central and eastern provineces.
This, I believe has been of some assistance to them, the revolving fund. T know
of only one instance in British Columbia where one of our own people has made
use of this revolving fund, but he had the security. Some sort of fund must l{e
available to industrialize the natives in that part of Canada. If the Indian 18
going to be able to maintain and raise his health standards he must be able, the
privilege must be given to him, to go to any doctor when necessary. I believe
in my own mind that if this was made possible or if it had been possible in the
past many of our Indians would not have gone to the happy hunting grounds.
Regulations and restrictions are too many when it comes to the matter of health.

T have been questioned while I was in office for our organization by many of
our members and non-members: where is this $100,000 per annum going t0;
how is it to be spent; how are we benefiting by it? This $100,000 fund was given
to the B.C. allied tribes in 1927 in lieu of annuities. I think it will be only fair
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for the government of Canada through the department to make an accounting
of this $100,000 over the past twenty years. By making an accounting it would
give our native people confidence in your government.

Our Indians in B.C. do not want to be harmed any more by the new Act
that is forthcoming. I may say as further fact that the Indians in British Col-
umbia have no treaties with the exception of one or two small groups. In the
province of British Columbia the Indians of British Columbia have never
surrendered their title.

My criticism of your committee at this moment is this: To me it seems
from what I have read on the record as far as the Indian Affairs Branch is con-
cerned, it seems that your committee is taking evidence only from the senior
personnel, I would recommend to your committee that you get evidence from
some Indian. agents who have been in service for twenty years or more. Your
committee will benefit by that and the Indians will benefit directly by your
getting evidence from men who have been in service and in contact with our
Indians over long periods of time. They will give you evidence that will be
very, very valuable. I know one man who has been in the service for a long
tlnle: He has done much among the Indians in the province of British Columbia,
and in some cases even in the Yukon territory. Many of them come to his office

‘1o get medical attention in the city of Vancouver. I believe the man is now

~

Superannuated. His name is F. C. Ball. I believe two or three of those who
ave administered directly to the Indians and are in contact with them will give
You very, very valuable evidence.

. There are many things that I could go into but I believe that it is only
right that I should cover those major points, as I believe you already have
evidence enough in small detailed matters.

The feeling of the Indians as a whole, in spite of the fact that there is dis-
trust and disunity among all the Indians of Canada; in the back of their minds
they are looking forward to this new Act, that it will liberate them, that it will
be an advancement; that their children will actually benefit by it. The Indians
were not, consulted when the Indian Act was written nearly a century ago and it
18 my opinion that your government has taken the right step by getting together
members from all parties to receive evidence whereby a new Act can be written
that will be fair to the Indian. There is far too much of this discrimination. I
think your committee appreciates the many difficulties that the Native Brother-
hood of British Columbia has gone through in the past seventeen years to organ-
1ze our people in British Columbia. I think this organization is of great value

your committee and to the government. It has made it a little easier to get

evidence. .

In conclusion I want to stress that I feel deep in my heart that T am repre-
senting the unaffiliated groups because I have covered the greater part of
British Columbia in the past three years I know the problems of different
districts and different groups. I also know that it is very difficult for your
committee to try to select or appoint or have appointed a native to represent the
unaffiliated groups. They live in different territories. Their environments are
d‘lf_‘feren’c. They are scattered. I want to thank you, hon. gentlemen, for the
privilege of making these statements before you. I honestly hope that as a result
of your work our people will be liberated. I thank you.

The CmammaN: Thank you very much. At this point I might point out
to the committee, following the statement by Mr. Williams that there has been
o accounting given of moneys entrusted to the Indian department, that if they
refer to page 510 of the 1946 minutes they will see that a complete statement of
the Indian trust fund for the fiscal year 1943-44 is given. That was the last that
Was then available.

Mr. Castuepen: Was that given to the Indians? You said it was given.
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_ The CramrMaN: It appears on the minutes. I did not say where it was
given.

Mr. CastLepen: It was given to the committee?

The CHATRMAN: It is now in the minutes of this committee.

Mr. Brackmore: Does it specifically state that the $100,000 in question . . .

The CHARMAN: I am merely referring you to the Indian trust fund as of
1943-44. 1 merely refer that to you. When the time comes for questions you
will have the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses.

Mr. Hogy: I do not think Mr. Williams had exactly that fund in mind. The
parliamentary committee of 1926 after due deliberation decided that $100,000
should be set apart annually in lieu of treaty payments in the prairie provinces,
but I would be surprised if there was a single Indian in British Columbia—
including Mr. Williams—who does not know exactly how every cent of that is
spent because it is patent to everybody: vocational instruction, medical care.

; The CrARMAN: I do not think we should get into any discussion at this
stage.

Mr. Hoey: I am anxious that it should not be mixed up with the trust fund.

The CrmamrMAN: This is only the trust fund account at page 510. I see.

The WirNEss: Mr. Chairman, at this moment I have just realized I should
offer my apologies to hon. Mrs. Fallis because I did not notice her before.

Mr. CaamemaN: I think she will accept your apologies. Mr. Gosnell, would
you come forward?

Thomas Gosnell, called.

By the Chairman:

Q. Mr. Gosnell, I believe you are a member of the Native Brotherhood of
British Columbia?—A. Yes, I am.

Q. And how long have you lived in British Columbia?—I was born in
British Columbia.

Q. How long ago?—A. Fifty-five years.

Q. You are a member of what band?—A. It is rated as the Tsimshian band.

Q. Where do you live?—A. At Port Simpson.

Q. Is that in the north, south or interior of British Columbia?—A. I think
it is really the last Indian village before the border of Alaska.

Q. You are from the north?—A. Yes, about 20 miles north of Prince Rupert.

Q. You do not come from the same part of the country as Rev. Mr. Kelly
and Chief Scow?—A. I think Mr. Scow comes from the south coast. I think Mr.
Williams is from the central coast around the Kitamaat area, and I think Mr.
Kelly comes from the Queen Charlotte Islands.

Q. You are from the north?—A. I am from the north.

Q. How long have you been a member of the native Brotherhood?—A. I was
one of the founders of the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia.

Q. When was it founded?—A. I think it is in the year 1930.

Q. Can you tell us any feasible way, or shall I say any simple way, of
obtaining representation from the unaffiliated organizations or unaffiliated
Indians of British Columbia?—A. Yes. :

Q. How?—A. During the period of seventeen years that we have organized
‘the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia there are some villages that join
the organization for maybe one or two years and they drop out again, and some
more villages would come in. Hence in British Columbia we find what we call
unaffiliated villages. Yet they were at one time actual members of the
Brotherhood.

e
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Q. Then you feel that your organization could fairly well represent the
unaffiliated Indians?—A. I think so to the best of my belief.

The CuARMAN: Are there any other questions that the members would
like to put?

Mr. Farquuar: I understood Mr. Williams to say he represented the
unaffiliated Indians fairly well throughout the province.

Mr. MacNicon: He is quite capable of representing any organization.

Mr. Farquuar: I was wondering if we could get any better representation
than what he has made.

By Mr. Castleden: :
Q. T should like to ask how many members you have from the Cariboo
area?—A. I think the business agent can tell you that. ;
Rev. Mr. Kerny: The Cariboo section is represented in our organization.

e have a vice-president there by the name of William Pascal who represents
that areq.

Mr. CastrepEN: And in the Kootenay area?

Rev. Mr. KerLy: No, that does not include Kootenay.

Mr. Castuepex: How about the Kamloops area?

Rev. Mr. KerLy: We have no vice-president there. There are individual
members from that area.

Mr. CastrepeN: Thank you very much.

Mr. Rem: How many would you have in the New Westminster area?

The CramrMAN: What is that?

Mr. Rem: I am asking how many members he would have in the New
Westminster area.

The Cuamman: He does not know that. He is not the business agent.

. The Wrirnmss: We have a vice-president in that district, what we call a
distriet, vice-president, by the name of Oscar Peters. We take Mr. Peters as
representing the Fraser Valley district.

The Cramrman: Would you care to present your brief, Mr. Gosnell?

~ The Wirness: I will be very brief. I think our colleague, Mr. Guy
Wllliams., has pretty well covered everything. T was one of the founders of
the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia during the year 1930. I have been
& councillor at the village of port Simpson for about twenty years working
Under the advancement part of the Indian Act. I have been chief councillor
for about half of that period.

: During the depression time of 1929 and 1930 things were very bad amongst
he native people. The provincial government issued relief to citizens of
British Columbia, and there was nothing available for the Indians in British

olumbia. Depression times hit the country and everybody suffered. By reason
of that council meetings have taken place to find an avenue to help the destitute

Ndians in the northern part of British Columbia. According to our meetings

- With the Indian agents there is no avenue open. An Indian either had to be

8ick or there had to be some amount of actual starvation and destitution before
€ comes under relief, which calls for approximately $4 and some odd cents.

By Mr. Blackmore:

Q. A week or a month?—A. A month. This was not available to the
I_ndlans during the depression time. The Indian agent said, “You have to be
Sick.” During our informal talks at the council meetings the question of help-
g the Tndians came up. Hence the birth of the Brotherhood started. The
ouncil does not sponsor it, but through discussions and talks with the senior
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members of the bands it was felt an Indian organization would be a benefit to
the Indians. The problems concerning Indians cannot be dealt with by one
individual village. The only way it can be dealt with is by an organization.
The birth of the Brotherhood took place in about six months following.

The aims of the Brothethood are to deal with Indian problems in a general
way with the government, improve general conditions, schools, education and

provide equal opportunities for work. During the seventeen year period this =

organization, the Native Brotherhood of British Columbia, has expanded and
I would say has taken in half of the province of British Columbia. There are
some villages which are interested in conventions, send delegates there, pay
their charter fee, ind then drop out here and there. New villages join, bub
the aim of the Native Brotherhood with regard to meeting some day the govern=
ment of Canada for a better deal or a new deal for the Indians is still carried on.

I myself spent a lot of time travelling up and down the coast, sacrificing time =

and in all kinds of weather.

I am glad at this moment that the government of Canada has appointed '

such a committee to review the general conditions of the Indians in British
Columbia. We hope that the aims and what was in the minds of the people
of British Columbia when this organization took place will be accomplished,
namely, a new deal, or a better deal for the Indians of British Columbia.
will try to be brief. :

As to the health of the Indians in good times such as periods of war all

kinds of money are available and everybody is a millionaire during the war,

but there are rainy days coming. There are depression times coming. Then
we find most of our Indians in a semi-starved state. This results in all kinds
of problems. We find that the Indian is undernourished and when exposed to
digease is the vietim of various diseases. He has not the resistance. He has

not the strength to resist all kinds of diseases. We find an expectant mother

who is undernourished and the child at birth develops all kinds of trouble. It
started from the mother. As the child goes along in organized districts such as
where I come from we have various organized villages and councils under sec-
tion 2 of the Indian Act. The council in some places has attempted to work
with a doctor and a nurse to educate the Indians how to bring up their children.
It is very nice to lecture and say to the mother, “You should do this”, but
suppose that family is not in a position to buy that particular article that is
called for for better health. What good is your lecture? They are not in &
position to buy the different articles that contain certain vitamins for the better
health of the child. The family understands everything but they are not in &
position to buy these articles and make them available for the family. We find
that the economic condition of the Indian comes under this measure.

As T have said before the Indians on the coast are well off during what we
call good times such as wars with all kinds of money, but in rainy days they
are in very poor shape. We have discussed this problem of economic matters,
and we view the picture they have in Alaska whereby in the one instance &
missionary by the name of Duncan left Canada through some disagreement with
the government of Canada. He left what they call Metlakatla, B.C., through
some disagreement with the government of Canada over the ration and applied
to the United States government at Washington. The United States govern-
ment granted this man an island. They call him Father Duncan. His Indians
are what they call Tsimshian, the same as myself. Washington granted Mr.
Dunecan, or leased Mr. Duncan an island called Anetta Island, with fishing privi-
leges a mile around that island. Mr. Duncan moved over there and established
600 or 700 Indians and built a cannery and built a sawmill, and when Mr. Dun-

can died he left it all to the Metlakatla Alaska Indians. Today as high as 200,000

cases is the product of that cannery. It is leased by a company and a royalty i8

R
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paid to the estate of 50 cents a case. After marking off depreciation and other
charges, in some years as high as $65,000 is available to this band of Indians.
ese were originally B.C. Indians. Now they are American Indians.

We go through that country now to the village of Metlakatla, Alaska, and
we find in Metlakatla a cannery, a sawmill, a Hydro Electric plant, and homes
which are equal to the best you see in any city.

Mr. CasrLepen: Hear, hear.

The Wirngss: I have visited the place. I was invited there, and I was sur-
prised. My hostess turned on an electric stove; you heard an electric washing
machine in operation in the back; and in your room you have an electric heater.
I asked, “How do you come to get all this electricity?” and I was told, “We have
Hydro Electric here.” T asked, “How do you get the money to do it?” and I
Wwas told, “It comes out of the estate of Mr. Duncan.”

So you can see the possibilities of the Indians. The United States govern-
ment looked into the problems of the Indians in Alaska with the result that
today the United States government is building canneries at various centres in
Alaska up to the value of $300,000.

_ Now, with regard to the terms that the United States government made
With the Indians. Of course, the Indians agreed that they would support the
cannery, and equip through capital; second, repayment of the capital expenditure
of the cost of that cannery would be made out of the profits of that cannery.

ages would be paid equal to those which had been paid elsewhere, with the
result, from the information we have, that some of these canneries are paid
for inside of five years, and the natives in those communities are today the
Owners of those canneries. The profits of that cannery would be applied for
the benefit of the community, that Indian village, as they are applied in
Metlakatla, Alaska.

Other arrangements have been completed with the United States govern-
ment. For instance, take the case of the Indians in Ketchikan, Alaska. It
Seems to me there is an agreement there that where there are twenty Indians
grouped together a certain loan will be available to them at low interest rates,
and to those Indians who really do not belong anywhere; they are living in
Ketchikan, and Ketchikan is a city in Alaska. But if there are twenty Indians
grouped together they can apply for a certain loan and they will get it at a low
rate of interest.

For the purchase of fishing equipment, of course, this loan is repayable at
& certain term of years, with the result that the Indians in Alaska today have
a very high rating as productive Indians in Alaska.

. If you visit the school in Metlakatla, Alaska, you will find seven or eight
teachers who are native girls. If we go out and look over their health establish-
ment you find two or three nurses there—all people who were educated in
Alaska. They are certified nurses and certified teachers. This, we think, is
bossible in B.C. If it is possible in Alaska it is also possible in British Columbia.

t one time the Indians in British Columbia were far ahead of the Indians in

laska, yet today the Indians in Alaska are far ahead of the Indians in British
Columbia, and we give eredit to the United States government.

Mr. Rem: And Father Duncan.

The Wirness: And Father Duncan. We think it is possible for the Canadian
government to deal with the Indians along the same pattern. The Indians in
British Columbia are not beggars; they do not want to beg; they want something
In the nature of a business proposition. Long term, low payment interest should

e available. In British Columbia before the war one-third of the fishing licences

ad to be available for the Indians. During the war, for security interests, the
government of” Canada removed the Japanese from the coast. The cry went
up from what we call the cannery operators, “Oh! The government said that
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production would win the war. Now, they are removing the people who produced
an important commodity like canned salmon”.

Mr. Rem: Please listen to this man. This evidence is what you heard in the -

House of Commons from me. Some of course would not believe me then.
The Wrirness: We found during the war a canned salmon industry, an

essential war industry. There were some boats left by the Japanese which the

Indians took over, with the result that by looking over the records four years
prior to the war and the four years during the war the canned salmon production
is equal if not better during the war than it was before the war.

Mr. Rem: Hear, hear.

The Wirness: And yet the Japanese were not on the scene during the war.

Now, on the north coast of British Columbia this year the canning operators
have notified some of the wartime fishermen that their services will not be
needed during the fishing season of 1947. We are wondering what will take place.
At that time there was an attempt to bring the Japanese back to the coast, and
I presume the canning operators were making room for the returning Japanese.

When I was travelling from Prince Rupert back east I met an Indian
friend of mine from the cannery. I asked him where he was going and he said
back to the Skeena. The canneries are taking back those Indians they fired
last winter now that they find the Japanese are not coming to the coast.

Mr. MacNicon: The Indians can do a better job than the Japs.

The Wirness: What we need is protection in the fishing industry. The basis
of issuing licences to native fishermen should be the basis of licences issued to
the Indians during the war. I think it is only right that when a country used
a certain nationality when the country was in danger that he should retain his

part that he played as a part of the war effort when the country was in danger. °

I believe this committee should recommend to the Department of Fisheries
that the basis of allotting licences to the Indian fishermen should be the basis
during the war period.

Other things come into the picture: the native Indian woman. There has
been some sort of a contract going about during the winter for arrangement for
labour. This winter very few Indian women are available at the canneries. We
just do not know what will take place, but I think in fairness to the government
of Canada and to the Indian problem generally that there should be some kind
of protection in regard to employment as it affects the Indian problem. The
Indians are qualified men and women. They are able to run an industry.

Now, there is a certain situation that all men in charge of a boat up to a
certain tonnoge, say, five tons, must have some kind of a ticket—it may be a
master’s ticket; we call it a ticket up there—whereby this particular person in
charge of the wheel must produce a certain number of years that he has had under
another captain and he must answer certain questions asked by the examiner.
When this situation resulted we found out that most of our young men and
older men would be out of a job. The regulations call for a certain certificate
to be made available for the man who is in charge of a boat of over five tons.
Examinations were held and today most, if not all, of our Indian young men
are holding what they call tickets, certificates to run a boat of over five tons.

As 1 say, the educational part of the Indian department’s work should he

more advanced. Why not, as the Brotherhood is doing, assist Indians to qualify =

through lectures and organizations, to answer certain questions, and to hold
tickets to run fishing boats? I think this is the duty of the Indian department.
This is an educational matter. In British Columbia we see industries, canneries,
sawmills, logging operations—yet the Indians are only employed in those
industries, whereas in Alaska they are the owners of that same kind of industry.

The Indians on the coast of British Columbia are exposed to strikes. When
a strike is called which ties up any part of the operation while the fishing season
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18 on there is a possibility that it will leave them with the loss of their full
season’s work. One thing they have there is a big cooperative. During a strike
they bring in ground fish—that is a system of trawling—and when a strike is
on they can not sell their fish to a private company but the cooperative plant
can receive the fish because of the fact that they are a cooperative. So long as
they are not blocked by strike action on the part of the fishermen’s union on the
coast they can continue to operate that cooperative plant. If the Indians owned
a plant on a cooperative basis they would be enabled to continue in the case
of a major strike taking place in British Columbia; otherwise it means that the
Whole season’s work will be lost through no fishing with the result that the
Indians will be left in very bad shape because of being deprived of an essential
part of their livelihood.

I think the present unsettled state of mind of the people throughout the
country is only aggravated by the calling of strikes here and there. I think it
Inevitable that sooner or later the Indian will be the victim of a strike and it will
be simply disastrous for them if there is a major strike so that the cooperative
which functions there at present is forced to close down.

Then let us look at the general picture. We find that 85 per cent of the
fishing equipment held by the Indians belongs to the canning companies. It is
the general practice of the companies never to let the Indians out of debt. In
the good years when the Indian could pay off the whole or part of his contract
with the cannery for equipment the cannery says, never mind that, just give us
S0 much. The attitude of the average Indian is; I can get off easy with this,
I owe them $500 and they only want me to pay them $150 or $200. That is
very nice. What is behind that is keeping the Indian in debt for a certain
number of years, he practically can’t pay off.

Another point is this: in the southern portion of British Columbia sockeye
brings 15 cents a pound. That was the price paid for sockeye on the Fraser river
last year. On the northern coast of British Columbia the price was 14 cents, and
equal proportions for species of fish. During the canning period of 1945 the
back was approximately 300,000 or 400,000 cases of sockeye salmon and the
difference between the price of raw materials on the Fraser and in the northern
part of British Columbia was about 70 cents a case. As I say, with the pack
being between 300,000 and 400,000 cases that meant a loss to the Indians of
practically a quarter of a million dollars, and I have represented the Indians in
negotiations with the canned salmon operators and I have on many occasions
- Questioned the justification for such a large differential. The reply I got was
that in most cases they are required and are able to put up security in the form
of boats against nets supplied. Of course, that is their argument; that when a
man wants a new net they have to look up his registration and see that he is
the owner of the boat, and where they find he is good for it, he gets it. In the
north here when an Indian comes along and takes a boat he is charged with the
brice of the boat, and that charge works out at about one cent per pound against

1S earnings which is not the case. That is only one means of holding the

ndian down under a mortgage on his equipment and operations. The Indian
takes the equipment and he really doesn’t care; he gets the use of a good boat
for the payment of $100 or $200. That goes on for five or six years and then the
Operator comes along and says, here, you are a good fisherman, here is a better

oat for you. It is interesting to observe that this usually happens when the
Indian has just about paid off his boat. All they want to do is to get the Indian
tied up again for another ten years of debt. Excessive charges aré made. For
Instance T questioned the billing by the company to a fisherman where they
charged the fisherman $1,800 for a boat, and I asked them why they charged that
much. T said, how does it come that you charge the Indian $1,800 for that boat,
1t didn’t cost that. The reply was, here are the figures, you can check them for
Yourself, T did that and I found out that the Indians who had built those boats
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had been paid 60 cents and 75 cents an hour and the canner had charged the
labour cost against that boat at $1.25 an hour. In addition to that he had
included supervising charges, every boat built is assessed a supervising charge;
and so on all along the line. The result was that boats actually costing about
$1,000 were charged to the Indians at $1,800. That is about as far as I can go
in explaining it; and that is without the motor.

Mr. MacNicoL: What does the motor cost?

The Wirness: Various prices running all the way from $700 or $800 up to
$1,200. In the part of the country about which I am speaking the fishing season
lasts for about six months out of the year. There is a period of about six months
during the winter season when there is no fishing. And now, these canneries
would hire the Indians to build boats—if the canneries can hire Indians to build
boats and after they are built sell them to the Indians why could not the Indians
build their own -boats on the reserve in a cooperative way? Here is what we
want. We want a sawmill in the larger villages; we want boat-building shops
financed by the government. These sawmills would also answer the housing
problem on the reserve. With conditions the way they are to-day before you
can even put in a foundation it is going to cost you about $1,000. Why could
not the Indians run their own sawmill and turn out their own lumber and build
their own houses and build their own boats. Give them the equipment and what
the village can’t use can be sold in the market, giving employment to the Indians
in the villages during the winter time. They could still continue their fishing in
season, and you can market all the lumber you can produce in British Columbia
to-day. Why can’t they turn out one or two hundred thousand feet of lumber
on the reserve in addition to what they need for their own use, and in that way
procure a little additional revenue for the benefit of the reserve. It would be a
valuable contribution to improving the opportunities for obtaining a livelihood
to these Indians.

And now, schools: I will leave the economic question alone for a while.
During my term as chief of the council of our village I made it my business
to see what was wrong with the Indian schools. T am not a highly educated man.
I quit school when I was twelve years old. My father happened to build a
cannery on the Skeena river. It is called the Alexander Cannery. He organized
the Indians and built a cannery and ran it for seven years. He lost it on a
mortgage. It is a registered company, registered under the Companies Act in
Victoria. There must be records there. During that period my father was in
financial distress and we had to stay at the cannery instead of paying a watch-
man to watch the cannery for the winter. The family had to locate at the
cannery and save the money we would have had to pay a man to watch the
cannery with the result that I lost the best time of my life in education. So you
see I speak broken English, but I do the best I can.

As to education I have made it my business during my term as councillor
and chief councillor to see what is wrong with Indian education. I have visited
day schools and a small residential school there. My general experience is we
have not got fully qualified teachers. During my term we have had good
teachers. We have had really good teachers, and we have had really bad ones.
It has gone down so bad that on one of my visits during school hours when
I came into that room I saw the teacher at the desk taking a comb and combing
the hair of a little pet terrier with the children flying around in the room
throwing books at each other. I asked the teacher, “Is this recess time?”
“No.” “What is this? Is this a school or what?” “No, this is school hours.”
“But what has the dog got to do with it?’ Well, I got down to red hot terms
with the teacher. I threatened to fire her. She said, “You cannot do that.
I am working for the Indian department.” I said, “I will recommend you be
fired.” At the end of the term the Indian agent got rid of this lady. One or
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two years later I went on my roamings up and down the coast and I found
the same teacher in the Skidegat school, the very same teacher that was fired.
Mr. MacNicow: Still combing the dog?

The Wrrnmss: I did not see the dog this time. To me it seems that the
department cannot get good teachers. In Port Simpson we have a provincial
government, school right across the road. You can talk across to the other
school. They are developing pupils there up to the eighth and ninth grades
and they go into higher education. Yet in our Indian school within a stone’s
throw there is the same old routine. You get to the fourth grade and you are
too old to go on to higher education. There are some who blame poor attendance
as the cause. The department says, “They do not attend school. What can
we do?” But there are pupils who attend every day. What have you done to
give them a higher education? Nothing. The regularly attending pupil is in
the same lower grade as the non-attending pupil, so we cannot blame the
attendance for it. We blame the Indian department school system. There is
Something wrong, and I think the fault lies with the teachers.

I would suggest that there should be a director of Indian education in
British Columbia who would be the responsible person in all educational
matters. We go to the Indian agent about things. Every Indian agent has
his different opinions. One Indian agent may go today and another one come
tomorrow and he has a different opinion of the whole thing. There should be
a director of Indian education for the province of British Columbia who will be
responsible for all school matters. To my mind there should be inspectors. If
the Indian department would co-operate with the provincial government school
Inspectors it would be a very nice thing, owing to the large territory in British
Columbia. The department should pay their share of the cost of the inspectors.
They could get together with the department of education of the provincial
government and arrive at some terms. If not, they should have their own
Inspectors. During the term of my position as chief councillor in the village of

ort Simpson I have seen an inspector arrive there once in the ten year period,
what they call a school inspector. Once is all I saw him.

By Mr. Blackmore:
. Q. Ottawa or provincial?—A. Supposed to be an Indian department
nspector.

By Mr. Castleden:

. Q. A provincial inspector?—A. No, this is the Indian department school
spector. I do not know what became of the man but rumour says he is dead or
Superannuated. I saw him once. His name is Captain Barry. 1 saw him only
once. Whatever faults there may be in the school system of the Indian depart-
ment, there is nobody to suggest them to. There is no inspector there with the
result that the teachers can do this and that as they wish.

In the provincial government school across the road we find the inspector
there three or four times a year inspecting the teachers and the pupils of that
School with the result that a teacher has to keep up to standard or lose her job.
The teachers in the Indian schools can do what they want. They write a long
report on the Indians saying that they never attend, but in my opinion it is pure
negligence on the part of the teachers. There are very poor and in some cases
hon-existent living quarters for the teachers.

By Mr. MacNicol:

Q. Would you repeat that?—A. In the villages there are very poor, and
In some cases non-existent living quarters for the Indian day school teachers
With the result that when we get a good teacher she only stays there for a
P}tlarlod\ of say six months, and as soon as another opening, a better opening comes,
She goes.
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The good teachers qualify for the higher schools either provinecial or
municipal and they stay there. They get a job and hold it with the result
that the poor teachers are always around the Indian schools and the good
teachers all go. In my village of Port Simpson we built a very nice school there.
I think it cost the government in the neighbourhood of $15,000.

Q. An Indian school?—A. An Indian department school.

By Mr. Blackmore:

Q. Residential or day?—A. Day school. In this school there is not running
water. There is not running water in the school, not even a sink. The teachers
undertook at one time when conditions were very bad that they would buy &
sink and I volunteered to put it in for nothing. What a modern school! Yet it
cost, the department in~the neighbourhood of $15,000. There is no toilet, no
bath, no sink, no basin. There is one large room about 40 x 60 in the attic for
sleeping quarters for the teacher. Very few modern school teachers will live
in those quarters.” They could modernize the building. They could put in &
bath, a toilet, sinks, hot water, and they would be able to get a good teacher
there because the accommodation would be fine.

Again we see that the problem is that the department say they are always
broke. They have not got the money. The government of Canada never votes
enough money to carry on. Maybe they are right, but my general experience
in the building game is that for $15,000, the cost of that day school, they could
have built a modern school. I built a residential school, the Crosby Girls
Home, for the Women’s Missionary Society of the United Church. I took &
contract to build it. I think my contract ran somewhere around $16,000.

Mr. MacNicon: How much?

The Wirness: $16,000. This included all the bathroom equipment. The
building was large enough to accommodate 30 pupils. Of course, this is the
cost of building a little two room school building on the reserve. The cost 18
just the same. The building has nothing in it. There must be a leak in the
fund somewhere.

Mr. Gieson: I think the relative dates of those two things should be put
in the record, the relative dates of the construction of the day school and the
residential school.

By the Chairman:
Q. Could you give the dates? When did you build the residential school?—
A. T think it was 1924.

By Mr. Castleden:

Q. The one on the reserve was built when?—A. I think the other one was
built somewhere around 1935. It was 1938. Of course, the price of material and
the cost of labour would be about the same at that time.

Our colleagues, Mr. Kelly, Mr. Williams and Mr. Scow, I think, have
covered all the other points. Part 2 of the Indian Act deals with Indian advance-
ment. This comes under the Council of what we call a self-governing village.
There is a clause in this part which I want to change. This clause says the
male members of the reserve can be nominated and elected as councillors. I think
we can improve that by saying the male and female members of the reserve.

Hon. Mrs. Farris: Hear, hear.
The Wirness: The Indian women who come from the school can take
part in the council and become voters. If the council has gone off the path, a

woman could tell them to walk the line and, in addition, the attractiveness of a

woman in a council room should carry some weight. It will be democratic to
give the Indian women the right to vote and become councillors.
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There is a section in this part, No. 185, under the heading of “Powers of
_council,” subsection (f), which provides for the construction and repair of
school houses and council houses as well as other buildings for the use of Indians
on the reserve, and the attendance at school of children between the ages of 6
and 15. This section is all right with the exception of the construction of the
school house. In the past, the Indian Department has been building the school
houses and not making it a provision that the council has to build school housés.
Supposing a school house has an estimated value of $25,000. Where would the
council get the money to build a school house. This clause should make provision
only for repairs or something of that nature. i

Another subsection provides for the construction, maintenance and improve-
ment of water and sewage systems. Well the maintenance and improvement of
the water system is all right, but the construction provision is asking the council
to assume a very large responsibility. The cost of such a system runs into
several thousands of dollars. Why include it as part of the duties of a council?
(Ilt would be all right to say the repairs and upkeep should be part of the council’s

uty.

Another problem which we have in the north on these reserves, especially
the reserve from which I come which covers two or three miles of road—it is a
townsite which has been laid out and roads had to be built. The cars belonging
to other people such as the Hudson Bay Company come on the reserve at certain
times of the year and do a lot of damage to the roads. This occurs during periods
of thaw after the cold weather. We try to control all the motor cars, not permit-
ting them to run on the reserve roads until after the thaw period. In some cases,
1t is quite satisfactory, but in some cases the man in charge of the car says, “I
have a British Columbia licence and I can go any place in British Columbia”. If
his licence permits him to go anywhere in British Columbia, why ask the village
to be responsible for the upkeep of the road without any assistance from the
provincial government? I think there is something wrong there. There should be
some sort of understanding with regard to motor cars running on the reserve. In
some cases the motors are cooperative and in some cases they are not cooperative.

Taxation of the Indians: the only system of taxation of Indians on the
reserve is what is called a property tax. In trying to apply this tax on the
reserve, we find only one-third of the Indians are property owners. The younger
boys are not interested in owning property, with the result the tax burden will be
on those who own property. We would suggest an amendment to that Act
whereby we would have the right to levy what might be called a poll tax such as
" the one levied in British Columbia. This would provide that everyone between

the ages of say, 18 and 65, would be taxable. This would be quite an improve-
- Mment. In attempting to apply this tax, we found one-third of the people are not
.Subject to the tax, they do not own property. Still more people do not want to
own property in order to escape the tax. I guess the Indians are the same as
the whites, they want to escape taxes. We suggest an amendment be made to
that section of the Indian Act.

We find the committee is looking into the question of the health of the
Indians on the reserve. We find some places in which there is no fresh running
water. Wells are dug in between houses and perhaps a dry toilet will be found
within twenty feet of the well. Occasionally, when there is an excess of rainfall
the surface water seeps into these wells. This condition should be thoroughly
Investigated. Tt exists today in British Columbia. There is no water system in
some of the villages. In my home town, we have a water system, but in other
Villages the system is very poor. People wonder why the Indian is always a sick
man in British Columbia. The Indians drink this water, that is the reason.
In the larger villages, such as the village from which I come, dry toilets are dug
I the ground. In flood conditions at certain periods of the year, these become a
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- construet a trunk sewage system for certain sections? This would remove t
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general menace to the community. Why does not the government undertake

menace. The council tries to enforce sanitary conditions by taking some sewa
material down to the beach. We do not like to discourage the head of the fami
from leaving his family behind when he goes out trapping or fishing. If we
enforce sanitary regulations on the reserve, usually the head of a family says his
wife cannot do this work while he is away so he takes her along. The result i8
the family will be camping somewhere and the children will be deprived of an
education.
I think that is about all I can say, gentlemen. I am glad at this time to have
the opportunity of appearing before the committee. We hope your amendments
to the Indian Act will be of general benefit to all the Indians, not only in organ- =
ized districts, but other districts where what you call self-governing villages do
not apply. We hope that out of your deliberations will come a fair Act to replace =
this very old Aet. I thank you, gentlemen. -
The CuaamMaN: Thank you very much, Mr. Gosnell. - -
Before proceeding with the questions, I am going to ask that the members of = =
this committee retain the same seats this afternoon. This is a split session of = =
the committee, and in order to give everyone the right to ask questions, I am
going to ask the members to retain the same seats this afternoon.
Mr. Rem: May I raise one question now, Mr. Chairman? We have all =
listened with great attention to Mr. Gosnell’s evidence. He is an extra delegate
from British Columbia and, according to the ruling or the motion which was =
passed, the committee could not, technically, pay Mr. Gosnell’s expenses. I am =
going to move that we accept him and pay his expenses. G
Mr. Gmson: I second that motion. ;
The CrarMAN: The motion is in order, but I think we should also consider =
the precedent we are setting. -
Mr. Casg: Mr. Chairman, I think the motion should be referred to the
“steering” committee for consideration because if you are going to start that,
you will have difficulty later. I have no objection in this case, but I do think the =
procedure should be to refer it to the subecommittee for consideration and report. = =
The CaarMAN: I think we all agree that Mr. Gosnell’s expenses should be
paid, but as has been pointed out— :

Mr. MacNicor: Absolutely. e
The CuARMAN: Then, you must pay extra delegates who come from any
other organization from any other provinee. A
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